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Gross
Floor Area
Available for
Self-used/
Sale/Lease
Attributable (included
Number ltem Name Location Type of Property Portion Interest  underground)  Status Lease Term
(s0.m)
B8R/
AHE/
Az
BRE@R
B EBESRE B E MERY 28 FEfh s (B%T) KR HEHR
(FAR)
1 Yinchuan Project West of China National Highway 109, Commercial Commercial Portion 100% 74,350 Medium-term
BIER DeSheng Industrial Park* (BB T% &% [EEA
E&), Yinchuan City, Ningxia Hui
Autonomous Region, the PRC
HEZEEKRRERIT
BB IEXEE109EER
11 Commercial Phase 1 63,713 Construction
Ea completed available
for lease
BRI A
1.2 Commercial Phase 2 - 10,637 Construction
Expansion project completed available
HEZH-BEIR for lease
BRI AHHH
2 Yinchuan Project West of China National Highway 109, Residential, Residential Portion 100% 40,839 N/A
#RIER DeSheng Industrial Park* ({2 T Commercial ~ {f£E& B
BE&), Yinchuan City, Ningxia Hui FE-BHE
Autonomous Region, the PRC
HEZEERREEREIT
EHIERAE109EHER
2.1 Residential Phase 1 142 Construction
FE—H completed available
for sale
BRI AHHE
2.2 Residential Phase 2 25,529 Main part materially
FETH completed available
for sale
ABAFRIBRT
o E
2.3 Residential Phase 3 - Construction
AE=H completed and sold
out
BERIKEER
3 Qinhuangdao Central Golden Coast, Changli County,  Residential, Whole Portion 100% 672,110 Medium-term
Project Beidaihe New District, Qinhuangdao Commercial 8
REBHEH Municipality e HE
ZEETLBTHEERN
BEEBERH
3.1 Phase 1 163,227*  Main part partially
- completed
BATEIERT

Includes both plot ratio based floor area and non plot ratio based floor area
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BIEEmADh

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Richly Field
China Development Limited (the “Company”) hereby present the
audited consolidated annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”
or “Reporting Period”) together with the comparative figures for the year
ended 31 March 2024 (the “Corresponding Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in outlets commercial operation and
development and operation of featured commercial properties (such as
tourism property, senior care property and wine chateaus), development
of high-end residential properties as well as property management.

Key projects of the Group include JeShing European City Project which
is a comprehensive project comprising “E1E” (commercial), ‘K E
18" (commercial) and “AF 1" (commercial) and Jin Sheng Yue Jing
(residential) developed in Yinchuan, Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), together with the Qinhuangdao
Venice — City of Water Outlets Project which is a comprehensive project
developed in Beidaihe New District, Qinhuangdao, Hebei, the PRC. The
Group also operates property management business in Yinchuan city,
Wuhan city and Hohhot city in the PRC.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$123,180,000 as compared to approximately HK$31,921,000 for the
Corresponding Year, representing an increase of 285.9%. The increase
in revenue was mainly attributable to the increase of sales of properties.
Revenue from sales of properties was approximately HK$86,970,000
for the Year as compared to approximately HK$3,332,000 for the
Corresponding Year, representing an increase of 2,510.1%. Management
fee income was approximately HK$27,123,000 for the Year as
compared to approximately HK$20,471,000 for the Corresponding
Year, representing an increase of 32.5% due to the completion of
acquisition of three property management companies. Rental income was
approximately HK$6,965,000 for the Year as compared to approximately
HK$6,677,000 for the Corresponding Year, representing an increase of
4.3%.

The Group recorded a loss on revaluation of investment properties
of approximately HK$35,020,000 for the Year as compared to
approximately HK$62,958,000 for the Corresponding Year, representing a
decrease of 44.4%.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmES

Finance costs was approximately HK$37,668,000 for the Year as
compared to approximately HK$40,218,000 for the Corresponding Year,
representing a decrease of 6.3%. Impairment loss under expected credit
loss model on other receivables was approximately HK$111,770,000 for
the Year, the amount mainly represented impairment loss on amounts due
from Former Subsidiaries. Please refer to note 23 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements of this report and the announcement of the
Company dated 14 April 2022 for details. During the Reporting Period,
Former Subsidiaries failed to repay in accordance with the repayment
schedule and the Group has initiated legal proceedings against the
Former Subsidiaries. Therefore, the Group has made full impairment
provision on receivables from Former Subsidiaries based on expected
credit loss model. In addition, impairment loss on prepaid construction
costs of approximately HK$50,678,000 recognised during the year
ended 31 March 2025 was related to the Qinhuangdao Project based on
external source of information that the constructor was deregistered. The
loss attributable to equity holders for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$249,747,000 as compared to approximately HK$222,262,000 for the
Corresponding Year, representing an increase of approximately 12.9%.
The loss per share for the Year was HK$21.40 cents as compared to
HK$19.05 cents (restated) for the Corresponding Year.

As for financing aspect, regarding the loan agreements with related
parties, JeShing Real Estate Group Company Limited* (£ B %5 &
E£EAERAT) (“JeShing Real Estate”), Nanjing No. 1 Architecture and
Engineering Group Company Limited* (BRE—EBHETRREBARA
&) and Jiangsu Decorative Material Co. Ltd* CIErEEaf MR BRAT),
the total outstanding principal amount was RMB301,800,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$327,030,000) (collectively the “Related Party Loan”)
as at 31 March 2025. Related Party Loan was due in March 2023 with
an interest rate range of 5.7%-6.19% per annum and was secured by the
pledge of certain of the Group’s assets.
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EEENmES

Related Party Loan was a loan borrowed by the related parties
from Huaxia Bank (the “Huaxia Bank Loan”) and lent directly to the
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Company Limited* (Z= 2 & B4% 3K
FEAE/AT), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company on
the same terms. No further extension agreement had been entered into
between Huaxia Bank and the related parties in March 2023. Therefore,
the Huaxia Bank Loan was in default from March 2023. Huaxia Bank has
the discretionary right to demand related parties of the Company on full
payment of the whole principal amount and any unpaid interest. To the
best knowledge of the Directors, management of the related parties have
commenced negotiations of the repayment terms of the Huaxia Bank
Loan with Huaxia Bank since then. Up to the date of this report, those
negotiations are still in progress and have not been concluded. As the
land of the Qinhuangdao Project (as defined below) has been pledged
against the Huaxia Bank Loan, Huaxia Bank has the discretionary right
to confiscate the land of the Qinhuangdao Project and dispose it for
Huaxia Bank Loan repayment if related parties of the Company fail to
repay the Huaxia Bank Loan when Huaxia Bank demands immediate full
repayment.

In December 2021, the Group entered into a loan agreement regarding a
revolving loan facility agreement with a related party, JeShing Real Estate
in relation to an unsecured loan facility in the total principal amount of
RMB2,000,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,167,200,000)
at an interest rate of 5% per annum and is due to repay in December
2023. As at 31 March 2025, outstanding amount of approximately
RMB9,060,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,817,000) was fall
due. In May 2023, the Group entered into a new loan agreement
regarding a revolving loan facility agreement with a related party, Jinsheng
International Group (BVI) Limited (X EREE (EEETREFE) AR
‘AE])in relation to an unsecured loan facility in the total principal amount
of HK$2,000,000,000 at an interest rate of 5% per annum, the revolving
loan facility starts in January 2024 and is due to repay in December
2025. In June 2025, the Group entered into a new loan agreement
regarding a revolving loan facility agreement with a related party, Jinsheng
International Group (BVI) Limited (£ REREE (EEETREFE) AR
‘AE])in relation to an unsecured loan facility in the total principal amount
of HK$2,000,000,000 at an interest rate of 5% per annum, the revolving
loan facility starts in January 2026 and is due to repay in December 2027.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmES

Property Management Business

The Group operates property management business in Ningxia City,
Wuhan City and Hohhot City. The total property management areas of
Ningxia City, Wuhan City and Hohhot City were approximately 551,800
sg.m., 80,210 sg.m. and 30,633 sqg.m., respectively as of 31 March
2025.

Projects Overview

Qinhuangdao Venice - City of Water Outlets Project
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Company Limited* (2 2 & R4S RKETE
#A5E/AF) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The project
developed by the company in the core area of International Healthy City,
Beidaihe New District, Qinhuangdao City, is positioned as a large coastal
shopping, tourism and healthcare resort complex with outlets business
as the major operation, integrated with high-end hot spring resort hotels,
high-end hospitals, health preservation and elderly care, cultural and
entertainment activities, and recreational resorts (“Qinhuangdao Venice —
City of Water Outlets Project”).

Qinhuangdao Venice — City of Water Outlets Project covers an area of
approximately 1,077 mu, planned to be developed in three phases.
Phase 1 of the project covers a total area of approximately 163,227
sg.m, which is planned to be developed, by function, into outlets
business (including Latitude Space), a health preservation hotel, resort
units and an exhibition centre, along with supporting parking lots
and greenery landscape. The Group has successively obtained the
construction work planning and commencement permits for Sections
A, B, and C of Phase 1 and the exhibition centre, the construction work
planning permit for Section D of Phase 1 as well as the pre-sale permits
for the first 59 resort units.
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EEENmES

During the Reporting Period, led by local government agencies,
Qinhuangdao Company actively approached all partners, and plans to
build the commercial portion of Phase 1 with concerted efforts, so as to
align with local industrial positioning, i.e. to build Qinhuangdao Project
into a first-class comprehensive demonstration city for health care and
vacation. If progressing well, the parties will cooperate based on the
principle of “complementary advantages, mutual support, long-term
cooperation and common development”, through the combination of
government promotion in accordance with law and market operation, in
relation to the establishment and improvement of a comprehensive, wide-
ranging and deep-level strategic cooperation mechanism, exploration
of diversified cooperation modes, and effective promotion of the
implementation of cooperation projects.

Yinchuan Project

The Company held the property named JeShing European City (& BXER
AN through Ningxia Jinguan Property Investment Co. Ltd.* (BE &
WREBEZEARAT) (“Ningxia Jinguan”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. JeShing European City comprises five parcels of land with
a total site area of approximately 133,300 sg.m. and a residential and
commercial complex constructed thereon (“Yinchuan Project”).

Yinchuan residential project — Jin Sheng Yue Jing (£25F=)

Featured with the supporting commercial facilities, Jin Sheng Yue Jing
is a large-scale residential community developed passionately by the
Company, which creates a comfortable and convenient living environment
on the back of the surrounding resources such as banks, medical
institutes, educational institutions, department stores and supermarkets,
entertainment facilities and restaurants as well as its own lifestyle
amenities and building materials stores. With a site area of approximately
120 mu, the Jin Sheng Yue Jing project comprises 20 mid- to high-
rise buildings to be developed in 3 phases. The project has adopted the
frame shear wall structure across the board, the beige granite paint for
exterior decoration, and the internationally popular Artdeco neoclassic
architectural style for the overall appearance, presenting a sense of
fashion, solemnity and elegance.

During the Reporting Period, the construction of the residential area of
Phase 2 of Jin Sheng Yue Jing has been completed and delivery has
been commenced.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENmES

Yinchuan Commercial Properties

The Yinchuan Commercial Properties consist of three commercial
buildings (namely “E11%”, “KEE” and “XF&EH") and two corridors,
collectively known as Jeshing International Home Furnishing Mall e
Desheng Square (EBREEKE ¢ B E%) (“Yinchuan Commercial
Properties Project”) with a total gross floor area of over 90,000 sqg.m.
It is an integrated commercial complex featuring building materials and
furniture stores, department stores, restaurants and supermarkets,
with malls offering high-end building materials and upscale household
products. The elegant and comfortable commercial environment, easy
accessibility by convenient public transportation, bespoke commercial
layout plan and premium quality management have made it a new
premier commercial landmark in Yinchuan.

As of 31 March 2025, Yinchuan Commercial Properties Project achieved
an occupancy rate of approximately 90% and became one of the largest
curtain wholesale base in the northwest region. Gathering merchants of
major brands in the northwest, the mall hit a record high in the amount
of orders. As shown from the overall data, the three buildings of the
entire Yinchuan Commercial Properties Project have gradually unveiled its
unique distinction to be the northern commercial hub of the city.

Property Management Business

Yinchuan Project

The Group conducts the property management business through Ningxia
Jinguan and Ningxia Guanling. The two companies manages both
commercial property and residential area. The total property management
area of the two companies was approximately 551,800 sg.m. as of
31 March 2025. Both companies are actively expanding the property
management business in Yinchuan city.

Hohhot Project

Hohhot Pengshengie currently manages part of a commercial property.
The commercial property, with gross floor area of 83,192 sgq.m, is an
integrated commercial complex featuring building materials and furniture
stores. The total property management area of Hohhot Pengshengie was
approximately 30,633 sg.m. as of 31 March 2025.
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EEENmES

Wuhan Project

Wuhan Yuejing currently manages a commercial property and residential
area. The total property management area of Wuhan Yuejing was
approximately 80,210 sgq.m. as of 31 March 2025. Wuhan Yuejing is
actively expanding the property management business in Wuhan city.

Associated Companies
During the Reporting Period, the projects managed by the associated
companies of the Company also achieved certain progress.

Huailai Project

The master plan, demonstration area design plan, chateau design plan
and environmental impact assessment of the characteristic villa residential
and winery project in Huailai of Hebei Province have been completed.
The project is developed by Huailai Dayi Winery Company Limited* (12
TA—BEHBHFEBRAT), a 50%-owned associated company of
the Company. In the demonstration area, access to roads, electricity and
water supply has been in place and certain works regarding landscaping,
planting and slope wall reconditioning have been completed.

Changchun Project

Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited* (FMEFFHR AT E R4 @ ITINMA
FRAR]) (“Jiin Company”), a 42%-owned associated company of the
Company, obtained land use rights for a piece of land with an area
of 443 mu for commercial and residential purposes in Shuangyang
District, Changchun City, Jilin Province in April 2016. In order to seek
differentiated development, Jilin Company plans to develop its project in
Shuangyang District, Changchun into an integrated project combining
a theme park and a cultural tourism town under the theme of cultural
tourism and the objective of building a liveable place with elderly care.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investments during the Year.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group mainly finances its business operations with its internal
resources and loan facilities from banks, financial institutions, related
parties and a shareholder. As at 31 March 2025, the Group had cash
and cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$11,758,000
(2024: HK$17,685,000) and restricted bank deposits amounted to
approximately HK$6,199,000 (2024: HK$12,470,000). The Group’s
current ratio (measured as total current assets to total current liabilities)
was 0.64 times (2024: 0.72 times). The other borrowings of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$35,573,000 (31 March 2024:
HK$35,990,000) as at 31 March 2025.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, property interest held by the Group with net
carrying amount in aggregate of approximately HK$874,283,000 (31
March 2024: HK$918,242,000) were pledged to banks and financial
institutions.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURES

As the Group’s other borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, restricted
bank deposits, trade receivables, prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade payables, other payables and accruals, contract
liabilities and amounts due to related parties were mainly denominated
in RMB, the Group had not experienced significant exposure to foreign
currency fluctuation.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had capital commitments of
construction of properties included under property, plant and equipment
and investment properties of approximately HK$62,556,000 (31 March
2024: HK$63,676,000).

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The Group had no significant event taking place subsequent to 31 March
2025 and up to the date of this report.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies during the year.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OR TRANSACTIONS
DURING THE YEAR

Impairment loss under expected credit loss model on other receivables
was approximately HK$111,770,000 for the Year, the amount mainly
represented impairment loss on amounts due from Former Subsidiaries.
The management of the Group closely monitor the ability for repayment
of the Former Subsidiaries by considering the repayment history,
financial position and other relevant information for assessing the credit
risk such as the status of the property development projects held
by the Former Subsidiaries in the PRC. In May 2025, the Group has
initiated legal actions against the Former Subsidiaries and the holding
companies of the Former Subsidiaries as the Group did not receive
repayments from the Former Subsidiaries according to the expected
repayment timetable. In addition, the management of the Group first
became aware of the external information about the suspension of the
property development project held by the Former Subsidiaries located in
Changsha City, the PRC. Based on the market information, the Former
Subsidiaries should deliver the properties to customers on or before
30 April 2025. However, the property development project suspended
for construction since December 2024 due to the financial difficulties
encountered by the Former Subsidiaries. The management of the Group
considered that the suspension of the construction work of the Former
Subsidiaries’ underlying projects will significantly affect its ability of
repayment. An impairment loss under ECL model on amounts due from
Former Subsidiaries amounted to approximately HK$108,042,000 (2024:
HK$31,889,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended
31 March 2025.
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In addition, impairment loss on prepaid construction costs of
approximately HK$50,678,000 recognised during the year ended
31 March 2025 was related to the Qinhuangdao Project based on
external source of information that the constructor was deregistered.
In January 2025, the management of the Group first became aware
of the circumstances leading to impairment of prepayment made to a
constructor for the service of design and provision of construction work
related to landscape gardening and greening amounted to approximately
HK$50,678,000 by obtaining an external source of information which
indicated that the service provider was deregistered in December
2023. The management of the Group regularly review the status of the
prepayments made by the Group by conducting company search. In
view that the management of the Group believed that the service provider
could not deliver the related services to the Group in the foreseeable
future, the prepaid construction costs amounted to approximately
HK$50,678,000 was fully impaired during the year ended 31 March
2025.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total of 136 employees
(excluding Directors), as compared with 143 employees (excluding
Directors) as at 31 March 2024. The Group remunerates its employees
based on their performance, working experience and prevailing market
parameters. Employee benefits include pension insurance fund, medical
insurance coverage, unemployment insurance fund, occupational injury
insurance fund, maternity insurance fund, housing provident fund and
mandatory provident fund (for Hong Kong employees).

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

The Group has focused on the real estate market, strategically rolling out
diverse product mixes such as “residential + commercial”’, “residential
+ senior care”, and “residential + cultural tourism”, which boast unique
features to forestall declined competitiveness due to homogeneity of
products. However, the success of a company still depends very much
on its ability to appreciate industry-related policies in advance and
make business adjustments and plans in advance to align itself with the
policies.
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In the past few years, the Group failed to adapt itself to industry policies
and market development trends in a timely manner, and was not able
to effectively convert the land on hand into cashable commodities.
Moreover, being a “late-mover” for several times also resulted in
significantly lower-than-expected fund usage rate and return, leading to
high financial costs. China’s property development market is currently
facing significant challenges, stemming from a combination of oversupply
and declining buyer confidence. As a result, Central government has
formulated certain policies to stimulate the market. There has been some
improvement in market sentiment, the progress is gradual. Amid the
harsh economic environment, “struggling alone” is no longer realistic, and
only “partnering up with others” will allow a slim chance of survival. In
the future, the Group will enhance cooperation with financing institutions,
government agencies and other parties of the same or different industries
to activate its various projects with concerted efforts.

As the economy of China is facing uncertainties, the Group has been
actively to explore opportunities outside of China. South East Asia region
is a region with high growth potential and young population, which exists
opportunities.

STEPS TAKEN BY THE COMPANY SINCE THE
PUBLICATION OF THE 2024 ANNUAL REPORT TO
ADDRESS THE 2024 DISCLAIMER OPINION AND
THE PROGRESS ACHIEVED (“STEPS TAKEN”)

Refer to the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2024 published on 31 July 2024 (2024 Annual Report”), the
Company’s auditor issued the disclaimer opinion on the Company’s
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (“2024 Disclaimer
Opinion”), as part of the measures to resolve the issues underlying the
2024 Disclaimer Opinion, the Group has also taken the following steps
since the publication of the 2024 Annual Report but the underlying issues
cannot be resolved due to the following reasons:
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(1)

Restarting the Qinhuangdao Project and further
development of the Yinchuan Project

As stated in the 2024 Annual Report, the Group had signed a non-
legally binding memorandum of understanding (the “MOU”) with a
potential investor on 28 May 2024 in relation to the cooperation in
the Qinhuangdao Project. However, since such potential investor
failed to commit the necessary fundings as stated in the MOU,
no further agreement or arrangement had been agreed between
the Group and such potential investor. On the other hand, the
Group had been in discussions with over 10 potential investors
with an aim to restart the Qinhuangdao Project. During the past
12 months preceding the date of this Report, the Group had
established conversations with various potential investors in
China. However, due to the unfavourable market conditions of
the property market in China, the potential investors maintained
very cautious in cooperation with and/or making investment
into the Group. Accordingly, no definitive agreements had been
entered into between the Group and any of the potential investors.
Currently, the Group is actively exploring cooperation opportunities
with one potential investor which had carried out certain times
of site inspection of the Qinhuangdao Project. Subject to internal
planning by the potential investors, the Group expects to continue
negotiations with the potential investors for cooperation in the
Qinhuangdao Project.

As regards the Yinchuan Project, the Group had continued the
development and pre-sale of the properties. During the year ended
31 March 2025 (“FY2024/25"), the Group had pre-sold 82 units
of second phase of the Yinchuan Project. As of 31 March 2025,
Yinchuan Commercial Properties Project achieved an occupancy
rate of approximately 90% and became one of the largest curtain
wholesale base in the northwest region.

(1)
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2

Securing continuous financial support from
related companies

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a revolving loan facility of
HK$2,000,000,000 granted by a company indirectly wholly owned
by the controlling shareholder that will expire in December 2025,
of which the full amount remained unutilised as at 31 March
2024. The controlling shareholder had continued to provided
financial support to the Company and the Group had maintained
such revolving loan facility during FY2024/25. In June 2025, the
Group entered into a new loan agreement regarding a revolving
loan facility agreement with a related party, Jinsheng International
Group (BVI) Limited (£ EERER HBAETMRES) BRAR)
in relation to an unsecured loan facility in the total principal amount
of HK$2,000,000,000 at an interest rate of 5% per annum, the
revolving loan facility starts in January 2026 and is due to repay in
December 2027.

Expansion of property management business

Following the acquisitions of three property management
companies in FY2023/24, the Group had expanded its property
management business, and these property management business
had made a full-year contribution to the Group’s revenue during
FY2024/25.

Exploring other financing options

In terms of financing options, the Group had continued to identify
and negotiate with various financial institutions or investors for
financing options. The Group had also maintained communications
with Huaxia Bank regarding the financing arrangement, including
the existing loan borrowed by related parties of the Company and
lent directly to the Group on the same terms. As at the date of
this Report, the negotiations between the Group and the financial
institutions are still on-going.

Exploring other investment opportunities

In addition to the continuous development of the existing
businesses, the Group had been actively exploring other investment
opportunities to expand its businesses, including but not limited to
potential opportunities in mainland China as well as in Southeast
Asia with businesses relating to property development and/or
upstream or downstream businesses. During FY2024/25, the
Group had explored more than five potential targets, including
businesses in mainland China and Southeast Asia. As at the date of
this Report, the Group is still exploring its investment opportunities
and no legally binding agreements had been entered into with the
aforesaid potential targets.
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(6) Cost control

The Group continued to take appropriate measures to control its
costs, including maintain an appropriate level of headcounts and
reducing certain administrative costs.

GOING CONCERN AND DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
ISSUED BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR FOR
THE YEAR

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had a net loss of
approximately HK$250,923,000 and as at 31 March 2025, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately HK$473,870,000 and total
borrowings, including other borrowings, amount due to a shareholder
and amounts due to related parties, in aggregate of approximately
HK$617,295,000 that will be due in the coming twelve months from
the end of the Reporting Period. As at the same date, the Group’s cash
and cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$11,758,000 and
restricted bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$6,199,000.
In addition, the Group has been involved in various litigation cases
for outstanding construction payables for which the Group has made
provision. The financial conditions presented indicate the existence of
material uncertainties, which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore the Group may
not be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

The independent auditor of the Company (“‘Auditors”) has issued a
disclaimer of opinion to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
the Year (“2025 Disclaimer Opinion”), details of which are set out in the
report from the independent auditor.

The Directors understand that the Auditors considered the validity of the
consolidated financial statements being prepared on a going concern
basis was subject to multiple uncertainties, including (i) the successful
resumption and/or acceleration of property development projects, and (ii)
continuous financial support from related parties. On the other hand, the
Directors consider that the consolidated financial statements of the Group
can be presented in a going concern basis, after taking into account
of the Steps Taken above and Plans to address the 2025 Disclaimer
Opinion below.
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PLANS TO ADDRESS THE 2025 DISCLAIMER
OPINION

In view of the 2025 Disclaimer Opinion, the Company had carefully
considered the following measures to address the issues underlying the
2025 Disclaimer Opinion:

(i)

Resumption and/or acceleration of property
development projects

Property development projects of the Group comprised mainly (a)
the Group’s property development project at Qinhuangdao (the
“Qinhuangdao Project”); and (b) the Group’s property development
project at Yinchuan (the “Yinchuan Project”).

The Qinhuangdao Project

The Group has been exploring different means and opportunities
to its property development projects, in particular, to resume
the Qinhuangdao Project. During FY2024/25, the Group had
engaged in discussions with over 10 potential investors/partners for
resumption of the Qinhuangdao Project. These potential investors/
partners are all independent third parties from the Group and had
experience in property development business in the PRC. As at
the date of this Report, the Group had maintained discussions
with most of the potential investors/partners. Among these, the
Group had active dialogue with one of the potential investors (the
“New Potential Investor”). The dialogue between the Group and
the New Potential Investor commenced in March 2025. As at the
date of this Report, the New Potential Investor had carried out
certain due diligence work on the Qinhuangdao Project (including
a site visit to the Qinhuangdao Project in June 2025), and the
Group had also carried out certain due diligence work on the
New Potential Investor. The Group and the New Potential Investor
had also discussed about certain key terms for the cooperation
in the Qinhuangdao Project, including but not limited to amount
and timing of capital injection (part of which may be used for
partial repayment to Huaxia Bank and partial settlement of the
amounts due to contractors to resume the Qinhuangdao Project),
shareholding structure, operation responsibilities, profit sharing
mechanism, board composition of the project company, debt
financing structure (e.g. proportionate contribution if guarantee is
required to secure financing), etc. In view of the above, in particular
that, (i) there have been dialogues between the Group and different
potential investors/partners regarding the Qinhuangdao Project,
indicating the interest of potential investors in the project; (i) there
have been active discussions between the Group and the New
Potential Investor, indicating a likelihood of a crystalising a concrete
resumption of the Qinhuangdao Project; and (iii) the improving
market sentiment in the property development market in China,
the Board considered that the Group’s efforts in resumption of the
Qinhuangdao Project have continued to bring in progress and it
was likely that the Qinhuangdao Project could be resumed in due
course.
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The Yinchuan Project

During FY2024/25, the Group had continued to work on the
development and sales of the Yinchuan Project. The construction
of the last two blocks (#17 and #18) of the residential properties
of the Yinchuan Project were completed and hand-over of units
commenced during FY2024/25. On the other hand, the commercial
part of the Yinchuan Project had a lease-out rate of 90% as at 31
March 2025, which had become one of the largest curtain retail
hubs in the North-Western part of China. The Group will continue to
work on the sales of the remaining residential units of the Yinchuan
Project to improve the cash flow position of the Group.

Expansion of property management business

Property management business (the “Property Management
Business”) is one of the principal businesses of the Group.
The Group had completed the acquisitions of three property
management companies in the year ended 31 March 2024
(“FY2023/24”). The expansion of the Property Management
Business would help to bring in more stable income to
the Group in the future. During FY2024/25, the Group has
recorded management fee income amounted to approximately
HK$27,123,000 as compared to approximately HK$20,471,000 for
the corresponding year, representing an increase of 32.5%.

In addition, the Group has been exploring different opportunities
to expand its Property Management Business. During FY2024/25,
the Group had identified certain potential targets for expansion of
the Property Management Business. Such potential targets were
also companies engaging in the business of property management
in the areas in which the Group operated. However, up to the date
of this Report, the Group had not reached any agreement with any
of the potential targets for expansion of the Property Management
Business. At the same time, the Group has also been exploring
organic expansion of the Property Management Business within
existing area of operation. For example, in the Hohhot city, the
Group is currently providing property management service to only
approximately 40% of the tenants of the commercial complex that
the Group has operation. The Group is in the process of developing
plans to expand the Property Management Business, which
nevertheless would require time to implement as such new property
management agreements will likely be negotiated only close to the
expiry of the existing property management agreements.
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In addition, the Group was also in discussion with the controlling
shareholder of the Company (the “Controlling Shareholder”)
regarding the possible cooperation for expansion of the Property
Management Business. The Controlling Shareholder and affiliates
currently own, among other things, companies engaging in
business of property development and commercial properties of
over 3 million square meters, which also involves in the property
leasing and property management business (the “Controlling
Shareholder’s Business”). The Controlling Shareholder is willing
to support the expansion of the Group’s Property Management
Business and there have been on-going discussions between the
Group and the Controlling Shareholder regarding cooperation to
expand the Property Management Business of the Group. Based
on the Board’s understanding from the Controlling Shareholder
and affiliates, the property leasing and property management
income under the Controlling Shareholder’s Business are carried
out in an integrated way, and income from tenants regarding
the rental income and property management income would be
covered under the same agreement. Given the current financial
position of the Group, the Board considers that it will not be
appropriate for the Group to take up the property leasing part
of the Controlling Shareholder’s Business as such business will
require substantial amount of capital. Accordingly, the Group
and the Controlling Shareholder and affiliates are in discussion
regarding the arrangement to split the property leasing and property
management income under the Controlling Shareholder’s Business
upon the expiry of the existing rental agreement(s). It is currently
expected that certain of the property management service under
the Controlling Shareholder’s Business could be split out in first
quarter of year 2026. The Group will continue to discuss with
the Controlling Shareholder regarding the appropriate ways for
expansion of the Group’s Property Management Business.
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(iii) Continuous financial support from related parties

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a revolving loan facility of
HK$2,000,000,000 with interest rate at 5% per annum, which was
granted by a company controlled by the Controlling Shareholder
that will expire in December 2025 (the “Existing Loan Facility”). The
facility amount remained unutilised as at 31 March 2025. In June
2025, the Group entered into a new loan agreement regarding a
revolving loan facility agreement with a related party controlled by
the Controlling Shareholder, Jinsheng International Group (BVI)
Limited (ERXERER (RBEHBREFHS) BRAE)In relation
to an unsecured loan facility in the total principal amount of
HK$2,000,000,000 at an interest rate of 5% per annum, and such
revolving loan facility will start in January 2026 and will be due to
repay in December 2027 (the “New Loan Facility”, together with the
Existing Loan Facility, the “Loan Facilities”).

In addition to obtaining financial support from related parties,
the Group has also been engaged in negotiations with different
financial institutions regarding financing arrangement to support
the Group’s operations. In particular, the Group has continued
discussions with Huaxia Bank, and also commenced discussions
with another commercial bank in the PRC in April 2025. The
discussions mainly cover the financing arrangements to support
the Group’s operations, with an aim to obtain fundings to resume
the Qinhuangdao Project. As at the date of this Report, such
discussions were still on-going.

Both the Company and the Controlling Shareholder consider that
the resumption of the Qinhuangdao Project would be prioritised
as one of the most critical parts for improving the financial position
of the Group. The Company understand that the financial support
from the Controlling Shareholder and other financial institutions
would only be realised if the resumption of the Qinhuangdao Project
could be achieved. As mentioned above, the Group has also been
actively exploring different possibilities to resume the Qinhuangdao
Project, and will continue to discuss with different financial
institutions regarding the financing arrangement.

(i)

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

FERNFEEIBRE
N_E_HE=Z/A=+—H> KEB%E
EHERRKRRIZESNABMKEHEIR
BRI E2,000,000,0005 7T 0 IR EFIR
5%t B TR S _RE+ A3
(MREEFmME) -RN_E_AHAFE=H
=t+—B ZmESEEREA N T
ETRERA AEBREE—LHIZEREK
RIEFINRES CRERER (HBAE
BRER) BRAGAMEBIRIFERRE
EEBRA$48%52,000,000,000% 7T
FRNRWERBREAREHENTE
AR ZBRREFMEFNZZIN
FE-BAEMUBR 2 _+tE+_-8F
HEE (MERRE) > ZERIREENH
EHBIERRE]) o

PRERRE S I B RS AEE TR
FBRAZRIFEMEENERE ZHHE
TER UZHAEESEE -RHER
RENR AEMREBRITRHERST
R R S hFHARKRERE
P55 — R SR IR1T R A E 7 o AE R 5T
mIBERIXFAEEAEEZIMER
B ERENESUEMRESEE
HEARSER ZSEENEED
o

AABDRERRREDS ERRES
EEREANEAERMBRIZEE
BRI - ARBER WEEREKE
SHRE HERBERRRMAMER
Wz MBI LRt RER—
BERBRNEMRESERZEEAT

HE UREELRELHFESTRK
HBRFThER ©




Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2025

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENmES

(iv) Exploring other investment opportunities

In addition to the continuous development of the existing
businesses, the Group had been actively exploring other investment
opportunities to expand its businesses, including but not limited
to potential opportunities in the PRC as well as in Southeast Asia
with businesses relating to property development and/or upstream
or downstream businesses. During FY2024/25, the Group had
explored more than five potential targets, including businesses in
the PRC and Southeast Asia. The Group had performed preliminary
due diligence on all of the potential targets, and had engaged in
negotiations on key terms of the possible investment (such as
valuation, consideration and payment methods (shares issuance),
management and board composition and profit guarantee etc.)
after the preliminary due diligence process. As at the date of this
Report, the Group was still exploring its investment opportunities
and no legally binding agreements had been entered into with the
aforesaid potential targets.

(v) Cost control

The Group had and would continue to take appropriate measures
to control administrative costs, including but not limited to reducing
headcounts, reduction in marketing expenses, water and electricity
and travelling expenses.

Removal of the 2025 Disclaimer Opinion

The Directors believe that, after taking into account the abovementioned
plans and measures, as well as the forecasted operating cash flows for
the year ending 31 March 2026, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to satisfy its present requirements for the year ending 31 March
2026. The Directors have also discussed the abovementioned plans
and measures with the Auditors, and the Auditors have agreed that
the abovementioned measures would mitigate the Group’s liquidity
pressure and improve its financial position of the Group. The Board will
provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence to the Auditors to assess
the appropriateness of the Board’s application of going concern basis in
preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the property sector in
Mainland China and the uncertainties to obtain continuous support from
the banks, the related companies and the Group’s contractors/creditors,
the Directors of the Company consider that material uncertainties exist as
to whether the Group will be able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above.
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Should the Group fail to achieve the above mentioned plans and
measures, the Group may be unable to operate as a going concern, in
which case adjustments might have to be made to the carrying values
of the Group’s assets to state them at their realisable values, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify its non-current
assets and non-current liabilities to current assets and current liabilities,
respectively.

Based on preliminary discussion with Auditors, Auditors are of the view
that:

The 2025 Disclaimer Opinion would be removed for the year ending 31
March 2026 auditor’s report assuming that the aforementioned plans
and measures can be successfully implemented as planned (including
but not limited to obtain additional funding from the related parties or
other parties to repay the Group’s outstanding borrowings, construction
payables and any related claims and penalties).

In next financial year, the Auditors will exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing in order to conclude on the
appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The conclusions would be based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of the next year auditor’s report.

Audit Committee’s View Towards The 2025
Disclaimer Opinion

As disclosed on page 31 of the 2025 annual results announcement of
the Company dated 30 June 2025, the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”) had reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial
results for the year ended 31 March 2025 with the Group’s management,
including the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, risk management and internal control, and
financial reporting matters, in conjunction with the Auditor.
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During the meeting of the Audit Committee held on 30 June 2025, all
members of the Audit Committee had thoroughly reviewed the auditors’
qualification and the Group’s financial position, reasons mentioned under
the “Plans to Address the 2025 Disclaimer Opinion” above and agreed
with the position and basis of the Management that the Company was
able to carry on as a going concern despite the auditor’s qualification,

if all the measures would be implemented effectively. In arriving at this
opinion, the Audit Committee had carried out the following steps:
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()  Reviewed a report from the Auditors setting out, among other () ETEZEMMZBE > EhHy (Hdha
things, the significant risks, audit highlights and details on the ) BRRE B EMMETERRRZ
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(i)

(V)

v

Discussed with the Management regarding the action plans to
address the Disclaimer;

Obtained and reviewed the business plans provided by the
Management, including details on the Management’s assessment
on the Disclaimer as set out above;

Obtained and reviewed the cash flow forecast prepared by
the Management for the period from April 2025 to June 2026,
and discussed with the Management regarding the basis and
assumptions for preparing such cash flow forecast; and

Discussing with the Management and the Auditors regarding the
differences in assessment on the going concern assumption.

In forming its view, the Audit Committee has considered, among other
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be able to continue as a going concern, subject to the effective
implementation of the action plans;

The action plans cover the key issues faced by the Group, in
particular the suspension of the Qinhuangdao Project;

There were over ten potential investors/partners showing interest in
cooperation with the Group for the resumption of the Qinhuangdao
Project;
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Discussion with the New Potential Investor was on-going and due
diligence work had been performed by both the New Potential
Investor and the Group;

The development of the remaining two blocks of the Yinchuan
Project had been completed and hand-over of units commenced
during FY2024/25;

The commercial part of the Yinchuan Project had a lease-out rate
of 90% as at 31 March 2025, which had become one of the largest
curtain retail hubs in the North-Western part of China. This indicates
a high level of assurance on the commercial part which may help
the sales of the residential units;

The Property Management Business was under normal operation.
The Management had assessed different proposals to expand such
business should opportunities arise;

While there are still uncertainties in the property market in the PRC,
the Management is also exploring different investment opportunities
SO as to expand the revenue stream and diverse business risk of
the Group; and

There are on-going communications between the Group with the
major creditor, Huaxia Bank, and other financial institutions. At the
same time, the Controlling Shareholder is wiling to enter into the
New Loan Facility early in advance of the expiry date of the Existing
Loan Facility
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
and other particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 is
set out in the sections of Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
6 to 27.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
116.

There will not be a payment of a final dividend for the Year (31 March
2024 Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out on pages 120, 121 and 224, respectively.

The Company had no distributable reserve as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
Nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of revenue attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was not more than 4% of the Group’s total revenue for the
Year.

The percentage of purchases cost for the Year attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers are as follows:

27%
64%

- the largest supplier
- five largest suppliers combined

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in
the major suppliers or customers noted above.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 228. This summary does
not form part of the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Chen Wei (Vice President)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Hsu Wai Man Helen
Wong Chi Hong William
Xu Jinghong

Pursuant to Bye-Law 99, Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen (“Ms. Hsu”), Mr. Xu
Jinghong (“Mr. Xu”) and Mr. Wong Chi Hong William (“Mr. Wong”) wiill
retire from office by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election as independent non-executive Directors at the
AGM.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
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The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to the
requirement of Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the
“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors of the Group are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors” section on pages 109 to 111.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors, the Chief Executive of the
Company and their associates, had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO) or, as recorded in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Companies.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of persons (other
than Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS

Under otherwise specified, the shareholding percentages disclosed
below are calculated based on the total of 1,166,834,362 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2025. The Company implemented
a share consolidation for 20 shares into 1 consolidated share and was
completed on Friday, 17 January 2025.
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Ordinary shares of HK$1 each of the Company

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

Number of issued
ordinary shares
and underlying
shares held/

TREIEREEIZATZEER

Approximate
percentage of the
issued share
capital of the

Name of shareholder Capacity interested Company
BE B®H
BHEZBEHT HARE
BERKR BRITRA
IRERETE 515 ARG EE =R e
Fine Bliss Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 117,000,000 10.03%
2IRERLAE (1) BEmEAA
Complete Power International Limited (Note 1)  Interest of controlled corporation 117,000,000 10.03%
2 HBEBRASB (5E1) ZHEE RS
Good Moral Enterprises Limited (Note 1) Interest of controlled corporation 117,000,000 10.03%
EELEBRAE (H5E1) EHEE S
Stimulate High Investment Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 571,959,922 49.02%
RFKRERRASD (fst2) BEEAA
Wang Hua (Note 1 and 2) Interest of controlled corporation 688,959,922 59.05%
FE (s %2) EHEE S
Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporation 130,000,000 11.14%
(Note 3)
BB EERAERAT (H5E3) ZHEE R
Sino Dynamics Investments Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 130,000,000 11.14%
Sino Dynamics Investments Limited (Fff5£3) EmEAA
Wu Peipei (Note 3) Interest of controlled corporation 130,000,000 11.14%

R (WEE3)

Notes:

xR

MI5E :

1) Fine Bliss Limited is the registered holder of 117,000,000 shares of the 1)
Company. Mr. Wang Hua owns the entire issued share capital of Complete
Power International Limited, and Complete Power International Limited owns the
entire issued share capital of Good Moral Enterprises Limited, and Good Moral
Enterprises Limited owns the entire issued share capital of Fine Bliss Limited.
Accordingly, each of Mr. Wang Hua, Complete Power International Limited and
Good Moral Enterprises Limited is deemed to be interested in the 117,000,000
shares directly held by Fine Bliss Limited under the SFO.

2IRERABAAAE117,000,0008% 815
CEREBEA-TEREFEELZHERAR
NBEZE2HEETRE 2 HEBRERAT
BAEERCERRATDZE2HRBETRE
MEBLEBRATDNEERIRERATZ
EIWEBRTRA AL RIEZ S RIPER
B> TERE -2 HEBRBRAB REEDR
EERATEWEANEREBBRATFEE
A HI117,000,00008 B8 15 Fh B HE % o
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2) Stimulate High Investment Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Wang Hua.
Accordingly, Mr. Wang Hua is deemed to be interested in the 571,959,922
shares directly held by Stimulate High Investment Limited under the SFO.

3) Sino Dynamics Investments Limited is the registered holder of 130,000,000
shares of the Company. The entire issued share capital of Sino Dynamics
Investments Limited is directly owned by Galaxy Sharp Investment Holdings
Limited. Ms. Wu Peipei owns the entire issued share capital of Galaxy Sharp
Investment Holdings Limited. Accordingly, each of Galaxy Sharp Investment
Holdings Limited and Ms. Wu Peipei is deemed to be interested in the
130,000,000 shares directly held by Sino Dynamics Investments Limited under
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, no person (other than
the Directors) had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION UNDER
RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Upon specific enquiry by the Company and receipt of confirmation
from the Directors, there has been no change in the information of the
Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules subsequent to the date of the interim report of the Company
for the six months ended 30 September 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

To the best knowledge of the Board, at no time during the Year were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Directors or their respective
spouse or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them, or
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Having made all reasonable enquiries and based on the available
books and records, the Board is not aware of any material interest in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

2) IRHREERABRITHIELEZER
BRI RIFFZHRPERM > TELE
WEARIRHKREERADMEEFTAN
571,959,922 &1 #E R #E i ©

3) Sino Dynamics Investments Limited2 2 A
B]180,000,0008% f% 5 2 & 52358 A 2 Sino
Dynamics Investments Limited> & &f 2217
BABRRBEEERERABEEER -2
BB ZTRBAEBREERBRAT Z 2
BEITIRA - FIL  RIRE 5 R EAE RG> 8l
BEEERERADRRBBBELZLTEWRA
#Sino Dynamics Investments Limitedfff B 1%
A #9130,000,00088 B 15 R A % o
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors, the Shareholders
and their respective associates had any interest in a business which
competes or is likely to compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with
the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the Year are set out in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Board is not aware of any contract during the Year entered into with
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 2.3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules during the Year
and up to the date of this report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The Group had no significant event taking place subsequent to 31 March
2025 and up to the date of this report.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies during the year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Year have
been audited by Rongcheng (Hong Kong) CPA Limited, Certified Public
Accountants. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM
to re-appoint Rongcheng (Hong Kong) CPA Limited as auditor of the
Company.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming AGM will be held on Friday, 29 August 2025. To
ascertain the Shareholders’ entitiement to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
26 August 2025 to Friday, 29 August 2025, both days inclusive, during
which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the
entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers of Shares
accompanied by the relevant shares certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong by 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 25 August 2025. The record date
for the purpose of determining the eligibility of the Shareholders to attend
and vote at the AGM is 29 August 2025.

On behalf of the Board

Li Yi Feng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Company has been making an effort to enhance the
corporate governance standard of the Company by reference to the code
provisions and recommended best practices set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Part 2 of Appendix 14
(which has been restructured as Appendix C1 since 31 December 2023)
to the Rules Governing the Listing Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). During
the Year, the Company has applied and complied with all the code
provisions set out in the CG Code except for the deviation from code
provision C.2.1.

Code provision C.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

During the Year, the Company had deviated from code provision C.2.1
because the roles of Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company had been vested in the same person (Mr. Li Vi
Feng). The reason for this deviation was that the Board believes that
at the current development of the Group, vesting of the two roles in
the same person provides the Company with strong and consistent
leadership and facilitates the planning and execution of the Group’s
business strategies. The Board will review this structure periodically and
will consider steps to separate dual roles of chairman and chief executive
officer as and when appropriate taking into account the prevailing
circumstances.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all Directors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises of five Directors
including two Executive Directors, and three Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Company’s businesses, investment and strategic
decisions and performance. In addition, the Board has delegated various
responsibilities to the board committees. Further details of these board
committees are set out in this annual report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets
out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will review
such objectives from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives. The Company wiill
also take into consideration its own specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board recognizes that gender-diverse leadership encourages better
governance, provides broader range of perspectives to the decision-
making process and ultimately increases corporate performance and
competitiveness. During the Year, the Board was comprised of 80% male
and 20% female, and is committed to improving gender diversity as and
when suitable candidates are identified.
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To develop a pipeline of potential successors to the Board to maintain
gender diversity, similar considerations are used when recruiting and
selecting key management and other personnel across the Group’s
operations.

During the Year, the Group maintained a 66.7:33.3 gender ratio of males
to females in the workplace. The Group will consider not only the ability of
each potential candidate, but also the agenda diversity in the workforce
when recruiting suitable candidates.

Independent Views and Input

The Company has established mechanisms for ensuring independent
views and input are available to the Board for enhancing an objective and
effective decision making.

The following mechanisms are subject to annual review by Board,
including without limitation:

(@ Independent Non-executive Directors can express their views in
an open and candid manner, and in a confidential manner, should
circumstances require through meeting between Independent Non-
executive Directors and the Chairman only;

(b)  each and every Director is given the opportunity to express his/her
different views at Board meetings and to voice his/her concerns;
and

(c)  other informal meetings outside the boardroom.

Executive Directors:

Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Chen Wei (Vice President)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Hsu Wai Man Helen

Wong Chi Hong William

Xu Jinghong

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. The biographical information of the
Directors is set out on pages 108 to 110.
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Chairman

The Chairman of the Company takes the lead in formulating the overall
strategies and policies of the Company in order to ensure effective
performance by the Board of its functions, including compliance with
good corporate governance practices and encourages and facilitates
active contribution of Directors in Board activities. The chairman also
ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and have received adequate, complete and reliable information
in a timely manner with the assistance of the company secretary.

Executive Directors

The Executive Directors are responsible for running the Company and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the Company’s
management team in accordance with the directions set by the Board
and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal control system is
in place and the Company’s business conforms to applicable laws and
regulations.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Independent Non-executive Directors serve the important function of
ensuring and monitoring an effective corporate governance framework.
Their participation provides adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole. The
Board currently consists of three Independent Non-executive Directors
and two of them have relevant professional qualification or accounting
or relating financial management expertise. The Company has received
annual confirmation of independence from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. On this
basis, the Board is of the view that all the Independent Non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
Independent Non-executive Directors will provide independent opinion
and share their knowledge and experience with other members of the
Board.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu
Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Chi Hong William and Mr. Xu Jinghong, was
appointed for a fixed term of three years commencing from 22 November
2022, 31 January 2024 and 1 April 2023 respectively.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings ESEERRRRAE
During the Year, the Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings and RAFE EFHFEEFTTEZAREKX
general meetings is set out as follows: BHEXITRWT

Number of meetings attended/held

Ilillﬁ/$1j' = uig B

Board  Annual General Special General
Name Meetings*® Meetings* Meetings
e EXggR RRBEFEXET REBIKE
Executive Directors:
BITES
Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer) 6/6 11 11
BN (EFSLERTEHAEE)
Chen Wei (Vice President) 6/6 11 11
RR1E (B4R E)
Independent Non-executive Directors:
BIERITES !
Hsu Wai Man Helen 6/6 11 11
REH
Wong Chi Hong William 6/6 11 11
=mTRE
Xu Jinghong 6/6 11 11
* The denominator represents the number of Board meetings, annual general  * PDEEREE_ S _AFE=RA=+— EIJkﬁa‘

meeting or, as the case may be, held during the tenure of each Director in the BEE Z%E%fiﬁﬂwﬁﬁ2§$%@%
financial year ended 31 March 2025. RBEFXREH RIERME) 2HE -

All minutes of Board meetings and general meetings are kept by the FIEEE S ZZ ARE AT ZE L H
company secretary and are open for inspection at reasonable tme on A B MERTFT > LR FIEBEX E’J & I8 KF 5
reasonable notice by any Director. Every Director is entitled to have THHEINEZEZTER BZBEETHERE
access to Board papers and related materials and access to the advice HEZFEXHKREREER > WA EERA F
and services of the company secretary. In addition, the Company MEZEZENMBRFE U RBEEWNIBER
enables the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent T @' AR BIBRHTEETERITHBES KE
professional advice in appropriate circumstances. UEEEFR-
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS BEZE

Every newly appointed Director is provided with induction and informaton ZAAB BZRFEESREB N KR ER > UL
to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company's MEREBIIEBEMAAT 2 EBERER LU
operations and business as well as his/her responsibilities under the K ERMERE EZR - EZ2 - RAEBHET
relevant status, laws, rules and regulations. Z2EfEe

The continuous professional development is provided to all Directors at A AT B EBEHREEZIEHEEFE 21
the Company’s expense to develop and refresh their knowledge and FIIUE BT BFHE MM AT RBRSE
skills to assist them in discharging their duties. This is to ensure that their BTH S UBEFERREAESSELHNBE
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. NEBZER -

During the Year, a record of the training attended/received by each of the MWAEERN  FEE2HE ESHEIH

Directors, is set out as follows: ST U

Type of training
Name e R R
Executive Directors: HITESE !
Li Yi Feng (Chairman of the Board and ENE (EESFERITHARES) A&B

Chief Executive Officer)

Chen Wei (Vice President) R (Bl#8 ) A&B
Independent Non-executive Directors: BILIEHITES :
Hsu Wai Man Helen REW A&B
Wong Chi Hong William =T
Xu Jinghong FFER A&B
Notes: MI5E
A attending courses/seminars/conferences Al BESRREBE S gE

B:  reading journals/written training materials/updates B: RIEETEmEIHEM S EHER
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and the code provisions
under the CG Code. The Audit Committee is mainly responsible
for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system and risk
management and internal control systems; making recommendations to
the Board in the appointment and removal of the external auditors and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditors;
and reviewing the interim and annual reports and accounts of the
Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee comprised all Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Chi Hong
William and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen is the Chairlady of
the Audit Committee.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the six months
ended on 30 September 2024 and the Year have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, who is of the opinion that such statements comply
with the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and legal
requirements, and that adequate disclosures have been made.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the Audit
Committee is set out as follows:
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Number of meetings HE BT

of the Audit Committee BREEE

Name attended/held* % gEYE"
Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairiadly) 212 BEH(EE) 2/2
Wong Chi Hong William 212 =ETEE 2/2
Xu Jinghong 212  TEB 2/2

*

The denominator represents the number of meetings of the Audit Committee
held during the tenure of each member of the Audit Committee in the financial
year ended 31 March 2025.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Listing Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy
for Directors and senior management, and overseeing the remuneration
packages of the Executive Directors and senior management.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee comprises one Executive
Director, namely Mr. Li Yi Feng, and three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Chi Hong William
and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen is the Chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year
includes reviewing the policy for the remuneration of Executive Directors,
assessing the performance of Executive Directors and approving the
terms of Executive Directors’ service contracts.

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the
Remuneration Committee is set out as follows:

Number of meetings

HNEEE

AARERULUFMZEST (TFHFMZEE
g UBTLEHRAUREEERTRZ
ST BIMER SC LA E T T2 =Xl E B 8 [ o F
ZECETEEENEFENELALRAESE
heHhEBEzHMNBREHRESEZS
UREEATEFkeSREERE Z #H

Ao

REFERN #FMEZEEEERE-—LNTE
EFNBEEER=ZRBUFATESR
SRR BETFTREERFEBERE 1R
EHRELRFNEEGEE -

HMEEERAFERNMETZIFE
BRERAATEFZHMBR - FERGTE
ExRBERBRITESTRFTGOZIK

=
o

REFERN FHEEENELEEZES
EERMNEEXRITMT :

of the Remuneration HiE/ BT

Committee B By =

Name attended/held* % TEYE"
Hsu Wai Man Helen (Chairladly) 212 HEHEFE 2/2
Li Yi Feng 2/2  ENHE 2/2
Wong Chi Hong William 2/2 =T 2/2
Xu Jinghong 2/2 FEB 2/2

*

The denominator represents the number of meetings of the Remuneration
Committee held during the tenure of each member of the Remuneration
Committee in the financial year ended 31 March 2025.

* PEREBE_Z_HFE=B=+—HLH
HEEHFNEZEENSFNEZE G ETH
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REEED

The Company has established a Nomination Committee (the “Nominaton ZAAT DR IRLEE G (TRLEFE
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing &) > W3S EH R R ESATE 2
Rules and the code provisions under the CG Code. The Nomination SFEIMEXUZEFEAGIERESLE RS
Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing the structure, size and HZECTEESHHEFT T 21 E HE
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the R 4HAY (&7 BE ~ A8 R A4S &%) » I ot 4%
Board, making recommendations on any proposed changes to the ¥ % 5 @ ~ {F o] 8 &) (F & # & 2 & LA
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, identifying BAATDZ XX - YEESERETE
individuals suitably qualified to become member of the Board and making HE M E B A KR IE R IETE E B
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated Z EE ARIEHENEESIEHMEREREZE T
for directorships, assessing the independence of Independent non- (GBI IENITEE 2 HIL M > Wk HE
Executive Directors, and making recommendations to the Board onthe ZEHEHEETEERESE 2 FTEAES
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning GEFHHEERZ ABFESSHEHMAE
for directors. To ensure changes to the Board composition can be HEB A ETHERABENTIE KA TE
managed without undue disruption, a formal, considered and transparent RAEERX - KBIEEZEL EFBBEEMES
procedure is in place for selection, appointment and re-appointment of ERIE-HZFREFEFERF > LR TEA K
Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly succession (if considered FRESZS4# T8 (NBAEEE) » 01F
necessary), including periodical review of such plans. The criteria to be EHI@ T EAE - AN ZEREAES
applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified shall be his or her A BRAIZHE > EHRFEEAS TR
ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company A E BB EREHUEERATEFHE I
and contribute to the diversity of the Board (including gender diversity) as 1@ EEF & % o1t (BFE 4R T1E) > 6
well as the effective carrying out of the responsibilities of the Board. EEEEBNETHRS

During the Year, the Nomination Committee comprises one Executve HRAEERN RELSZETEHE—LHPTE
Director, namely Mr. Li Yi Feng, and three Independent Non-executve SZZNEELEER=ZLBIUFERNTEEHR
Directors, namely Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen, Mr. Wong Chi Hong Wiliam Z8 4t & FEEERFEBRLE-F
and Mr. Xu Jinghong. Mr. Li Yi Feng is the Chairman of the Nomination 7TR#c4EBIRLEEFEFE o

Committee.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year RELEEGRNAEERNFFET 2 I/EE
includes reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and 15T E F Z 2 2948 « B IE KR 4H A LUK &1
assessing the independence of all Independent Non-executive Directors EFFE B IENTESTNEAEERN 2B
during the Year. I o

i3S

During the Year, the members’ attendance of the meetings of the MNAEERN  RELEETHELFEE
Nomination Committee is set out as follows: EENEFERINTAOT

Number of meetings

of the Nomination HiE BT
Committee RAZ8E
Name attended/held* % SRYE"
Li Yi Feng (Chairman) 11 E7E(FE) 1/1
Hsu Wai Man Helen 11 BREH 11
Wong Chi Hong William 11 BYE 1/1
Xu Jinghong 11 FEER 11

*

The denominator represents the number of meetings of the Nominaton — * PDEREREE_SZ_LE=B=1+—HILH
Committee held during the tenure of each member of the Nomination HEERLAZEENERLZEENEEH
Committee in the financial year ended 31 March 2025. NFTRITEZENHEE -
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REMUNERATION DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest-paid individuals
in the Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the Year, the remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by the Company’s auditors are set out as follows:

EFRELBEFHA LI
%

EFFMEEAEBRZIAESHMAL
WEBORENGEEMHHRERWEIN
10°

1% BB AN <=

RAEFER > BRARFZBEMEH-RZZH
RIFZEBBRBAEBZMEI RO

Services rendered Fee paid/payable 12 {tiRFS et EHER

HK$’000 TFHET
Audit services 960  IZEERFS 960
Non audit services 188  FEIZBARTS 188

DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all Directors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code including:

° develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

° review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

° review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

EFZRHERS

A A E B R LR A 21 0FF 8 £
FTETAEEETESI B ZRETR
(TBEFR)) FAEFETESRS
ZARRBIT AT

ERPMBESFHRBEERNREES A
EFERANEREIFEL2FHEETR
ZETAIFTESZREZER

EEERREE
EXTAENTEEERTRZTAMR

XEA2MFFHZEEERRE 81 ¢

e HIERBSAQFEEERBIR
RER THEFFREES ;

s RBRIAEZEFKSREEENIS
HnFEERER

s RERBEXQRAEETEIRRE
ERETEZBRKRER ;
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° develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

° review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the Group’s
financial statements for each financial period and to ensure that the
financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards and for such internal control as
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material restatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

The statement of the auditors of the Company regarding their
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 100 to 103.

STEPS TAKEN BY THE COMPANY SINCE THE
PUBLICATION OF THE 2024 ANNUAL REPORT TO
ADDRESS THE 2024 DISCLAIMER OPINION AND
THE PROGRESS ACHIEVED (“STEPS TAKEN”)

Refer to the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2024 published on 31 July 2024 (“2024 Annual Report”), the
Company’s auditor issued the disclaimer opinion on the Company’s
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 (“2024 Disclaimer
Opinion”), as part of the measures to resolve the issues underlying the
2024 Disclaimer Opinion, the Group has also taken the following steps
since the publication of the 2024 Annual Report but the underlying issues
cannot be resolved due to the following reasons:

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

e HIE-RAAERBEARNEERES
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(1)

Restarting the Qinhuangdao Project and further
development of the Yinchuan Project

As stated in the 2024 Annual Report, the Group had signed a non-
legally binding memorandum of understanding (the “MOU”) with a
potential investor on 28 May 2024 in relation to the cooperation in
the Qinhuangdao Project. However, since such potential investor
failed to commit the necessary fundings as stated in the MOU,
no further agreement or arrangement had been agreed between
the Group and such potential investor. On the other hand, the
Group had been in discussions with over 10 potential investors
with an aim to restart the Qinhuangdao Project. During the past
12 months preceding the date of this Report, the Group had
established conversations with various potential investors in
China. However, due to the unfavourable market conditions of
the property market in China, the potential investors maintained
very cautious in cooperation with and/or making investment
into the Group. Accordingly, no definitive agreements had been
entered into between the Group and any of the potential investors.
Currently, the Group is actively exploring cooperation opportunities
with one potential investor which had carried out certain times
of site inspection of the Qinhuangdao Project. Subject to internal
planning by the potential investors, the Group expects to continue
negotiations with the potential investors for cooperation in the
Qinhuangdao Project.

As regards the Yinchuan Project, the Group had continued the
development and pre-sale of the properties. During the year ended
31 March 2025 (“FY2024/25"), the Group had pre-sold 82 units
of second phase of the Yinchuan Project. As of 31 March 2025,
Yinchuan Commercial Properties Project achieved an occupancy
rate of approximately 90% and became one of the largest curtain
wholesale base in the northwest region.

(1)
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2

Securing continuous financial support from
related companies

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a revolving loan facility of
HK$2,000,000,000 granted by a company indirectly wholly owned
by the controlling shareholder that will expire in December 2025,
of which the full amount remained unutilised as at 31 March
2024. The controlling shareholder had continued to provided
financial support to the Company and the Group had maintained
such revolving loan facility during FY2024/25. In June 2025, the
Group entered into a new loan agreement regarding a revolving
loan facility agreement with a related party, Jinsheng International
Group (BVI) Limited (£ EEIRER HEBAETRES) BRAHE)
in relation to an unsecured loan facility in the total principal amount
of HK$2,000,000,000 at an interest rate of 5% per annum, the
revolving loan facility starts in January 2026 and is due to repay in
December 2027.

Expansion of property management business

Following the acquisitions of three property management
companies in FY2023/24, the Group had expanded its property
management business, and these property management business
had made a full-year contribution to the Group’s revenue during
FY2024/25.

Exploring other financing options

In terms of financing options, the Group had continued to identify
and negotiate with various financial institutions or investors for
financing options. The Group had also maintained communications
with Huaxia Bank regarding the financing arrangement, including
the existing loan borrowed by related parties of the Company and
lent directly to the Group on the same terms. As at the date of
this Report, the negotiations between the Group and the financial
institutions are still on-going.

Exploring other investment opportunities

In addition to the continuous development of the existing
businesses, the Group had been actively exploring other investment
opportunities to expand its businesses, including but not limited to
potential opportunities in mainland China as well as in Southeast
Asia with businesses relating to property development and/or
upstream or downstream businesses. During FY2024/25, the
Group had explored more than five potential targets, including
businesses in mainland China and Southeast Asia. As at the date of
this Report, the Group is still exploring its investment opportunities
and no legally binding agreements had been entered into with the
aforesaid potential targets.

(4)
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(6) Cost control

The Group continued to take appropriate measures to control its
costs, including maintain an appropriate level of headcounts and
reducing certain administrative costs.

GOING CONCERN AND DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
ISSUED BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR FOR
THE YEAR

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had a net loss of
approximately HK$250,923,000 and as at 31 March 2025, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately HK$473,870,000 and total
borrowings, including other borrowings, amount due to a shareholder
and amounts due to related parties, in aggregate of approximately
HK$617,295,000 that will be due in the coming twelve months from
the end of the Reporting Period. As at the same date, the Group’s cash
and cash equivalents amounted to approximately HK$11,758,000 and
restricted bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$6,199,000.
In addition, the Group has been involved in various litigation cases
for outstanding construction payables for which the Group has made
provision. The financial conditions presented indicate the existence of
material uncertainties, which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore the Group may
not be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

The independent auditor of the Company (‘Auditors”) has issued a
disclaimer of opinion to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
the Year (“2025 Disclaimer Opinion”), details of which are set out in the
report from the independent auditor.

The Directors understand that the Auditors considered the validity of the
consolidated financial statements being prepared on a going concern
basis was subject to multiple uncertainties, including (i) the successful
resumption and/or acceleration of property development projects, and (ii)
continuous financial support from related parties. On the other hand, the
Directors consider that the consolidated financial statements of the Group
can be presented in a going concern basis, after taking into account
of the Steps Taken above and Plans to address the 2025 Disclaimer
Opinion below.
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PLANS TO ADDRESS THE 2025 DISCLAIMER
OPINION
In view of the 2025 Disclaimer Opinion, the Company had carefully

considered the following measures to address the issues underlying the
2025 Disclaimer Opinion:

(i)

Resumption and/or acceleration of property
development projects

Property development projects of the Group comprised mainly (a)
the Group’s property development project at Qinhuangdao (the
“Qinhuangdao Project”); and (b) the Group’s property development
project at Yinchuan (the “Yinchuan Project”).

The Qinhuangdao Project

The Group has been exploring different means and opportunities
to its property development projects, in particular, to resume
the Qinhuangdao Project. During FY2024/25, the Group had
engaged in discussions with over 10 potential investors/partners for
resumption of the Qinhuangdao Project. These potential investors/
partners are all independent third parties from the Group and had
experience in property development business in the PRC. As at
the date of this Report, the Group had maintained discussions
with most of the potential investors/partners. Among these, the
Group had active dialogue with one of the potential investors (the
“New Potential Investor”). The dialogue between the Group and
the New Potential Investor commenced in March 2025. As at the
date of this Report, the New Potential Investor had carried out
certain due diligence work on the Qinhuangdao Project (including
a site visit to the Qinhuangdao Project in June 2025), and the
Group had also carried out certain due diligence work on the
New Potential Investor. The Group and the New Potential Investor
had also discussed about certain key terms for the cooperation
in the Qinhuangdao Project, including but not limited to amount
and timing of capital injection (part of which may be used for
partial repayment to Huaxia Bank and partial settlement of the
amounts due to contractors to resume the Qinhuangdao Project),
shareholding structure, operation responsibilities, profit sharing
mechanism, board composition of the project company, debt
financing structure (e.g. proportionate contribution if guarantee is
required to secure financing), etc. In view of the above, in particular
that, (i) there have been dialogues between the Group and different
potential investors/partners regarding the Qinhuangdao Project,
indicating the interest of potential investors in the project; (i) there
have been active discussions between the Group and the New
Potential Investor, indicating a likelihood of a crystalising a concrete
resumption of the Qinhuangdao Project; and (iii) the improving
market sentiment in the property development market in China,
the Board considered that the Group’s efforts in resumption of the
Qinhuangdao Project have continued to bring in progress and it
was likely that the Qinhuangdao Project could be resumed in due
course.
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The Yinchuan Project

During FY2024/25, the Group had continued to work on the
development and sales of the Yinchuan Project. The construction
of the last two blocks (#17 and #18) of the residential properties
of the Yinchuan Project were completed and hand-over of units
commenced during FY2024/25. On the other hand, the commercial
part of the Yinchuan Project had a lease-out rate of 90% as at 31
March 2025, which had become one of the largest curtain retail
hubs in the North-Western part of China. The Group will continue to
work on the sales of the remaining residential units of the Yinchuan
Project to improve the cash flow position of the Group.

Expansion of property management business

Property management business (the “Property Management
Business”) is one of the principal businesses of the Group.
The Group had completed the acquisitions of three property
management companies in the year ended 31 March 2024
(“FY2023/24”). The expansion of the Property Management
Business would help to bring in more stable income to
the Group in the future. During FY2024/25, the Group has
recorded management fee income amounted to approximately
HK$27,123,000 as compared to approximately HK$20,471,000 for
the corresponding year, representing an increase of 32.5%.

In addition, the Group has been exploring different opportunities
to expand its Property Management Business. During FY2024/25,
the Group had identified certain potential targets for expansion of
the Property Management Business. Such potential targets were
also companies engaging in the business of property management
in the areas in which the Group operated. However, up to the date
of this Report, the Group had not reached any agreement with any
of the potential targets for expansion of the Property Management
Business. At the same time, the Group has also been exploring
organic expansion of the Property Management Business within
existing area of operation. For example, in the Hohhot city, the
Group is currently providing property management service to only
approximately 40% of the tenants of the commercial complex that
the Group has operation. The Group is in the process of developing
plans to expand the Property Management Business, which
nevertheless would require time to implement as such new property
management agreements will likely be negotiated only close to the
expiry of the existing property management agreements.
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In addition, the Group was also in discussion with the controlling
shareholder of the Company (the “Controlling Shareholder”)
regarding the possible cooperation for expansion of the Property
Management Business. The Controlling Shareholder and affiliates
currently own, among other things, companies engaging in
business of property development and commercial properties of
over 3 million square meters, which also involves in the property
leasing and property management business (the “Controlling
Shareholder’s Business”). The Controlling Shareholder is willing
to support the expansion of the Group’s Property Management
Business and there have been on-going discussions between the
Group and the Controlling Shareholder regarding cooperation to
expand the Property Management Business of the Group. Based
on the Board’s understanding from the Controlling Shareholder
and affiliates, the property leasing and property management
income under the Controlling Shareholder’s Business are carried
out in an integrated way, and income from tenants regarding
the rental income and property management income would be
covered under the same agreement. Given the current financial
position of the Group, the Board considers that it will not be
appropriate for the Group to take up the property leasing part
of the Controlling Shareholder’s Business as such business will
require substantial amount of capital. Accordingly, the Group
and the Controlling Shareholder and affiliates are in discussion
regarding the arrangement to split the property leasing and property
management income under the Controlling Shareholder’s Business
upon the expiry of the existing rental agreement(s). It is currently
expected that certain of the property management service under
the Controlling Shareholder’s Business could be split out in first
quarter of year 2026. The Group will continue to discuss with
the Controlling Shareholder regarding the appropriate ways for
expansion of the Group’s Property Management Business.
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(i) Continuous financial support from related parties

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a revolving loan facility of
HK$2,000,000,000 with interest rate at 5% per annum, which was
granted by a company controlled by the Controlling Shareholder
that will expire in December 2025 (the “Existing Loan Facility”). The
facility amount remained unutilised as at 31 March 2025. In June
2025, the Group entered into a new loan agreement regarding a
revolving loan facility agreement with a related party controlled by
the Controlling Shareholder, Jinsheng International Group (BVI)
Limited (& RXERER (RBEHBRFHS) BRAE)In relation
to an unsecured loan facility in the total principal amount of
HK$2,000,000,000 at an interest rate of 5% per annum, and such
revolving loan facility will start in January 2026 and will be due to
repay in December 2027 (the “New Loan Facility”, together with the
Existing Loan Facility, the “Loan Facilities”).

In addition to obtaining financial support from related parties,
the Group has also been engaged in negotiations with different
financial institutions regarding financing arrangement to support
the Group’s operations. In particular, the Group has continued
discussions with Huaxia Bank, and also commenced discussions
with another commercial bank in the PRC in April 2025. The
discussions mainly cover the financing arrangements to support
the Group’s operations, with an aim to obtain fundings to resume
the Qinhuangdao Project. As at the date of this Report, such
discussions were still on-going.

Both the Company and the Controlling Shareholder consider that
the resumption of the Qinhuangdao Project would be prioritised
as one of the most critical parts for improving the financial position
of the Group. The Company understand that the financial support
from the Controlling Shareholder and other financial institutions
would only be realised if the resumption of the Qinhuangdao Project
could be achieved. As mentioned above, the Group has also been
actively exploring different possibilities to resume the Qinhuangdao
Project, and will continue to discuss with different financial
institutions regarding the financing arrangement.
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(iv) Exploring other investment opportunities

In addition to the continuous development of the existing
businesses, the Group had been actively exploring other investment
opportunities to expand its businesses, including but not limited
to potential opportunities in the PRC as well as in Southeast Asia
with businesses relating to property development and/or upstream
or downstream businesses. During FY2024/25, the Group had
explored more than five potential targets, including businesses in
the PRC and Southeast Asia. The Group had performed preliminary
due diligence on all of the potential targets, and had engaged in
negotiations on key terms of the possible investment (such as
valuation, consideration and payment methods (shares issuance),
management and board composition and profit guarantee etc.)
after the preliminary due diligence process. As at the date of this
Report, the Group was still exploring its investment opportunities
and no legally binding agreements had been entered into with the
aforesaid potential targets.

(v) Cost control

The Group had and would continue to take appropriate measures
to control administrative costs, including but not limited to reducing
headcounts, reduction in marketing expenses, water and electricity
and travelling expenses.

Removal of the 2025 Disclaimer Opinion

The Directors believe that, after taking into account the abovementioned
plans and measures, as well as the forecasted operating cash flows for
the year ending 31 March 2026, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to satisfy its present requirements for the year ending 31 March
2026. The Directors have also discussed the abovementioned plans
and measures with the Auditors, and the Auditors have agreed that
the abovementioned measures would mitigate the Group’s liquidity
pressure and improve its financial position of the Group. The Board will
provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence to the Auditors to assess
the appropriateness of the Board’s application of going concern basis in
preparing the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the property sector in
Mainland China and the uncertainties to obtain continuous support from
the banks, the related companies and the Group’s contractors/creditors,
the Directors of the Company consider that material uncertainties exist as
to whether the Group will be able to achieve its plans and measures as
described above.

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

(iv) FERHMEEKE
BRIRBEBZIFEERBIN AEBI—
BEEBERRAMKRERSLUIRER
BEEFRAPELEREREEAY)E
BRERKR/ N ETHERER 2 BEER
GoRZTEZM /"R E AEED
ERBBAMBEEZ SEPEKE
BmoEMe K AEBEHMEERT
HIZETYSBRAET TP EB
AERFE BERE ZERER A0
HEE-REBEINTAHN RDET - F
EELREESHAURMNBRES B
HES BEARSHE AEENE
REAAERES T Bk E LB
BTN MERAENER N HE e

(v) BRZSIER
7 £2 [ SR ER LR 5 A BB I 4 R B L
ERITEAE > BIEERRIAIRE T
ANB RO HBHEERMS  UREE K
BEEEEZRER-

BRFR_ZE_AFAERER

etk LMt B RERURBEE — S RF
ZA=t+—HUEFEZFRAZERERE
ESARTEREREAENEEETRER
RBEE_TZ-_AF=ZA=+—HLEFENER
BERE-ZEFTCRAZMS R L5 R
YR > T A% 2R BM 75 [B) B 38 e m] R B A £
ENRBESBENRAEAEENT B
M-BFERAZBMEHRTEDBENEZ
B U ESEERRIAERRSME
BRERAFECEERNBEE-

BE LRt ERPERMYET S KE
BEERRBRT MEQARRFIEENARER
SEEASEXFFEERAREE &R
BEERR AEEETER LA EIRE
FEFEEARTHEEN




Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2025

Corporate Governance Report
tEELRRE

Should the Group fail to achieve the above mentioned plans and
measures, the Group may be unable to operate as a going concern, in
which case adjustments might have to be made to the carrying values
of the Group’s assets to state them at their realisable values, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify its non-current
assets and non-current liabilities to current assets and current liabilities,
respectively.

Based on preliminary discussion with Auditors, Auditors are of the view
that:

The 2025 Disclaimer Opinion would be removed for the year ending 31
March 2026 auditor’s report assuming that the aforementioned plans
and measures can be successfully implemented as planned (including
but not limited to obtain additional funding from the related parties or
other parties to repay the Group’s outstanding borrowings, construction
payables and any related claims and penalties).

In next financial year, the Auditors will exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing in order to conclude on the
appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The conclusions would be based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of the next year auditor’s report.

Audit Committee’s View Towards The 2025
Disclaimer Opinion

As disclosed on page 31 of the 2025 annual results announcement of
the Company dated 30 June 2025, the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”) had reviewed the Group’s consolidated financial
results for the year ended 31 March 2025 with the Group’s management,
including the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, risk management and internal control, and
financial reporting matters, in conjunction with the Auditor.
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During the meeting of the Audit Committee held on 30 June 2025, all
members of the Audit Committee had thoroughly reviewed the auditors’
qualification and the Group’s financial position, reasons mentioned under
the “Plans to Address the 2025 Disclaimer Opinion” above and agreed
with the position and basis of the Management that the Company was
able to carry on as a going concern despite the auditor’s qualification,

if all the measures would be implemented effectively. In arriving at this
opinion, the Audit Committee had carried out the following steps:

PERBR  RATIESNFEEE - NER
IERBRET BEZEETEHKWM TSR

()  Reviewed a report from the Auditors setting out, among other () FTEZEMMZBE > EhHY (Hdha
things, the significant risks, audit highlights and details on the ) ERAR BHEMETERERZ
Disclaimer; =3

(i)

(i)

(iv)

)

Discussed with the Management regarding the action plans to
address the Disclaimer;

Obtained and reviewed the business plans provided by the
Management, including details on the Management’s assessment
on the Disclaimer as set out above;

Obtained and reviewed the cash flow forecast prepared by
the Management for the period from April 2025 to June 2026,
and discussed with the Management regarding the basis and
assumptions for preparing such cash flow forecast; and

Discussing with the Management and the Auditors regarding the
differences in assessment on the going concern assumption.

In forming its view, the Audit Committee has considered, among other
things, that:

@

The financial forecast provided by the Management with the details
of the action plans would demonstrate that the Group would
be able to continue as a going concern, subject to the effective
implementation of the action plans;

The action plans cover the key issues faced by the Group, in
particular the suspension of the Qinhuangdao Project;

There were over ten potential investors/partners showing interest in
cooperation with the Group for the resumption of the Qinhuangdao
Project;

(i)

(i)

(iv)
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(d)  Discussion with the New Potential Investor was on-going and due
diligence work had been performed by both the New Potential
Investor and the Group;

(e) The development of the remaining two blocks of the Yinchuan
Project had been completed and hand-over of units commenced
during FY2024/25;

()  The commercial part of the Yinchuan Project had a lease-out rate
of 90% as at 31 March 2025, which had become one of the largest
curtain retail hubs in the North-Western part of China. This indicates
a high level of assurance on the commercial part which may help
the sales of the residential units;

(9 The Property Management Business was under normal operation.
The Management had assessed different proposals to expand such
business should opportunities arise;

(h)  While there are still uncertainties in the property market in the PRC,
the Management is also exploring different investment opportunities
SO as to expand the revenue stream and diverse business risk of
the Group; and

(i) There are on-going communications between the Group with the
major creditor, Huaxia Bank, and other financial institutions. At the
same time, the Controlling Shareholder is wiling to enter into the
New Loan Facility early in advance of the expiry date of the Existing
Loan Facility

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Philosophy of Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board considers that sound risk management and internal control
systems can improve the operational effectiveness and efficiency of the
Group and help safeguard the assets of the Group and the investments
of the Shareholders.

Risk Management and Internal Responsibility

The Board is well aware of its responsibility to maintain high standards
of risk management and internal control systems and to review the
effectiveness of such systems during the process of implementation.
The systems are intended to provide a reasonable but not absolute
assurance regarding operational effectiveness and efficiency, reliability of
financial reports and compliance with laws and regulations, with the aim
of managing rather than eliminating risks associated with failure to meet
business objectives.
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The Board is fully responsible for assessing and determining the nature
and extent of the risks to which the Company is wiling to assume
in achieving its strategic objectives and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

Risk Management and Internal Control Structures of
the Group

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management,
establishing risk assessment criteria, and supervising the design,
implementation and monitoring of risk management and internal control
systems. Under the authority of the Board, the Audit Committee may
seek external legal, financial or other independent professional advice at
the expense of the Company if necessary (subject to prior discussion with
the Board on the relevant expenses).

The Company has developed and adopted a number of risk management
procedures and guidelines with well-defined terms of reference, which are
implemented through its major business procedures and office functions,
including administration and management, human resources, material
procurement, contract execution, project establishment, tendering and
bidding, project management, sales and leasing, financial reporting and
information technology.

The Company set up its internal audit function in 2014. Established
under the Audit Committee and being independent from other functional
departments, the audit department assists the Board in performing its
regulatory role in the internal control and risk management functions
of the Group, reviewing and assessing the overall effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems. The audit department has
been equipped with professional auditors for conducting internal audits
in accordance with the annual work plan, including regular or ad hoc
internal audits and special audits, as well as audits and assessment on
the operation and management, financial position and enforcement of
internal control of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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Major Features of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Company has set up risk management and internal control
systems to ensure that internal rules and systems are strictly enforced;
recruitment, remuneration and assessment systems are fair, impartial and
transparent; the Company operates in compliance with relevant laws,
rules and regulations; construction projects are carried out in conformity
to the relevant systems of the Company regarding project establishment,
tender awards, contract execution, procurement, construction,
acceptance inspection and settlement, etc.; shop management systems
for commercial projects are stringent with no loopholes; assets are not
misappropriated and embezzled; accounting records for providing reliable
financial information for business purposes or public use are properly
kept; access to and use of internal information without proper authority
are strictly prohibited; and reasonable assurance is provided against
major misrepresentations, losses or fraudulent activities.

To safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of the Shareholders, the
Company handles and publishes inside information in accordance with
its inside information disclosure system to ensure that such information is
kept highly confidential prior to disclosure and issued in an effective and
consistent manner. The Board shall immediately convene a meeting to
discuss the relevant matter and, if necessary, seek advice from external
independent professional institutions.

Under the supervision of the Board, the internal audit department of the
Company had conducted an annual review on the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2025. The scope of the review has been formulated and approved by
the Audit Committee, covering business operations, financial reporting,
and compliance with regulations and systems. Results of the review
and the areas for improvement have been reported to the Board and
the Audit Committee, with emphasis on staff performance appraisal,
standardization and execution of systems, enhancement of tendering
and bidding processes, financial budget management, project budget
management, as well as project and marketing contract management.
Besides, the Board had also conducted a review during the Year of the
effectiveness of the Company’s processes for financial reporting and
Listing Rules compliance, as part of its review of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems.
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Procedures for Identifying, Assessing and Managing
Significant Risks

An introduction to the procedures used by the Company for identifying,
assessing and managing significant risks is given below:

Risk Identification and Assessment

° The internal audit department conducts regular annual audits or ad
hoc special audits to perform systematic analysis on the processes,
systems and significant events of the Company to identify possible
risks in the business process. The legal department performs
professional analysis on the proposed terms of contracts to identify
terms that may place the Company in a disadvantageous position,
with the aim of avoiding any potential risks.

° The identified risks are assessed based on the assessment
criteria set up by the management to determine the risk response
approach.

Risk Response

° The risk management strategies and internal control procedures are
determined based on the category of the risks identified. For major
risks, the internal audit department shall prepare a summary and
report directly to the Audit Committee, and put forward solutions for
resolving the risks for the consideration of the Board.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° The relevant risks are continuously and regularly monitored to
ensure that they are under control through appropriate internal
control procedures. If any significant changes arise, the risk
management policies and internal control procedures will be
amended, and the results of risk monitoring will be reported semi-
annually to the management and the Audit Committee of the
Board.

Effectiveness of Control

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the management has reported to
the Audit Committee and the Board on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems based on the above internal
audit report. The Audit Committee is of the view that there are no
significant deficiencies in internal control. The Group will follow up all the
recommendations of the internal audit department as appropriate and
ensure that they are implemented in due course. As a result, the Board
considers that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICY

The Group has set up a whistleblowing policy for the employees and
those who deal with the Group (e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in any matter related to the Group
in confidence and anonymity. Any suspected cases will be reported to the
Audit Committee.

In addition, the Group is committed to abiding by all laws and regulations
to prevent corruption and bribery in all business dealing. The Group’s
anti-corruption policy provides information and guidance to employees of
the Group and related third parties who deal with the Group on how to
recognize and deal with bribery and corruption and to handle corporate
donation and sponsorship activities of the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) is
an employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. During the Year, the Company Secretary has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes made to the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2025.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the Year, the Company has proactively enhanced its corporate
transparency and communications with its Shareholders and the
investment community through its mandatory interim and annual reports
announcements.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential to enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding of
the Group’s business performance and strategy.
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The general meeting of the Company, including annual general meeting
and, where applicable, special general meeting, provides a useful forum
for the Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairlady/chairman of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are pleased to
answer the enquires raised by the Shareholders. The auditor will also
attend the AGMs to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies
and auditor independence.

The Company’s website (www.richlyfieldchinagroup.com) acts as a
communication platform with Shareholders and stakeholders. The
information and the latest developments of the Company’s business
development and operations and all the announcements and circulars are
available on this website for public inspection.

Having considered the various existing channels of communication and
participation, the Board considers that the shareholders’ communication
policy has been properly implemented and effective during the Year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted its dividend policy which sets out the
principles and guidelines in relation to the declaration, payment or
distribution of its profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.
In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance
between maintaining sufficient capital to grow the business of the Group
and rewarding the shareholders of the Company.

The Board shall also take into account of the following factors, among
other things, when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

° the Group’s overall results of operation, financial position, capital
requirement, cash flows and future prospects;

° the amount of retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio;
° return on equity;

° the Group’s capacity from current and future operation;
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° future commitments at the time of preparing and making the
distribution;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders; and

° other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject to
any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Bermuda, the Listing
Rules, the laws of Hong Kong and the Company’s Bye-laws and any
other applicable laws and regulations.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Way in Which Shareholders of the Company
Can Convene a Special General Meeting of the
Shareholders (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws and Bermuda laws, the Directors
shall, on the requisition of Shareholder(s) who, at the date of the deposit
of the requisition, holds not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, proceed duly to convene an SGM of the Company.

The requisition must state the purposes of the SGM and must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Unit 1504, 15/F, Tower 2, Metroplaza, No. 223 Hing Fong Road,
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong, and may consist of several
documents in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

The request of intention to propose a resolution will be verified by the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrar”). Upon confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the
Company Secretary will present to the Board for their approval on the
inclusion of the proposed resolution in the SGM.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene an SGM, the requisitionists, or any
of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene an SGM themselves, but any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the aforesaid
date of the deposit of requisition.
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The Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information of
the requisitionists and deposited to the Board or the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 1504,
15/F, Tower 2, Metroplaza, No. 223 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New
Territories, Hong Kong. The Company will endeavour to respond to
requisitionists’ enquires in a timely manner.

The Procedures for Making Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meetings

If a Shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at the AGM/SGM
which is to be held, such Shareholder should submit a written notice of
the proposal with his/her detailed contact information to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Unit 1504, 15/F, Tower 2, Metroplaza, No. 223 Hing Fong Road,
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong. The request of intention to
propose a resolution will be verified by the Branch Share Registrar. Upon
confirmation from the Branch Share Registrar, the Company Secretary will
present to the Board for their approval on the inclusion of the proposed
resolution in the AGM/SGM.

The notice period to be given to all Shareholders for consideration of the
proposal raised by the Shareholders concerned at the AGM/SGM varies
according to the nature of the proposal, which is as follows:

° At least 14 clear days’ notice (excludes the date of the notice and
the date of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes an
ordinary resolution of the Company.

° At least 21 clear days’ notice (excludes the date of the notice
and the date of the meeting) in writing if the proposal constitutes
a special resolution of the Company in the SGM or an ordinary
resolution of the Company in the AGM.
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The Procedures that Shareholders Can Use to
Propose a Person for Election as a Director

Other than a retiring director, any person who is not recommended by
the Board shall not be eligible to be elected as a director at any general
meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person
for election as a director and notice in writing by that person of his/her
willingness to be elected (including that person’s biographical details as
required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules) have been lodged to the
Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Unit 1504, 15/F, Tower 2, Metroplaza, No. 223 Hing Fong Road,
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong at least 7 days before the date
of the general meeting. As required by the provisions of the Company’s
Bye-Laws, the period for lodging notices will commence no earlier than
the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
general meeting. If the notice is received less than 10 clear business
days prior to the date of such general meeting, the Company will need
to consider adjourning such general meeting in order to allow the
Shareholders to have 14 days’ notice (the notice period must include 10
clear business days) of the proposal.
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ABOUT THE COMPANY

The core businesses of the Group encompass outlets commercial
operation and development and operation of featured commercial
properties (such as tourism property, senior care property and wine
chateaus), development of high-end residential properties as well
as property management. Adhering to the dual-drive development
philosophy that integrates residential and commercial real estate, we
actively promote industrial transformation and upgrading to create
diversified new urban complexes.

To achieve the Group’s corporate vision of being an “advocate and
creator of green and healthy quality life”. we have integrated the concept
of sustainable development into our operational strategies, to exhibit
innovative thinking, focus on long-term overall interests, build a vibrant
community and practice green construction. At the same time, we
ensure that our construction and operation strictly comply with national
regulatory requirements.

Qinhuangdao Project

The Qinhuangdao Venice — City of Water Outlets Project (the
“Qinhuangdao Project”) is located in Beidaihe New District, Qinhuangdao,
Hebei Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). With outlet
business as the core, it is a large-scale coastal shopping tourism and
healthcare resort complex consisting of high-end hot spring resorts
and high-end hospitals, integrating health and elderly care, cultural and
entertainment activities, and recreational resorts. The project is planned to
be developed in three phases. Among them, the first phase of the project
includes outlet businesses, healthcare hotels, resorts and exhibition
centers, together with parking lots and green landscapes.

Yinchuan Project

The Yinchuan Project is located in Yinchuan City. It is a residential
and commercial complex, including the residential project Jin Sheng
Yue Jing and the construction area for residential and commercial
use which is under construction. The surrounding of the residential
area has multiple resources such as banks, medical care, education,
supermarkets, entertainment and catering, and its own home furnishing
materials commercial facilities. Residents can enjoy their daily lives with
convenience. On the other hand, the commercial project consists of three
commercial complexes connected with two corridors.
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Ningxia Guanling Property Service Co., Ltd.

Ningxia Guanling Property Services Co., Ltd. is primarily engaged in
providing property management services. Its main business is offering
property management services for residential projects in Yinchuan City,
Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region, China.

Ningxia Shengze Huaxia Market Management Co.,
Ltd.

Ningxia Shengze Huaxia Market Management Co., Ltd. is primarily
engaged in corporate management, corporate management consulting,
home goods sales, furniture installation and repair services, furniture
sales, and non-residential real estate leasing.

Wuhan Yuejing Property Management Co., Ltd.

Wuhan Yuejing Property Management Co., Ltd. is primarily engaged
in providing property management and maintenance services,
including property renovation, repair and maintenance, parking lot
management, security, cleaning, housekeeping, landscaping, and fire
safety maintenance. The main business of the target company is to offer
property management services for residential projects in Wuhan, China.

Hohhot Pengshengjie Property Management Service
Co., Ltd.

Hohhot Pengshengjie is a newly setup company to target the property
management market in the Inner Mongolia province, China.

SUSTAINABLE GOVERNANCE

The Group has established a comprehensive ESG governance
framework, implementing a tiered management mechanism under the
leadership of the Board of Directors. As the highest decision-making
body, the Board assumes ultimate responsibility for ESG matters. Under
its purview, a dedicated Sustainability Working Group has been formed,
comprising leaders from core business departments. The working
group is responsible for integrating sustainability principles throughout
daily operations, effectively identifying and managing relevant risks, and
safeguarding the rights and interests of all stakeholders.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Exg

o Hold meetings from time to time to identify and analyze the potential ESG risks and

opportunities the Group faces
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° Formulate ESG-related policies

il EESGHERAELR

o Monitor ESG-related performance and incorporate ESG issues into development and

governance strategies
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SUSTAINABILITY WORKING GROUP

AIFES R I(E/VE

° Review and manage the Company’s performance in ESG areas, such
as carbon emissions, employee training, and social investment
WA RABEESGH mNERRER  WHHINE BETEII - HERESE

° Coordinate the preparation work of Environmental, Social, and

Governance Reports
RERB M EREARENHFEUITE

EMPLOYEES OF DIFFERENT DEPARTMENTS AND POSITIONS

TR EUNET

o Implement corresponding measures according to the instructions of
superior management and report the results and risks
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The Board of Directors has rigorously reviewed the content of the ESG
Report in accordance with the established strategic guidelines and
assumes responsibility for the authenticity, accuracy, and completeness
of the information contained therein. To enhance the professional
standards of ESG governance, the Group has specifically engaged
Riskory Consultancy Limited as an independent advisory body to provide
professional consulting services on ESG and sustainability-related issues.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Reporting Purpose

The Company is pleased to release the ninth Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (the “Report”), which aims to outline the
Company’s performance and achievements in sustainable development
to its stakeholders. The preparation of the Report is based on the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) contained in the Appendix C2 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), and complies with its mandatory disclosure and
“comply or explain” requirements. For details of corporate governance,

please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report” section of the Annual
Report 2025.

Reporting Principles

In the preparation of the Report, the Company complies with and applies
the reporting principles set out in the ESG Reporting Guide:

Materiality & E 1§
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o To understand the views and suggestions of various stakeholders regarding the Company’s sustainable development
strategy, we have established regular communication channels. We also conducted an internal materiality
assessment during the Reporting Period to identify important ESG issues and highlight the concerns in this Report.
RTREFMNEH AR UIFEZEREBNEERER RMBEIINENEBRE - RN RS HEET
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Quantitative £ 1E

° The Company calculates the key performance indicators in accordance with the Appendix 2 and 3 of “How
to Prepare an ESG Report” published by the Stock Exchange and discloses them in a quantitative manner (if
applicable). They will construct the basis for setting the Company’s future objectives.

KABRBHAI IRV MAIRERE - CERERARS ) Wi Z RSk =51 BIRIE 1t & HRIREIE
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Consistency — & 1%

o The Company uses statistical methods and reporting scope consistent with previous years, so that ESG data can be
meaningfully compared in the future. If there is any change in the methodologies and the scope, we would explain
them in the notes for stakeholders’ reference.

AABFERAETF—RNRTHERERBLE > CESCHEHRUFERERLB MMAN AN RE
REERE RAZTEHEIREUAMIHESZ -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIR-HEREARRS

Reporting Scope

Taking into account financial materiality and operational impact, the scope
of the Report remains consistent with the previous year. It mainly covers
the overall ESG performance of the businesses of the following major
businesses between 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting
Period”):

° The Qinhuangdao Project located in the core area of the
International Health City in Beidaihe New Area, Qinhuangdao, Hebei

Province, the PRC;

° The Yinchuan Project located in Yinchuan City, Ningxia Hui
Autonomous Region, the PRC;

o Ningxia Shengze Huaxia Market Management Co., Ltd.;

° Wuhan Yuejing Property Management Co., Ltd.; and

° Hohhot Pengshengjie Property Management Service Co., Ltd..
Both the Chinese and English versions of the Report have been published
simultaneously on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company

(http://hk.richlyfieldchinagroup.com/). In case of any discrepancies
between the two language versions, the Chinese version shall prevail.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group fully recognizes the importance of maintaining strong
stakeholder relationships and has therefore established diversified
communication channels to facilitate close engagement through various
interactive platforms. We not only regularly solicit stakeholders’ feedback
on the Group’s sustainability strategies, operational systems, and
management policies but also actively communicate our core corporate
values. Below outlines the Group’s regular communication channels with
different stakeholders:

Categories of

FihESH
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WEEBEBRE:

Stakeholders’ Concerns

RREMIEE

Stakeholders Communication Channels
R &LER BEAR
Government ° On-site inspection and surveying
° Working conference, research and
discussion
o Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements
. Company’s website
BRF e RGBT

o TEEE MIEATH
o  ER -hERERAEL
o UNGIEEN

The Public ° Voluntary work
° Philanthropy and social investment

HEAR e HITITF
s EENHEREA

Shareholders and ° Annual general meetings and other
Investors general meetings of shareholders
o Information published on the HKEX

news website, such as annual reports,

interim reports and announcements

o Meeting with investors and analysts

. Company’s website

RRRREE e KREAFAGRHMRERE

o BEXZFAEBEZMEILFEMERL W
FR PHRERRSE

e HREERDINEEHE

o REIHELL

° Law compliance

o Payment of taxes as required by law

o Promotion of regional economic
development and employment

° Environmental protection

° Use of resources

s  EBTEE

o KIEMIR

s  HWEEREKKERKIME

o IRIB(RE

e  ERMEA

. Community engagement
. Social responsibility
. Promoting employment

e tHEZRH
° %iaé-\/fi

o {RERME

° Return on investment

o Information disclosure and transparency

o Shareholder interests and fair treatment
protection

o Risk management and control in business
operation
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o  RRAGERATHFBRE

. @ERREE



“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HHERELARS

Categories of
Stakeholders Stakeholders’ Concerns

BOEMEEE

Communication Channels

BEAR

R EER

Employees Meetings Protecting the rights and interests of
Training and seminars employees
Cultural and sports activities Occupational health and safety
Internal network and email Working environment
Performance evaluation Career development opportunities

Self-actualization
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BTG BRER

Clients Marketing and promotional materials Safe and high-quality products and
Company’s website services
Annual reports, interim reports and Stable relationships
announcements Information transparency
Email and customer service hotline Integrity
Feedback form Business ethics
Regular meetings
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Suppliers and Business

Meetings, telephone calls, face-to-face

Long-term partnerships

Partners visits Honest cooperation

Regular meetings Fair treatment
Review and assessment Transparent information disclosure
Emails, circulars and brochures Shared resources
Company website Risk reduction
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Categories of
Stakeholders Communication Channels

BEAN

R EER

Stakeholders’ Concerns

ROERIEE

Industry Associations e Industry conferences
° Field visits

TERE e  1TEEE
. B
Market Regulatory o Disclosure of information
Authorities o Disclosure on website
TR ERE e  EHEE

o RHFIGEMHER

STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK

Stakeholders’ active participation is a crucial element in the
Company’s pursuit of sustainable development. We highly value their
valuable feedback and suggestions and will continue to refine our
operational strategies in response. Should you have any questions or
recommendations regarding the content of this report, please contact us
via email at info@richlyfield.com.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

To effectively address the expectations and concerns of various
stakeholders, the Company conducted an internal materiality assessment
during the Reporting Period, undertaking a comprehensive review of
ESG-related aspects. Through professional analysis, we identified key
issues of significant relevance to our operations and prioritized them
based on their impact level. The findings of this assessment serve as a
critical foundation for formulating sustainability strategies and compiling
this report, ensuring its content accurately reflects the Company’s
concrete practices and achievements across all ESG dimensions.

. Experience sharing

o Cooperation opportunities
o Fair competition

s KRN=

s  EfFikE

o Law and regulations compliance
o Environmental protection

° Use of resources

o  EBTEEER

o IRIB(RE

o HRED
FINERRRE
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Our materiality assessment was conducted with the assistance romour HFINEEUE T EEFZ A EEERBN
third-party professional consultant, the procedures are as follows: BB T ET EMBENT ¢

Identify material issues 3 5!/ & E 4 %78

° The Company integrated the following concerns, to review and assess whether the
results from the materiality assessment last year are still applicable:
o Expectations of stakeholders;
o Operation condition of businesses;
o The material ESG issues of the industry from the Sustainability Accounting
Standards Board (SASB);
° The ESG Industry Materiality Map from Morgan Stanley Capital International
(MSCl);
o Industry development trends; and
o Instructions from regulatory authorities.
s  ARBHEESUTER UEBIEREENEERTHNEREDKAE
e HFMENHRE,
s  EBEEBR
o OREZEGIEREZE B (SASBIR RHITHEERESGEE ;
e HHRABMSC)HESGITXEEMHE ;
s TXREERBE R
o  EEMEBRISS-

Revise and add material issues €57 K i E B4 %RE

° The Board of Directors and the management of the Company revised and added
to the list of material issues from last year, after referring to the abovementioned
considerations, and revised the priority according to the circumstances.

s ARENEZFGREEETSE LIREENEZEREZR REFNEEZ M ZHET]
RETEST A Wi ERARE T o

Respond to the results of the materiality assessment [0 & B 4 sF (L AV 45 2

o The Company confirmed the sustainable development governance strategies and
the focus of disclosure in the Report based on the materiality priority in the Reporting
Period.

s  AAIRBREPENEZUEIFREIBIFEERE AR UREAREANBHEK
BER-
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Assessment Results T 4

The Group has identified material issues listed below after considering ZAEBEEZ BT FH R IBESCGHEH A
and balancing the importance of each ESG issue to the Company and Bl KR EFMENEB LB HAINE2 M
stakeholders: mEFNNWT

Serial
Number Issue

FFiik ]

Environmental protection and green operation

RIFRENGBEE

Materiality Level

BEEM

1 Energy management Most important
REREIE FREE

2 Risks and opportunities related to climate change Most important
BRI EAER 2 BR ke iE FREZE

3 Sewage discharge and waste management Relatively important
BE K HE U BEY) & 18 REZ

4 Water resources management Relatively important
KEREER REZ

5 Other resources management (including paper) Relatively important
HMthEFRERE (BER4D) REZ

6 Air pollutant and greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission management Relatively important
ERSEMIEERBEINER REZ

7 Other impact of business activities on the environment Important
HtEFB RS HRIRIBEMNNTE 5E

8 Sustainable construction Important
EIEST={=¢" BE

Operating practice

BEER

9 Anti-corruption policy and training Most important
R &5 HIE K FREBEE

10 Compliance Most important
BREE FREE

11 Supply chain environmental and social risks management Relatively important
HEERIRIE Rt B R EEIE REZ

12 Supplier selection and assessment Relatively important

CHSEES G ES

REE
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Serial
Number

73k

Issue

ixH
o =

Product and service responsibility

EmBRBEE

13

Service quality (the quality of real estate brokerage service and property furnishing)

RBER ELCIRFRDEREER)

Materiality Level

BEEM

Most important

FEER

14 Customer data privacy and information security Relatively important
BERERLRERARZS REZ

15 Intellectual property protection Important
e EEIRE BE

16 Complaint and advertisement management Important
K kESEE BE

Quality of working environment

THEIRIREER

17 Employment arrangements (including: recruitment, promotion, and dismissal Relatively important

procedures)

EiRZHE (B B B REERERF)

REE

18 Employee compensation (including: salary, working hours, holidays and benefits) Relatively important
T8 (815 | #bl TERE - B REF) BREZ

19 Occupational health and safety Relatively important
Wz o EEE BREZ

20 Training and development Relatively important
HEall R BREZ

21 Prevention of child and forced labour Relatively important
B b8 T Rl Z5 8 BREZ

22 Diversity and equal opportunities, and prevention of discrimination and harassment Important
S R TG LUK B LI 1R K BR 4B BE

Community contribution

HEERK

23 Participation in volunteering activities Relatively important
SHEFTEE) REZ

24 Social inclusion activities Relatively important
HEHRIESE REZ

25 Charitable donation Relatively important

HEER

REE

R&ES

EEEEFET RMABKSERERETER
Ml AEEBRMNEBESERTES

HISSABNBFARTEEBE EGHESE

FHOENfEaD RERMEGEERRE

%Eﬁ%% HER ﬁ#&%%ﬁ%
EORENEATEE

ANTI-CORRUPTION

In our business operations, we consistently uphold ethical conduct as
our top priority. The Group fully aware that corruption and fraud not
only undermine the Company’s competitiveness and industry reputation
but also harm the interests of stakeholders. Therefore we proactively
promote the construction of integrity and adopt a zerotolerance attitude
to any unethical behaviour such as bribery, extortion, fraud, and money T
laundering.
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The Group strictly comply with laws and regulations relating to corruption,
bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering, including but not limited
to the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China”.
During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any concluded
legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or our
employees, or any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Business Ethics

To ensure the highest standards of integrity in business operations, the
Group has implemented multiple concrete measures. These include
requiring all employees to sign an integrity commitment agreement,
which clearly defines their ethical responsibilities. Additionally, we have
incorporated anti-corruption clauses into commercial contracts to strictly
regulate supplier conduct, explicitly prohibiting any form of bribery,
improper benefits, or valuable gifts. These measures systematically
uphold ethical standards across our partnerships. Collectively, these
initiatives establish a comprehensive integrity management system,
covering both internal personnel and external partners, to safeguard the
Group’s commitment to ethical business practices.

Whistleblowing Policy

To encourage employees to report suspected misconduct, the Group
has established a comprehensive whistleblowing mechanism. Employees
can report issues verbally or in writing. For the purpose of protecting the
privacy and safety of the whistleblower, we keep all reported incidents
confidential. Except required by legal obligations, we will not disclose the
identity and other information of the whistleblower without consent. If
an internal investigation uncovers suspected violation of the law, we will
promptly report to the relevant law enforcement departments for strict
handling.

Anti-corruption Trainings

To ensure employees clearly understand and adhere to the Group’s
ethical standards, we are committed to fostering a culture of integrity
and transparency within the Company. During the Reporting Period, we
arranged information sessions and training on listing regulations and
corporate governance for the Board of Directors, senior management,
and company secretaries. This aims to continuously enhance the Group’s
corporate governance mechanisms and prevent corruption.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

In managing and providing products and services, the Group consistently
upholds the spirit of “heart for heart” dedicated to maintaining the
excellence of property products and services. We strictly comply with
laws and regulations in relation to product health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters, including but not limited to:

o “Regulatory Measures on the Sale of Commercial Houses”;

° “Regulation on Administration of Development and Operation of
Urban Real Estate”;

° “The Measures for the Management of Advance Sale of Urban
Commercial Houses”;

o “Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China”;

o “Urban Real Estate Administration Law of the People’s Republic of
China”; and
o “Anti-unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China”.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
noncompliance issue relevant to product responsibility. Due to the
business nature of the Group, we are not involved in any material issue of
intellectual property.

Product Quality

To enhance the standardization of Engineering Department management
and ensure comprehensive oversight of engineering projects, the Group
has established the “Engineering Management Policy”. Concurrently, we
engage independent third-party supervision agencies to conduct full-
process monitoring and quality inspections for all ongoing construction
projects. This ensures strict compliance with relevant regulations and
standards during construction, guaranteeing timely completion while
upholding safety protocols. All supervision reports are rigorously reviewed
and verified by the Group’s professional team. Given that the Group’s
business scope does not involve the manufacturing sector, there are
no instances requiring product recalls due to safety or health-related
concerns.

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR
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In terms of the quality verification process of products and services, the
Group has been committed to excellence from the following five aspects:

Design 5% &t Construction %
e Listen to customer opinions
in the user’s perspective

s MHEARAEEMNERRER

monitor the quality of product
s MEBEMEBRRICHESE

Delivery of possession 3 1&

e The relevant documents for
delivery of possession meet
the requirements and the
disclosure is accurate o

s XBHAIERERKREAN

plan

il

Customer Feedback

The Group consistently regards customer feedback as a core driver
of operational excellence. Therefore, we have established diverse
communication channels to gather customer feedback, including
complaints, to continuously enhance the quality of our products and
services. We have opened customer complaint service hotline, complaint
collection box and service desk. When a complaint is received, we will
handle it properly in accordance with the standard procedure. During the
Reporting Period, we were not aware of receiving any complaints relevant
to products and services.

At the same time, for the purpose of building long-term and good
cooperative relationships with customers, we conduct regular visits to
communicate directly with customers, understand their practical need,
and incorporate their valuable feedback into our building quality control
and management processes.

e Select quality materials and

ESNEl

AEBEESRBENEERTBES
B —ERNBORUTEABE S
RIAF -

Pre-sale T

e Pass the quality examinations
completed by professionals
e HEX\BRREADERRA

After-sales €&

e Collect customer feedback
and implement maintenance
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Advertising and Promotion

All publication of advertising materials need to be approved internally to
ensure their authenticity and prevent the dissemination of misleading and
false information to the public.

Privacy Protection

Safeguarding customer data security is a fundamental principle of the
Group’s operations. We implement comprehensive privacy protection
policies through multiple layers of security measures. All of our employees
are required to sign the confidentiality agreement to ensure that they
understand their responsibility to safeguard customer information and
confidentiality obligations. Furthermore, we have established access
rights for sensitive information, customer information can only be
accessed by authorized personnel and used for business activities
in relation to that customer. In the event of the authorized employee
disclosing customer information improperly, it will be considered as
stealing confidential company information. We will handle it strictly in
accordance with the law and refer it to law enforcement agencies for
serious investigation and action.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

A robust and efficient supply chain system serves as the critical
foundation enabling our Group to consistently deliver top-tier products
and services, with procurement management being a critical component
of the corporate management process. We adopt a serious attitude and
adhere to the principle of fairness and openness when conducting the
selection of suppliers and construction materials.

To ensure rigorous compliance in procurement practices, the Group has
established a comprehensive “Tendering and Procurement Management
Policy”. This policy systematically standardizes all key processes—
including tender application procedures, procurement operation
standards, and winning bid approval management—requiring strict
adherence to institutional protocols in all bidding activities. To ensure that
suppliers reach the standard of the Group in the aspects of health and
safety, human resources, environmental protection and business ethics,
we confirm that suppliers have complied with relevant laws, regulations
and contractual responsibilities before reaching cooperative agreements
with them.
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The Group enforces stringent supplier selection procedures, mandating
that all cooperative suppliers must be sourced from the “Qualified
Supplier List”. We implement regular evaluations and dynamic review
mechanisms to ensure their quality performance consistently meets our
rigorous standards. For suppliers failing audit requirements, we provide
targeted improvement plans to facilitate corrective actions. Those still
non-compliant upon re-evaluation will be formally removed from the list in
accordance with established procedures, thereby safeguarding the quality
integrity of our supply chain.

In addition to engaging a supervisory organization to identify the
environmental and social risks in the selection process, we also provide
appropriate instructions and regular training to working staff, and strictly
stipulate that only qualified, trained, skilled and experienced working staff
can work in the construction site, to ensure that the contractors and other
suppliers understand their duty and responsibility, build communities in
an environmentally friendly, harmless and safe manner and control the
impact on the environment in the construction process.

Besides product and service quality, green procurement is also critical.
The Group prioritizes the procurement of green and energy efficient
products where feasible and economically effective, to reduce the carbon
emission and resource consumption in the supply chain, and lower the
negative impact of pollution on the health of community. During our
selection of suppliers, we source from suppliers located in the project
city if possible to reduce carbon emission from transportation, and at
the same time increase the local employment rate. Promote economic
growth and give back to the community.

During the Reporting Period, we have 20 suppliers from the PRC, and all
suppliers have been implemented relevant practices of business ethics
management.
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EMPLOYMENT COMPLIANCE

The Group’s core competitiveness lies in its market advantages, and the
key to this advantage is our talent—they are the foundation enabling us
to consistently deliver high-quality products and exceptional services.
Our sustainable development is also attributed to the effort of employees.
Therefore, the Group emphasizes compliance in the area of employment
and is committed to providing a diverse, equitable, and safe workplace
environment for employees. The Group strictly complies with the
applicable national laws and regulations, including but not limited to:

o “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”;

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases”;

o “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”;
o “Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China”;
o “Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China”; and
o “Law of the People’s Republic “.

To standardize talent management, we have meticulously developed
a series of systems, including the “Human Resources Management
System,” “Employee Handbook,” “Attendance Management Policy,” and
“Leave Management Policy”, to ensure that we meet the requirements
of laws and regulations and protect rights of employees in the aspects
of employee recruitment, salary, working hours, welfare and benefits,
promotion, employee training and performance appraisal. During
the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of involved in any
noncompliance issue in relation to employment.
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Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour

To ensure employment compliance, the Group strictly adheres
to “Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour” and has
implemented a series of rigorous management measures that explicitly
prohibiting the employment of child labor and forced labor. Our
“Employee Handbook” stipulates the steps of recruitment procedure,
it is required to check the identification documents before hiring new
employees, to ensure that their age meets the minimum requirements of
the law. We recommend that employees should not work more than 40
hours per week. In the event where they need to work overtime due to
the progress of work, we will also arrange compensatory leave as soon
as possible after their overtime work. At the same time, we also require
our suppliers to strictly adhere to the relevant regulations, prohibiting the
employment of child labor or forced labor.

The Group maintains a zero-tolerance policy toward any violations
involving child labor or forced labor. Such breaches-whether occurring
within the Group or across our supplier network — will be dealt with strictly
in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. During the Reporting
Period, the Group was not aware of involved in any non-compliance issue
in relation to child labour or forced labour.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

To create a diverse and inclusive workplace environment, we have
established the “Anti-Discrimination Practices,” which explicitly stipulates
that during the recruitment process, factors such as a candidate’s
age, gender, physical condition, marital status, family role, race, color,
nationality, religion, political affiliation, and sexual orientation must not
affect their right to equal employment opportunities. Furthermore, we
made reference to the requirements of “Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests”, to ensure
that female employees enjoy the right to basic salary and have equal
opportunities to promotion as male employees, and they will not be
dismissed or terminated employment contract unreasonably due to
reasons such as pregnancy, maternity leave or breastfeeding.

Grievance Mechanism

To foster mutual development between the Group and its employees, we
are committed to establishing a fair and equitable grievance mechanism
that enables staff to fully voice their needs, submit suggestions, or
address concerns —facilitating the improvement of the Group together
with employees, and strengthen our close relationship and cohesion
with employees. Employees can report their needs to the department in
writing, through labour union organizations, or to the senior management
directly.
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REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

As a crucial pillar of corporate growth, we place high importance on
talent management and retention. Our group offers market-competitive
salary packages, complemented by a comprehensive employee
benefits program. The remuneration we provide is based on the “Post
Remuneration Standard Table” of each project, industry norm and
socio-economic situation. In terms of welfare and benefits, in addition
to providing basic benefits as required by law (including “five social
insurances and one fund”, labour insurance, and statutory holidays), we
also offer various types of leave, allowances, and additional benefits,
including leaves such as marriage leave, bereavement leave, maternity
leave, work injury leave, annual leave and paternity leave; Subsidies such
as working lunches and transportation and communication subsidies;
Additional benefits such as staff canteen and health check-ups and
a welfare policy for birthday benefits, holiday gifts, and condolence
payments.

CARING FOR EMPLOYEES

QOur group places great emphasis on the physical and mental well-being
of our employees. Through well-established facilities and diverse activity
arrangements, we encourage our staff to develop healthy lifestyle habits,
including balanced nutrition and regular exercise. Our staff canteens
provide nutritionally balanced meals, and their menus consist of nutritious
meals designed by specialists with both meat and vegetables, to ensure
employees eat healthily. At the same time, we also care for the physical
and mental conditions of employees proactively, encourage them to
participate in more outdoor activities, do more exercise and relieve stress
properly. During the Reporting Period, we organized various employee
activities, including a Lantern Festival Spring Tea Gathering (FE T
BEFEZ D) and a team-building day trip. These activities aimed to
help employees achieve a work-life balance, alleviate work stress, and
enhance emotional connections among employees, thereby increasing
their sense of wellbeing and belonging.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group has always prioritized occupational health and safety, making
every effort to provide comprehensive protection for our employees.
We meticulously manage all aspects of our business operations and
provide relevant occupational safety training, working together with our
employees to create a healthy and safe working environment as we
progress toward sustainable development. We strictly comply with all
work safety regulations, including but not limited to:

o “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”;

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases”; and

o “Work Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China”.

To effectively manage the safety of engineering projects, we have
established the “Safe and Civilized Construction Management Policy”.
The policy stipulates that engineering staff must wear safety equipment
and employees need to obtain relevant certificates to work at height,
etc. We also implement other relevant security controls, some of which
include:

BEEZZ

FEBR-—BARBERERLZ2ENEE
A IBEFMERELRHETERE R
MEBXEEEXFEENSERS I
REMEBREZZEICEZETHOHI
EERRZENIFRE BFERKE
R -HMABRBEBRLEZEEMRBER
BEEFRR

o (PEARHEMESFEFZE)

e (PEARHAMEBERDLL) &

e (PEARHMBEZEZEEZL)-

AAENMEEIREENZE AMAFET
(ZE2XHABIEEGRE) HIEREL
BABLBEGTLEREFUNRETR

EEEISEATETSR LFEF - HMAT
HITHEHMBBAZEERRER S0 aE

° Keep all emergency exits in the workplace open

s GREIFEGFRAMEEZHOBE

suitable temperature

o BITFETIRGHARIE

RPABEBEIBEIGRR

° Provision of workplace with sufficient lighting and

s RHABREREKRBEBTHNIFIRIR

° Prohibition of smoking in the workplace

o Regular safety inspections and firefighting training
e THETZ2BEMETHMESR

o Purchase of work injury insurance for all employees
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In the event of a work-related injury, the Group’s Human Resources
Department will take immediate action on the same day. First, necessary
first aid measures will be implemented based on the injured employee’s
condition. Subsequently, we will investigate the cause of the accident
and, in accordance with internal policies, arrange assistance such
as work injury leave for the affected employee. Following this, we will
implement improvement measures to reduce the likelihood of similar
incidents occurring in the future.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of involved in
any noncompliance with laws and regulations in relation to occupational
safety. We were not aware of having any work-related injuries during the
Reporting Period. The Group was not aware of having any work-related
fatality in the past 3 years (including the Reporting Period).

Professional Safety Measures

The Group has established stringent regulations for employees engaged
in high-risk operations, such as electricians. They must obtain nationally
recognised professional licenses and pass assessments before
performing such tasks. During hazardous operations, full protective gear
must be worn at all times. Additionally, we assign dedicated personnel
to conduct regular workplace inspections, ensuring strict compliance
with protective equipment requirements to comprehensively safeguard
workplace safety.

Canteen Hygiene Management

The Group places paramount importance on employee dietary safety and
health, strictly enforcing food safety and hygiene management protocols
in the staff canteen. All food service personnel must provide valid health
certificates and medical examination reports from the past three months
upon employment, and are required to undergo annual health check-
ups. During food preparation, staff must wear complete protective gear
including chef’'s hats, masks, aprons, and anti-slip work shoes at all
times, while strictly adhering to food safety operation standards. These
measures ensure comprehensive protection of hygiene quality and safety
in employee meals.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group fully recognizes the critical importance of talent development
and has established the “Training Management Policy” as the cornerstone
for fostering employees’ career growth and competency enhancement.
We place strong emphasis on creating a diversified learning environment,
with all training programs adhering to four fundamental principles:
“cost-effectiveness, practicality, efficiency, and diversity.” To ensure
training quality, the Group’s Integrated Management Center takes full
responsibility for coordinating all development programs, maintaining
rigorous oversight from planning through execution. By providing tailored,
targeted and up-to-date training courses, we not only help employees
stay abreast of industry trends and achieve continuous growth, but also
effectively enhance the organization’s overall competitive strength.
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Systematic and Diversified Training Programs

To offer systematic and comprehensive training and development for staff
at all levels, we have formulated an annual training plan, including a series
of orientation training, to assist employees in their fast adaptation to the
Company and becoming familiar with job skills. We also organize various
on-the-job training for employees according to their actual position
needs and development pathways, to raise their ideological awareness,
job skills, and management capabilities and promote performance
advancement and employee development.

During the Reporting Period, we organized a high diversity of training
course, including but not limited to property issuance training, financial
policies relevant training, how to design the management system for
service recovery, how to choose the responding principles to typical
customer complaints, sales skill improvement training, operational
management relevant training and stamp duty training.

VIV

A
Middle
Management
ik EIR

General staff
BEEST

o Employee transfer training o Practical management
2 B T training
e New employee orientation BEEHE
training ° Comprehensive training on
ME T ABEI project and commercial real
estate
HEEIE mEE

S EEEE
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Senior
Management
BREER

° Training for improving
decision-making and
management skills
RBFOARMEK S EEEE
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o Professional qualification
and degree studies
HEBRRBAIEEE
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Performance Management and Evaluation

The Group has established a comprehensive and efficient performance
management system to motivate employees to continuously improve
their work performance, support their personal career development,
and enhance the Group’s operational performance, achieving a win-win
situation. We have formulated the “Employee Performance Appraisal
Scheme,” which stipulates the conduction of monthly basic assessments,
quarterly pre-assessment, mid-term assessment, and annual integrated
assessment. The evaluation adopts key performance indicators, such
as important work and project progress etc. For employees at all levels
whose performance is overfulfilled in the annual integrated assessment
and those who have completed work on time and made significant
progress, we offer them with performance bonus for encouragement.
In addition, we conduct performance interviews quarterly through
communication with employees, so that employees understand the
goals and standards of the work, eliminate the misunderstanding against
evaluation, and let the appraiser understand the needs and difficulties of
subordinates to guide employees correctly and effectively. To ensure the
fairness and transparency of performance management, employees who
have any protest regarding the assessment result can submit an appeal in
writing to the Human Resources Department of the project company.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

As a member of the community, the Group consistently remembers its
responsibility to give back and actively participates in various community
activities to foster close ties with the community. During the Reporting
Period, the Group organized several community-building activities,
including cooperating with the Helan County Charity Federation to donate
to the Xinrong Village Rural Nursing Home. Through these activities, the
Group aimed to promote sustainable development within the community,
and enhance community cohesion.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to focus on community needs
and explore diverse community investment projects, fulfilling our
corporate social responsibility through concrete actions.
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SOCIAL KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS HERABENIEE

Social Key Performance Indicators 2024

ARSI —E—mEE

B1 Employment

B1{E &

B1.1 Number of Employees

B1.1{EE#E

Total Person 131 138
KA A

By Gender

BRI DR

Male Person 76 92
g A

Female Person 55 46
L A

By Employment Category

RERER S

Part-time/Contract Person 16 3
R4 A

Full time Person 115 135
8 A

By Employee Category

RESENSEE

Senior management Person 3 1
BREEAER A

Middle management Person 23 18
FIREEAR A

General staff Person 105 119
—RET A

By Age Group

BRERERN D

20 or below Person 0 0
20 BT A

21-30 Person 7 8
21-308% A

31-40 Person 57 40
31-408% A

41-50 Person 36 40
41-508% A

51 or above Person 31 50
S51pR B £ A

By Geographical Region

BT (EthEs D48

Mainland China Person 131 138

D Py st A
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Social Key Performance Indicators 2024

R IR A —E—mEE

B1.2 Employee Turnover Rate
B1.2ETRAR

By Gender

BRI S

Male Percentage 30 3
M Bt

Female Percentage 13 15
gl Bt

By Age Group

RERHER D

20 or below Percentage 0 0
20 B LT Bt

21-30 Percentage 29 0
21-30%% B

31-40 Percentage 9 20
31-405% Bt

41-50 Percentage 19 5
41-50% B

51 or above Percentage 52 0
S51pRal M £ B

By Geographical Region of Working

& 5348

Mainland China Percentage 22 7
FRE Ay i B

B3 Development and Training
B3% B R iEi

B3.1 Percentage of Employees Trained
BI1EIRIBSL

By Gender

BRI

Male Percentage 100 100
B B

Female Percentage 75 96
7 Bk

By Employee Category

RESHENSE

Senior management Percentage 100 100
BREEAE Bk

Middle management Percentage 61 94
RREEAE Bt

General staff Percentage 95 99

—fRET Bt
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Social Key Performance Indicators 2024

B RBERIER —ENFEE

B3.2 Average Training Hours Completed per Employee
B3.25 % 8 TR

By Gender

MR8

Male Hour 15 9
B4 INEF

Female Hour 4 13
e IINBF

By Employee Category

RESEN D

Senior management Hour 21 30
BRBIEABR INEF

Middle management Hour 4 10
RREEAS NS

General staff Hour 12 10
—RET NS

B5 Supply Chain Management
B51H FEE EIE

B5.1, 5.2 Number of Suppliers
B5.1, 5.21HfEE & E

Mainland China Supplier 20 38
REIR i EX
Number of suppliers assessed during the Reporting Period Supplier 20 38
R EHAEETHEZNEERSE ER

B6 Product Responsibility

B6EmMEE
B6.2 Number of service-related complaints Supplier 0 0
B6. 2R F R EH R

B7 Anti-Corruption

B7TR&ES

B7.1 Number of corruption lawsuits filed or concluded Supplier 0 0
B71REHN BB ENESRARYEE R




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIR-HEREARRS

EMISSIONS

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is deeply aware of the
environmental impact caused by our business operations. To mitigate
the effects of exhaust emissions, greenhouse gases, and other types of
waste on communities and ecosystems, we have implemented a series of
emission reduction measures. At the same time, we strictly comply with
environmental protection regulations, including but not limited to:

o “Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”;

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Pollution from Environmental Noise”;

o “Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”;

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environment Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes”;

o “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Impact
Assessment”; and

o “Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China”.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware involved in
any noncompliance with laws and regulations in relation to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges to water and land, and the
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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Exhaust Gas and Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The greenhouse gas and exhaust emissions generated by the Group’s
daily operations primarily stem from three major sources: in addition
to the use of vehicles required for operations, they also include gas
consumption in project canteens and daily office electricity usage. Our
employees need to travel on business irregularly to meet the project’s
daily operations and business needs. Although the emission involved is
relatively little, we understand that business travel still causes greenhouse
gas emissions. Therefore we have developed responsive measures and
aim to maintain or gradually reduce our emission level, including:

° Encouraging sales representatives and employees to use public
transportation as much as possible when visiting customers and
joining external meetings or events respectively;

o Encouraging employees to walk instead of taking transportation if
possible for close destinations; and

° Setting up telephones and video conferencing systems at office
locations to encourage staff to prioritize the use of teleconferencing
or video conference instead of face-to-face meetings where
feasible.

Waste Management

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, we do not produce
hazardous waste in our operational process. The non-hazardous waste
generated by our business was mainly from the food waste generated
in staff canteens, construction waste generated by property owners
or settled brands, and household waste generated in office, residential
and commercial areas. For items that must be disposed of, we require
employees to carry out waste sorting and recycling. For waste that
cannot be reused, including construction debris from renovation,
domestic waste and food waste etc., they are collected and processed
by the municipal departments collectively.

BE R Bl = mASHEK
FEBHEEETELENREREKE
REEBEBAEBRE=ZRKRR  [FT2E
FRENEmRERIN EERSEEREN
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MEH EREER > UERFHZF SRR
PR ERBR 81F

s HEBEBHEAEFNEFR O UKRBT
EZ2MHR TN EBR BERE
AHERBETAR;

e HEBAMBERNHM ZBEIZREN
TIIRABRERBIA; &

s MPAHMHBEREBERRBETZR
o ZBETEIITHER MMELE
AEZEZAAGREZNEEHE

B G o

BERERYEE
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To achieve the target of reducing the generation of waste gradually, we AZEEZPT R LEEYWEENBEZ M
encourage employees to implement the “Recycle, Reuse and Reduce” HEIE LM BAEEEFRAMTMEIIBDOUW
principles in the daily operation, and carry out the following measures: MEHBUKRRRLVERIRA T

@

Paper Consumption

R

T

Promote paperless office and adopt an e-commerce mode of operation
REEATCHLAE KABFLELNEERA

Set up printing rights, and collect statistics of consumption and
recycling for managing paper consumption

REJHFRE ARHAAERERCOKREETRFIUEEERRBER

[ - | [ - |

- +
Other Stationaries
and Office Supplies

Require employees to handle computer equipment and its peripheral
electronics properly, and handover them to commercial recyclers to
dismantle the remaining computer parts and recycle parts of value if
possible
ERETHYEEESEKERERAEEFREMH TR EMTIEEEL W E
BURHRHGRERBERBOUERKEEENE G

H o =
X & F &
Encourage employees to take appropriate amount of food and require
r @ employees to notice canteen staff of any items they do not consume
£\ in advance. The property management center will arrange inspections
) ( occasionally, if any employees are found not to comply with the

{
©

Food Waste
f B8R

requirement, they shall pay compensations based on the price of the
meal

HBMEINESHENRY EXETRASHNREAESEANIZARIE
MEBEFRORBTITCHLHRE WERBFEINETHBERE  BREB
EITHEE

Set up meal ordering system to pre-order food ingredients based on
the number of employees each day, to minimize food waste as much
as possible
RUBREBETEUEEREXEINBEERERYWEME EXRER DR
&

Put up slogan of “Cherish Food” over canteens and promote the “Clear
Your Plate” campaign

REBEESERMIEZIEEYINIES REXEBTE
Set up collection bins for food waste, which are collected and handled
by consigners with professional qualifications

RUBBFKRER THAREXERNEZETHETREREE
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Sewage Discharge

The sewage discharge from our projects were mainly from the public
water consumption of canteens, residence and shops, water for fire
service and water for cleaning vehicles and equipment. Domestic sewage
is pre-treated by septic tanks, the sewage form canteens and catering is
treated by grease traps before entering the sewage treatment plant for
centralized treatment.

USE OF RESOURCES

We are committed to effective resource management, to enhance the
efficiency of resource consumption. As the Group is not involved in
manufacturing business, no packaging material was consumed.

Energy

We actively develop and implement energy-saving measures and aim
to improve the Group’s overall energy efficiency and reduce indirect
emissions from electricity consumption, some of the measures include:

° Require employees to turn off lighting and energy-consuming
devices when leaving the office;
° Turn off machinery not in use and idle equipment;

° Enable sleep mode when the computer will not be used for a short
period;

° Set air conditioners in office to a moderate temperature and turn
them off when not necessary; and

° Use LED light bulbs in projects for lighting in the residential, public
and office areas to save energy consumed by regular light bulbs.

BIKHER
RMEENSKEREIEZRERE-EE
M RHEBK Y HBERBKBFREW
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Water Resources KE IR

The Group’s daily operations involve water consumption, primarily AEEZ HBEEIRKERER T2
covering various aspects such as food and beverage services in HEZBNRBF - ETEEGEEHAHAK
canteens, public water usage in mixed residential and commercial areas, HHZ 2 R4~ EH LA EB W LK &
fire safety systems, vehicle and equipment cleaning, decoration and /= LIE{FE A HIRIFHEER SBBERE
construction works, public environment maintenance, and landscape BIZEZtEM RS ME > AN AKA
irrigation. During the Reporting Period, our water consumption was ™ BUR B K Z 4 H & > # K B 72 REUE
supplied by the water supply system of the municipal government, so A 7K IR £ t B3 4F fa] 5 =8 o 3 P9 45 48 B2 A &
there has not been any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. FC#xFE/KE > W E M 7 M T &K i > X
We continuously monitor and record water consumption and have A AKMERBEIRE !

implemented the following water-saving measures to enhance water

efficiency:

R
0,

o Posting water conservation labels in
the workplace to raise awareness of

Repair leaking faucets and hoses
promptly to reduce waste of tap

J]
1=
S

water conservation water
e THEEEGFRESAOBKER o R BFAEEE R AV K BEBE Kk IR
B S E A Bk B R E B Rk

Install sensor-activated taps in all
operation sites
e UREEMHTZERMEAKEE

° Utilize reclaimed water for greenery
irrigation

o F A [EIU K IR AR AE & B
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GREEN CONSTRUCTION

Efficient use of natural resources is a crucial part of the Group’s
sustainable operations. Therefore, in our business processes, we strive
to minimize our ecological footprint. Although our construction projects
are carried out by professional contractors and we are not aware of
having any significant environmental impacts, we still strictly adhere to
corporate environmental responsibilities. For each development project,
we implement a rigorous environmental impact analysis process. Through
professional environmental assessment mechanisms, we systematically
evaluate the potential environmental effects of the project and develop
customized environmental protection plans accordingly. These plans
specifically cover the following aspects:

° Require contractors to first carry out sedimentation to the
construction wastewater generated during the construction process
before discharging it into the municipal sewage network;

° Reusing sewage for construction site dust reduction, road cleaning
and vehicle tire washing;

° Requiring contractors to handle construction waste appropriately;
and

° Prohibit noise-generating construction work at night.

SUSTAINABLE BUILDING DESIGN

We have incorporated elements of sustainable development into the life
cycle of buildings, and actively respond to the national “14th Five-Year
Plan for Building Energy Efficiency and Green Building Development”
to vigorously promote the development of energy-efficient and green
buildings. We are committed to reducing carbon emissions from
construction projects and making a positive contribution to achieving
national carbon peaking and carbon neutrality. While reducing carbon
emissions, we also expect to continuously improve building functions to
fulfil our commitment to provide users with high-quality, comfortable living,
entertainment, and leisure spaces.

Our Qinhuangdao Project has passed the assessment of Green Buildings
Evaluation Standard and met the following standards:

o First phase of the project (Zones A, B, C): 2-star/1-star rating

° Exhibition Centre: 1-star rating
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As for providing a livable environment, we have implemented green
roof construction in projects and improve building energy efficiency by
reducing the use of air conditioning and heating. In terms of resources
saving, we have adopted energy-efficient LED lighting and introduced
natural light into the interior of buildings to reduce energy consumption for
lighting.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change has become a critical challenge faced by the global
community today, with its profound impact on the business environment
becoming increasingly evident. All types of enterprises must address
the dual effects it brings — both operational risks and transformation
opportunities. In particular, the frequency of extreme weather events such
as typhoons and torrential rains has risen significantly in recent years,
posing serious challenges to the real estate development industry. As a
professional property developer, we are acutely aware of the potential
threats posed by such climate anomalies, including labour shortages and
asset losses.

To respond to the risks brought by climate change, and safeguard
homeland at the same time, we have formulated relevant policies and
measures, to prevent or reduce the potential damage climate change
may bring to the existing property owned by the Group and protect the
safety of employees and users:

e Evaluate and make judgement

e The local project leader
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e Some of the measures include

according to the early
warnings issued by the local
meteorological department;

s REBEEMRREFIFME W
NBEETTEHA

will meet with all relevant
departments to formulate and
assess safety management
measures to achieve flood
prevention and drainage; and
EMIEEEE AGHEHMA M
FMASFERE R UHIER
SHER T 2 BB ER
FrREEH 5 &

strengthening staff attendant,
inspection, and reporting any
flood prevention and drainage
information.

o oM EEMBABNE

HET KERETF MM
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Besides, we also actively contribute to relieving global warming, including
enhancing the management of high-energy consumption equipment to
lower the energy consumption and greenhouse gas emission in each
project gradually. The Group will continue to pay attention to the market
changes in relation to climate change, to grasp opportunities. During
the Reporting Period, we also utilized carbon offsets to achieve the
above goals. The carbon offset project we have utilised is the Hebei
ChengAn Biomass Cogeneration Project (Project ID: 3797) from the
United Nations Clean Development Mechanism (“CDM”), which focuses
on generating electricity by utilising local straw from cotton. The electricity
generated from this project is sold to the Hebei Provincial Power Grid,
replacing the capacity of coal-fired power plants. The project contributes
to greenhouse gas emission reduction, comprehensive utilization of
resources, environmental protection, and providing job opportunities
and increasing income of local residents. Certified Emission Reductions
(CERs) from this project were also used for carbon neutrality at the 19th
Asian Games Hangzhou 2022 and the 4th Asian Para Games Hangzhou
2022,

BRIt 2 9h > IR AP 7R A5 4 753 OBl 4R SR & B AE AF
HEMR SEREEERBNEE  UZ
THREBEREEEEBEDIGERHEE
FREBEREHR AEBT#REE IR
SRR HEME UIBEKRBE - RS
B HAEMNBTHRIEEREERER
BB ARE - RMERNKKEEER
EMEBEBRERKS (TCOMY) BYH
IR zEMEREBERERE (RERRE
3797) - ZEHBEENH A EHMARIERE R
HECFTEEMNBHOLERTIEEER>
ERTMRERNEBEH -BEEBEEF
EZEBRRAVEERBHB KT BE
R RERR BEAEHEREHTME
WEMEMBANKS LI ZBEH
ZEBRPFECERTEANR T __F%F
ThAEMMNEEEN —_ S - _FFEMN
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ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE IRIGFARENIER
INDICATORS

Environmental Key Performance Indicators  Unit

RIGFARERIER B

A1 Emissions

ATBERH

A1.1 Air Emissions

A1L1EERBERR

Nitrogen oxides kg 251.49 277.45
aga1ty T

Sulphur oxides kg 2.89 3.11
ety T

Particulate matter kg 0.62 0.71
R i T

A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

A 2EEREHNE

Scope 1 — Direct emissions Tonnes of CO2e 691.78 729.82
#HET—BEREHENR MZEbikES

Scope 2 - Energy indirect emissions Tonnes of COze 2,292.36 2,432.38
#[E2— fE R HI WSt ESE

GHG removal by tree planting Tonnes of CO2¢e 0 2.30
R ABEFTAENRAERBRE WSt E S

Total Tonnes of CO2e 2,984.14 3,159.90
s MZEbikES

Intensity Tonnes of CO2e/HK$’000 revenue 0.02 0.10
BE MB_EtiREE ST ETNE

A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste

Al ABEEEY

Food waste Tonnes 0.95 9.55
R ER it

Construction waste Tonnes 5 0
EEEER W

Paper Tonnes 0.77 1.23
AR 95

Other domestic waste Tonnes 463.35 471.94
Hihd REY i

Total Tonnes 470.07 482.72
e 95

Intensity kg/HK$’000 revenue 3.82 1512

G Fr/ BFBTRE
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Unit
B fif

A2 Use of Resources
A2EEfERA

A2.1 Energy Consumption

A2 1RETR{ER

Indirect energy — Purchased electricity

BIZEER—INBE S

Direct energy — Non-renewable fuel

BiEER-IFEEE ML
Total

we

Intensity

Gl

A2.2 Water Resources
A2.27KE R

Total water consumption
kiEs

Intensity

wE

kWh

T REF

kWh

TERE

kWh

TR

KWh/HK$’ 000 revenue
TRE STAETHE

mS

I 7K

m3/HK$’000 revenue

U AKS BT AT

4,019,5674.60

3,418,686.51

7,438,261.11

60.39

197,879.00

1.61

4,265,090.42

3,5681,847.55

7,846,937.97

245.82

312,679.83

9.79
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HKEX’S LISTING RULE APPENDIX C2 Bk 3ZFr E R E Mt ERC2 (IR 1R
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE HEREGREESI)RSI
Subject area Content Chapter/Disclosure
TERE AR LR
Mandatory Disclosure Requirement
BHKERE
Governance A Statement from the board containing the following elements: Sustainable
Structure () disclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues. Governance,
(i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the Materiality
process used to evaluate, prioritize and manage material ESG-related Assessment
issues (including risks to the issuer’s business); and
(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and
targets with an explanation of how they relate to the issuer’s business
ERARE HESEHUNER ERHETIRES ! RBEZERER -
() FEEEEHRE - HERELAETENEE EZ MM
(il EZENRE - HEREREEAH RER GFTGH BRI K
EEEENRR - HEKEREMEE (BREEETAEZBNER)
mieE; &
(I ZEFGWARRE - HERERERERRNEE - LREEMN
MEBETANEZBRE
Reporting A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the Reporting Reporting Principles
Principles Principles (materiality, quantitative, and consistency) in the preparation of
the ESG Report
0 R R A BASBBRTRERRE HERERRENUANRAERRI (EE BERA
M 2EM—8E) o
Reporting A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG report and Reporting Scope
Boundary describing the process used to identify which entities or operations are
included in the ESG report.
0 R & ] BRERERE HEREARENERDE REMKEBLESRBAERN REBEKRHAM

ABRE HEREARSEHER
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Subject area

TEHEE

Content
AE

Chapter/Disclosure

HERESHEH

A. Environmental
ARIE

Aspect A1: Emissions
A1HERY

General Disclosure

—BRE

KPI A1.1

R S 4B IS 1EAT
KPI A1.2

B9 A IE RAT.2
KPI A1.3

BB IS IEA1.3
KPI A1.4

PR AR IR 1RAL .4
KPI A1.5
PR EMIERA1.5

KPI A1.6

B RANIEIRA1.6

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

ERERRAZERBEI - nARTHHNF S - EERESEEYNE

EEM

(a) B ; &

(b) EFTHETABEATENHEALZERRONER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

B B R AR B

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in

tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.

B (HE1) kEREE (HE2) BERBAH
(MER) BE -

Total hazardous waste produced (tonnes) and where appropriate, intensity.

FMELXAEEEEMES QUEE) X (WER) BE -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity.

PMEEREEEMEE CUEHE) X (NBR) BE-

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

28 M8 &

BT NN EE R AEINELEERMEBMN T o
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HIEEEERBESEEYN A L REMMITIINHESEERAE
BRI T o

Emissions

73 €7)

Environmental Key
Performance Indicators
RIGABENIER
Environmental Key
Performance Indicators
RISHAEENIER

Not applicable

B

Environmental Key
Performance Indicators
RISAEENIER
Exhaust Gas and
Greenhouse Gas
Emissions
BERBRERBHMN
Waste Management

BRERYERE
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Subject area

TEHR

Content
AE

Chapter/Disclosure

HERESSEH

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

AERER
General Disclosure

— R E
KPI A2.1

B 8 48 RIS 1RA2.1
KPI A2.2

PR B AMIERA2.2
KPI A2.3

B 98 A 15 RA2.3
KPI A2.4

PR ENIEIRA2.4

KPI A2.5

B RAMIERA2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water, and other raw
materials.

EMERAER (BEER KEREMRERMH) BEK-

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (Kwh in '000s) and
intensity.

BRENIANNERRIBEERLEE UTETRRGE) REE -
Water consumption in total and intensity.

BEKERBE -

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

BTN RERANGERERAEINEEE RS R o
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,
water efficiency target(s), and steps taken to achieve them.

FREGEA KR A B EABE URMITINBKEmERERA
EIELEERMTEEHNT R

Total packing material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable,
with reference to per unit produced.

N mATAEEMENES UEE) K (NER) SEEEMLS-

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

AR R RAER

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI A3.1

B R AR RIS 1RAS.1

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and
natural resources.

BEZETAHRERRAERENEATENHR

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HMEBRZHHBRERRABERNEATERCENERERATEN
T8

Use of Resources

ERER
Environmental Key
Performance Indicators
RIEERENIER
Environmental Key
Performance Indicators
RIGFABRENIER
Energy, Green
Construction

BERNR BT
Water Resources

KER

Not applicable

AEH

Green Construction,
Sustainable Building
Design

BT
ARERRR
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Subject area

TEHEE

Content Chapter/Disclosure
NA HERSEH

Aspect A4: Climate Change

AdRIZE1E

General Disclosure

—RIKE
KPI Ad.1

MR ARAIERA4 A

B. Social
B.tt &

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which ~ Climate Change
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
HETAELZENEARBRHEBAZEENBR RIEZ1E
Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and

those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

BN ROEEHETAELERENEARBEREE REHTT

B

Aspect B1: Employment

B1{E{E

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B1.1

MR A MIERB A
KPIB1.2
PR RMIEEB1.2

Information on: Employment Compliance,
(@) the policies; and Remuneration and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact ~ Benefits
on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
B RRE - BEREA TERE - RA -TERE - 2R BESHR FMEERN
BERAREMEBERENN
(a) B ; &
(b) BFHEBETAREARENERBEERRANER -
Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region.  Social Key Performance
Indicators
ZHR - EREEE - FRANRMERISNESEEH - HERBEENER
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.

BUuR - FRANRMBE DHNEERKLER
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Subject area

TEHR

Content
AE

HHEPEERERAER

Chapter/Disclosure

HERESSEH

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

B2 22

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI B2.1

o 98 SR A 15 1R B 2.1
KPI B2.2
B A 15 1RB2.2
KPI B2.3

P REMIERB2.3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.

ERRHEZE2IEERREEEECHENLEN

(a) B ; &

(b)) BFHETABEAZENEREERRANER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three years

including the reporting year.

BEZF (OEEREE) SFRITHMA# KR

Lost days due to work injury.

FAIBERTIEHR-

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they

are implemented and monitored.

WP RANBEREREZ2 R UREBRTRERERE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

B3% R K iE

General Disclosure

— R
KPI B3.1

i 9 4R 215 R B3 1
KPI B3.2

M REMIERBS.2

Policy on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.
ERRARERITIEBENA A R AENHE B FIES -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category

B REEENISNZIEEE DL
The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

BUuERNREEERNE D SREETATIN TR

Health and Safety

BEAZE

Social Key Performance
Indicators
HERRAENIER
Health and Safety
REEZS

Development and
Training

R KRE

Social Key Performance
Indicators
HERBEENER
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Subject area

TEHEE

Content
AE

Chapter/Disclosure

HERESHEH

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

B4% T %8|
General Disclosure

— MR E

KPI B4.1

R & XI5 1RBA.1
KPI B4.2
P AR5 1RB4.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRAPIEE T RGEIETH

(a) BLR 5 &

(b) EFHETABEATENHEALERRANER o

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child

and forced labour.

B RREANEE U RE T RAGIE T

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

BREERERBREHREBIBERIRIA LR

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

B51it fE i & 12
General Disclosure

— i E
KPI B5.1

R B 4B WIS 1EB5 .1
KPI B5.2

i 4B WIS 1EB5.2

KPI B5.3

AR AWIE1RB5.3

KPI B5.4

AR MIE1RB5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

SEMEENRERT G BREE-
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

Brted oNtREHE -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

BAERHERUEENEN nERTEABANEEBFYUE  URE
REAINRITRERR L

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
HAEREANMEESEARGNBRERTGREBNIESG  LUkEREH
TRERAE

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
HBATREHRENREELARREDARBENEG  UkEEHNT
RERRFE

Prohibition of Child and
Forced Labour

BIEST kST

Supply Chain
Management
HEEEE

Social Key Performance
Indicators
HEMBENIER
Supply Chain
Management, Social
Key Performance
Indicators

1 e 58 B I
HEMBENIER
Supply Chain
Management
HEEEE
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Subject area

TEHR

Content
AE

HHEPEERERAER

Chapter/Disclosure

HERESSEH

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

B6EREHE
General Disclosure

—BRE

KPI B6.1

i 9 48 215 1R B6. 1
KPI B6.2

R 45 X 1518 B6.2
KPI B6.3

F 9 SR 315 12B6.3
KPI B6.4
PR A5 1RB6.4
KPI B6.5

B AR NIEIRB6.5

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.

ERMEMHERMRENEREAZ2 BEE - RERMREEURBH

FER

(a) BUR ; &

(b) BFHETABEAXRENEREERRANER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety

and health reasons.

BEYEEXERBHTRAL 2 EREEAMABRKNE DL

Number of products and service related complaints received and how

they are dealt with.

BRERRERKRRBNEFAEURBEHE F L

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual

property rights.

HiEEERRENHEEBBNIEDG -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

BB ERTEBREREMBIKER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how

they are implemented and monitored.

HIHBEEERRERMBHRR UARBRATRERF Lo

Product Responsibility

i
Bo
il
[=x)

Social Key Performance
Indicators
HERREWER

Not applicable

FiE R
Product Quality
EmEE

Privacy Protection

N
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Subject area

TEHEE

Content
AE

Chapter/Disclosure

HERESHEH

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BIR&S
General Disclosure

— R E

KPI B7.1

R AR AIEIRBT A

KPI B7.2

PR M IEIRBT.2
KPI B7.3

B AMIERBT.3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money

laundering.
BERMLER - BR MFRAREN
(a) B ; &

(b)) BFHETABEAZENEBEERRANER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RERAAAZTANEEERLLBEEENESHARZHNHEERK
TR o

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

B EREERBRER  UREARITRERAZ -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

ErmEEREIRHENRESE-

Aspect B8: Community Investment

BSHtER &E

General Disclosure

—BRE

KPI B8.1
[ 98 4R 2 15 12 B8. 1
KPI B8.2
F 98 AR 215 12 B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.

BRUHE2HE R TREEMTHERENRFREAXEREDTT R
EF R B o

Focus areas of contribution.

HIEMEBE-

Resources contributed to the focus area.

HEITEBARPRER

Anti-corruption

k&5
Social Key Performance
Indicators
HERMBEENER
Whistleblowing Policy
B
Anti-corruption

Trainings
R &5 &l

Community Investment

HERE



Biographical Details of Directors

EFREFR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Li Yi Feng

Mr. Li Yi Feng (“Mr. Li"), aged 62, was re-designated as an executive
director, chairman of the Board, chief executive officer, chairman of
the nomination committee of the Board, member of the remuneration
committee of the Board and the authorised representative of the
Company under the Listing Rules on 31 January 2019.

Mr. Li has been engaged in construction planning, design, real estate
and commercial properties over 30 years and has gained extensive
experience in planning, development, operation and management.
He has a great wealth of experience in asset acquisition and mergers,
business negotiations and capital operations.

Mr. Li obtained his Master’s degree in Architecture from Xi'an Institute
of Metallurgy and Construction Engineering (now renamed as Xi’an
University of Architecture and Technology). In addition, Mr. Li obtained his
certificate of completion from Ontario Real Estate College in Canada.

Since 1985, Mr. Li has been engaging in architecture teaching,
architecture study and design work. Since 2002, Mr. Li joined Homelife
(Canada) and RE/MAX (Canada), offering consultancy services on
residential and commercial property investments. Mr. Li joined the
Company in early 2009 as the chief design officer. Since 2011, Mr. Li has
served as the director of Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting Co.,
Ltd* =R 065 REBEBRRR).

Following the Re-designation, Mr. Li was also appointed as a director of
the subsidiaries of the Company, namely Chuang Yu Holdings Limited,
Globe Outlets City Holdings Limited, Globe Outlets City Limited, Mile Gain
Limited, Million Harmony Holdings Limited, Milion Harmony Limited, Pilot
Will Holdings Limited, Pilot Will Limited, Profuse Gain Holdings Limited,
Profuse Gain Limited, Quality Depot Limited, Richly Field Hainan Holdings
Limited, King Future Holdings Limited and King Future Limited with effect
from 31 January 2019.

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

BITES

Fh#ERE

=B EE (TEEE)) 628 R B
—RE-—AZ+-AEBHETAEADR
TEF EFEIR THER EFY
RLZBERIR EFTHMEETRE
R EHRAME 2 ERAR.

FTREREEZRARY R -ETHEHME
%u&ﬁ%%é%ZJr%fﬁjtﬁﬁﬁg =
NRBFENEEEELER - TEEWE

FRHRBEBXA BX ﬁf’ﬁﬁﬁ,@%%ﬁ@
FHRERAZRATRESMER (RaH

AZREERNRAR) WEREEBRLE
fiiollbsh FHRERMEKRMOntario

Real Estate College 1845 £ o

BE—NANAFHE ZTEE—BEREREHK
B .REANEMNRSAIE- BT _F
fE > EHRAEMSB I AHomelife (Canada)
FIRE/MAX (Canada)ft BT £
EREEMI - TRER_SEZNFEY
MAXAE  EERSFBE—H - BZF
——Ff - E=TRERTCHEHERE ER)
KREBEMERRABMNES-

RBER FTAETEBZERERIMNE
REAIZEZ HARERBRAF B
RERBBRFTNHIZERERAR Y B
REERBBRFTNERAT BREBERA
A BHMERERATD -BWHARLQA
REZERERRD - REBRRT -ER
ERBERRAGD -ERARAT mEAIR
NE-HHSEERERAG HRER
ERABKRBEAERAT BT —-N&F
—B=+—HEEX®-




Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2025

Biographical Details of Directors

EFEREFRE

Mr. Chen Wei

Mr. Chen Wei (“Mr. Chen”), aged 53, was re-designated as an executive
director and the vice president of the Company on 21 March 2018.

Mr. Chen has extensive experience in aspects related to project
planning and construction management. Mr. Chen graduated from
Jinling Vocational University* (35 882 KX 2) studying in decoration
and construction management. Mr. Chen accomplished the curriculum
of the Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA) program
at the School of Business of Nanjing University in June 2010. And he
was accredited as an engineer by Nanjing Construction Engineering
Intermediate Professional Qualification Assessment Committee* (78 )=
BEMTIIZPREERMERTEZET)in December 2012.Mr.
Chen also accomplished the curriculum of Social Work (associate degree)
at Nanjing Zhongshan Vocational College in July 2017.

Mr. Chen has been engaging in construction management since
1996 and was the chairman of the Board of Directors of Nanjing First
Construction Engineering Group Company Limited* (R R 5 — 2R T2
EBERAF) from 2008 to 2013. Mr. Chen was the Vice President of
JeShing Real Estate Group Company Limited* (&R B2 L EEB AR

A7) from 2013 to 2017.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen

Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen (“Ms. Hsu”), aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 November 2013 and has been
the chairman of the audit and remuneration committees of the Company
since 28 January 2014. She has over 20 years’ experience in accounting.
Ms. Hsu graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a
bachelor degree in business administration. Ms. Hsu had been working
with Ernst & Young for 18 years and was a partner of Ernst & Young
before she retired from the firm in February 2011.

Ms. Hsu is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ms. Hsu is currently an independent non-executive director
of Perfect Medical Health Management Limited (stock code: 1830), China
Display Optoelectronics Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 334),
Beijing Gas Blue Sky Holdings (stock code: 6828) and Perfect Optronics
Limited (stock code:8311).
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFEEFRE

Mr. Wong Chi Hong William

Mr. Wong Chi Hong William (“Mr. Wong”), aged 42, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 31 January 2021. Mr. Wong is
a Regular Member of American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA). He obtained a bachelor degree in Business Administration from
the University of Wisconsin, Madison in 2005. Mr. Wong has twelve
years of experience in human resources, recruitment, audit, corporate
governance and financial planning. He worked at Deloitte from 2006-
2008, where his last position was Consultant in Enterprise Risk Services.
From 2009 to 2011, he was a Management Trainee at AMTD Financial
Planning Limited. He served as a Recruitment Consultant at Hillman Ross
Limited from 2014 to 2017. From 2017 to 2018, he was a Recruitment
Consultant at Kelly Services Hong Kong Limited. From 2018 to 2019, he
was a Senior Recruitment Consultant at Spring Professional (Hong Kong)
Limited. Since July 2019, he has been serving as a Director of Harbour
Consulting International Limited.

Mr. Xu Jinghong

Mr. Xu Jinghong (“Mr. Xu”), aged 57, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 1 April 2014. Mr. Xu graduated from Tianjin
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Tianjin Institute of Textile
Science and Technology) with a bachelor's degree in mechanical
manufacturing technology and equipment. In addition, Mr. Xu completed
a course of management science and engineering for postgraduate
research students in Nanjing University. He also obtained the EMBA
degree from Fudan University. Mr. Xu had served as the general manager
of Nanjing Yuexing International Home Square Limited* (F8 R B £ E&
REBEIBEMRAT) and the general manager of the Furniture Centre at
Nanjing Golden Eagle International Shopping Centre Group Limited* (f
ReEEEEREYEBRAFRATRES L), and the vice president of
the Shanghai Xiyingmen Group* (E/8E&FI%EE). Mr. Xu is currently
the vice president of the Association of Home Decoration of the China
Federation of Industry and Commerce* (2El T ¥R EEMER D),
the vice chairman of the Market Committee of China Furniture Association*
(TEREHBEHIHFEEZEE), the president of Fudan University’s
Smart Retail Association (1§ B KEEEZ2ZE1RE), a member of the
Putuo District Committee of the Shanghai Municipal People’s Political
Consultative Conference, and vice president of Shanghai Yue Xing Group
(EERE2£ME).
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B EREMER

|RCHK

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF RICHLY FIELD CHINA DEVELOPMENT
LIMITED

HHPEERBRAT

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with
limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Richly
Field China Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 116
to 227, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the
“Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR S

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Scope limitation relating to going concern basis in
preparation of the consolidated financial statements

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had a net loss of
approximately HK$250,923,000 and as of that date, the Group had net
current liabilities of approximately HK$473,870,000 and total borrowings,
including other borrowings, amount due to a shareholder and amounts
due to related parties, in aggregate of approximately HK$617,295,000
that will be due in the coming twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. As at the same date, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents amounted to approximately HK$11,758,000 and restricted
bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$6,199,000. In addition,
the Group has been involved in various litigation cases for outstanding
construction payables for which the Group has made provision. The
above conditions indicate the existence of significant uncertainties which
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The directors of the Company have been undertaking various plans and
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity pressure and the financial
position of the Group which are set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements had been prepared by the directors
of the Company on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends
on the outcome of those plans and measures, which are subject to
significant uncertainties, including (i) the successful resumption and/
or acceleration of property development projects; and (i) continuous
financial support from related parties.

However, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to satisfy ourselves that the events or conditions underpinning
the cash flow forecast of the Group for going concern assessment are
reasonable and supportable because of (i) the lack of sufficient supporting
basis to obtain additional financing to continue the property development
projects as scheduled; (i) the lack of sufficient supporting basis to
support that the related companies be able to provide additional funding
to the Group in the timing and manner that can match the settlement
of the Group’s liabilities and/or future commitments; (i) the lack of
detailed analysis in relation to the uncertainty of outcome of those plans
and measures and how variability in outcomes would affect the future
cash flows of the Group; and (iv) the lack of sufficient supporting basis
in relation to the outcome of pending litigations regarding outstanding
construction payables. Hence, we were unable to satisfy ourselves
about the appropriateness of the adoption of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements by
the directors of the Company.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (continued)

Scope limitation relating to going concern basis in
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
(continued)

Should the Group fail to achieve its plans and measures, it might not be
able to continue as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be
made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments
have not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report, solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

However, because of the matter described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion” section of our report, we were not able to form an audit opinion
on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Rongcheng (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
(formerly known as CL Partners CPA Limited)
Certified Public Accountants
Fong Ho Keung
Practising Certificate Number: PO8079
Hong Kong
30 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

m R H Mt E EINm R

HEZZ-HAF="B=1+—HIFE
2025 2024
ZEIREF “ETNE
NOTES HK$’000 HK$ 000
Mk FHET TFHET
Revenue Wz 5 123,180 31,921
Cost of sales THE K (90,253) (22,521)
Gross profit EA 32,927 9,400
Other income, gains and losses HAWA ~ e 518 6 318 (39,575)
Loss on revaluation of investment properties 8 &Y% > B4R (35,020) (62,958)
Impairment loss under expected credit FEWER A TREAE B IR
loss model on trade receivables, net BT ZREEESE 414) (1,819)
Impairment loss under expected credit Hith e IBE AR EEFE
loss model on other receivables, net BT 2B ERIEFEE (111,770) (36,154)
Impairment loss on prepaid BNEEMAZHERIE
construction costs (50,678) -
Selling expenses THEMS (8,730) (6,421)
Administrative expenses TERE (41,934) (46,647)
Finance costs MEER 7 (37,668) (40,218)
Share of results from associates FELEE AT 2 24 - (558)
Loss before tax PRIGAIES 18 8 (252,969) (224,950)
Income tax credit FriSinite 11 2,046 2,688
Loss for the year FAEE (250,923) (222,262)
Other comprehensive income (expense) Hﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂﬂlfﬁ (Fs2)
Items that may be reclassified to A B T EEEIR I IBEE
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation MEBINEREE
of foreign operations PE R =28 6,619 (6,095)
Fair value loss on financial assets e AT EF AEAM
designated at fair value through other 2EWE (AT E
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") SFAHMEEWEL) 2
TREEZ ATERBE (114) (1,924)
Other comprehensive income (expense) FEREMEEURE Bx) »
for the year, net of tax NpRIRIE 6,505 (8,019)
Total comprehensive expense FARAmALEEE
for the year (244,418) (230,281)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e EmkEMEERTHRR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HEZZ_HAF="RB=+—HIFE

2025 2024
—EZREF —ZT 4
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 5% FAET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: FEIEEAESIE
— Owners of the Company S VNCIEZZ=PN (249,747) (222,262)
— Non-controlling interests —JEE RS (1,176) -
(250,923) (222,262
Total comprehensive expense FE(h 2 mB Sz 4a%E ©
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company —KABHEB A (243,252) (230,281)
— Non-controlling interests — IR (1,166) -
(244,418) (230,281)
(restated)
Loss per share siREE 12
Basic AR (21.40) (19.05)
HK cents 1l HK cents 7Ll
Diluted s (21.40) (19.05)
HK cents 1l HK cents 1Ll
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBIRRR

As at 31 March 2025
A _ERF=B=+—H

2025 2024
“EZRHE TPy
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
Mk FAET FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME BB 14 684 737
Investment properties KEYE 15 469,568 513,305
Right-of-use assets FREEE 16 343,624 364,130
Interests in associates REEAB 2 #m 17 - -
Financial asset designated at FVTOCI e AT EF AEAM
TEHNRZ EMEE 18 685 800
Prepayment, deposits and other FENHIE SR
receivables Hih e ERIE 23 - 76,124
Deferred tax assets IRIEFRIEE B 29 39 10
Goodwill HE 19 108,425 105,458
923,025 1,060,564
Current assets RENEE
Properties under development TRy E 20 651,530 714,506
Completed properties held for sales FEHEZ B TYE 21 73,184 1,613
Trade receivables & W BR =R 22 1,720 1,255
Prepayments, deposits and SEINE R ERE 7y
other receivables HihE W RIE 23 111,727 176,545
Restricted bank deposits S REIERITER 24 6,199 12,470
Cash and cash equivalents BEaMIREEER 24 11,758 17,685
856,118 924,074
Current liabilities mEmaE
Trade payables FE{TRRRR 25 448,405 383,733
Other payables and accruals HtE B R EE R 26 124,122 96,919
Contract liabilities EXERE 26 43,468 91,240
Amounts due to related parties FEAS BE & 5 =R IE 27 558,339 546,843
Amount due to a shareholder FEAT BE R =R IE 27 23,383 26,468
Other borrowings HanfEm 28 35,573 35,990
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 1,159 1,320
Tax payable FESIRIE 95,539 96,693
1,329,988 1,279,206




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMEIRRR

As at 31 March 2025
A _E_RFE=B=+—H

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

2025 2024
B —EPNE
NOTES HK$’000 HK$ 000
M5 FHET FET
Net current liabilities BB EREE (473,870) (355,132)
Total assets less current liabilities MEERRSHERE 449,155 705,432
Non-current liabilities ERHEE
Deferred income FEIEUWTA 26 403,854 411,085
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 8,880 10,069
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE 29 35,447 38,886
448,181 460,040
Net assets BEEFEE 974 245,392
Equity =
Issued capital BETRAK 31 1,166,834 1,166,834
Reserves G (1,164,694) (921,442)
Equity attributable to owners of KABHERE ANEEER
the Company 2,140 245,392
Non-controlling interests FEER (1,166) -
Total equity s 974 245,392

The consolidated financial statements on pages 116 to 227 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June
2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

FICEQTEZIHRAGVBREEN
_hEANB=tHE==gHERE#
FE THTNESAREE .

Mr. Li Yi Feng Mr. Chen Wei
FIREEE BRiERE
Director Director

EF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
maEmEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_S_RFE-RA=+—HIEE

Notes:

@

The contributed surplus represents the amount arising on reduction of paid-up
capital during the year ended 31 March 2004.

The reorganisation reserve represents the carrying amount of net liabilities
of subsidiaries, net of expenses, being disposed of under the schemes of
arrangement under section 166 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and section 99 of the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended time to time). Both schemes of arrangement
were sanctioned by the High Court of Hong Kong and the Supreme Court of
Bermuda on 27 May 2008 and 13 June 2008, respectively.

The statutory reserve funds represents 10% of the profit after tax of the
Company’s subsidiaries registered in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
appropriate to the reserve as stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
certain subsidiaries in the PRC, until such reserve reaches 50% of the registered
capital and thereafter any further appropriation is optional.

Other reserve represents () the difference between the considerations paid to
obtain additional non-controling interests and its carrying amount of the net
assets on the date of the acquisition, which the excess of the fair value of the
consideration over the carrying amount of the net assets acquired has been
debited directly to equity; (i) the deemed contributions from shareholders that
arisen from the difference between the initial fair value and cash receipts on the
loans from related parties; (i) the deemed contribution from shareholder that
arisen from the excess of the net identifiable assets acquired over the fair value
of ordinary shares of the Company issued upon a business combination; and
(iv) the deemed contribution from shareholder that arisen from the excess of
the carrying amounts of indebtedness capitalised over the fair value of ordinary
shares of the Company issued.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEZZ-HAF="B=1+—HIFE
2025 2024
—EZRE “ETNE
NOTE HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5% FHET TFHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RESER
Loss before tax PRIRAIE 18 (252,969) (224,950)
Adjustments for: MTIRIEZRE
Interest income ) B WA (43) (87)
Interest expense FMERX 37,668 40,218
Depreciation of property, plant and Y B E KR EITE
equipment 234 454
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 14,453 14,426
Impairment loss under expected credit FEWERETRHAE EEIE
loss model on trade receivables, net BT 2 B EEIE SR 414 1,819
Impairment loss under expected credit HtEWRIBEEREE
loss model on other receivables, net BEEATZ
BERE R 111,770 36,154
Impairment loss on prepaid construction BREMAZ HERIE
costs 50,678 -
Remeasurement loss on discounted FEW BT /@ A Bl FUIAAL IR
present value of amounts due from REZENTEEE
Former Subsidiaries 6 - 39,787
Loss on revaluation of investment KEYE BELEE
properties 35,020 62,958
Operating cashflows before movements EEBETEEFAIZ
in working capital KSR RE (2,775) (29,221)
Increase in trade receivables & YR BR SIS 0 (905) (537)
Increase in properties under ERYMERFEHEZ
development and completed properties I8 TN
held for sales (21,380) (26,665)
Increase in prepayments, FENRIE N ZE R EM
deposits and other receivables JE W R IE 1 0 (24,728) (27,104)
Increase in trade payables FE{T BR AL 10 72,061 7,999
Increase in other payables and accruals HihEA B EE R
=N 15,202 21,713
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities SHEE OfL) 1B (48,740) 45,433
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETHFRAZEHEFEE
ACTIVITIES (11,265) (8,382)
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2025 2024
—ETREF =T OF
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
s FAET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREEH
Decrease (increase) in restricted bank ZIRHBIIRITERR
deposits L () 6,271 (12,470)
Interest received BUFIE 43 87
Purchases of property, BEYE BERREEB
plant and equipment (193) (93)
Net cash inflow arising WHEMIB AR EERN
on acquisition of subsidiaries RERAFER 30 - 396
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING REFBIFFESE FiA) 2
ACTIVITIES REFEE 6,121 (12,080)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES B IEE
Advance from related parties KERREL ZB™M 16,539 2,896
Repayment to related parties MIRAEHER (7,818) -
Repayment to a shareholder MR ERER (3,085) -
Repayment for principal elements of BEREE G2~ D
lease liabilities (1,763) (1,281)
Interest paid BEAHE (379) (158)
Advance from other borrowings PN=! ET@T HR 2 B - 6,873
Advance from a shareholder RERERZ B - 6,642
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ME RS ZREPEE
ACTIVITIES 3,494 14,972
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERREFERELD
CASH EQUIVALENTS BEE (1,650) (5,490)
Cash and cash equivalents FHzREMAREEED
at beginning of year 17,685 35,083
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, SNEE B R EIFER
net (4,277) (11,908)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FEXRZEERFAEZEER
AT END OF YEAR, represented BNIRITHE R RIRE

by bank balances and cash 11,758 17,685
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2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION

Richly Field China Development Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands with limited liability and
continued as an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda
after the change of domicile from the Cayman Islands to Bermuda
effective on 11 February 2004 and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and Unit 1504, 15/F, Tower 2,
Metroplaza, No. 223 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung, New Territories,
Hong Kong respectively. The ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company is Mr. Wang Hua.

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards,
which collective terms include all applicable HKFRS Accounting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except as otherwise set out in the accounting
policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

2.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 2.1 &5 BRRVEUELE @)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), rounded to the nearest thousand except for
per share data. HK$ is the Company’s functional currency and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Going concern assumption

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had a net loss
of approximately HK$250,923,000 and as of that date, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately HK$473,870,000 and
total borrowings, including other borrowings, amount due to a
shareholder and amounts due to related parties, in aggregate of
approximately HK$617,295,000 that will be due in the coming
twelve months from the end of the Reporting Period. As at the
same date, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$11,758,000 and restricted bank deposits
amounted to approximately HK$6,199,000. In addition, the Group
has been involved in various litigation cases for outstanding
construction payables for which the Group has made provision. The
above conditions indicate the existence of significant uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

In view of the above, the Directors had carefully considered the
liquidity of the Group, taking into consideration of the following
plans and measures:

AFEDBDERRETHRITHE2A
EZBRGEANRETE (ARA
F)THEETZEFRSTHEEREE
FTEmZz BRIEBREEMXNZ
B ETAE MAmZBEBRES
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TXFRE g st BRIt o

AEEBETRERYBHTRRAME
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T (TET) 2% TEMELAER
BETMU -BaArARZREER
RAEEEZZ25 &%

FEEERR
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FEE AEBBEHEEIFHELY
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B RERER (BEEAMERIE
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EsrRRT+ZEREBA-KEAL
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(i)

Resumption and/or acceleration of property
development projects

Property development projects of the Group comprised
mainly (a) the Group’s property development project at
Qinhuangdao (the “Qinhuangdao Project”); and (b) the
Group’s property development project at Yinchuan (the
“Yinchuan Project”).

The Qinhuangdao Project

The Group has been exploring different means and
opportunities to its property development projects, in
particular, to resume the Qinhuangdao Project. During the
year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had engaged in
discussions with over 10 potential investors/partners for
resumption of the Qinhuangdao Project. These potential
investors/partners are all independent third parties from the
Group and had experience in property development business
in the PRC. As at the date of this Report, the Group had
maintained discussions with most of the potential investors/
partners. Among these, the Group had active dialogue with
one of the potential investors (the “New Potential Investor”).
The dialogue between the Group and the New Potential
Investor commenced in March 2025. As at the date of this
Report, the New Potential Investor had carried out certain
due diligence work on the Qinhuangdao Project (including a
site visit to the Qinhuangdao Project in June 2025), and the
Group had also carried out certain due diligence work on the
New Potential Investor. The Group and the New Potential
Investor had also discussed about certain key terms for
the cooperation in the Qinhuangdao Project, including but
not limited to amount and timing of capital injection (part of
which may be used for partial repayment to Huaxia Bank
and partial settlement of the amounts due to contractors to
resume the Qinhuangdao Project), shareholding structure,
operation responsibilities, profit sharing mechanism, board
composition of the project company, debt financing structure
(e.g. proportionate contribution if guarantee is required to
secure financing), etc. In view of the above, in particular that,
(i) there have been dialogues between the Group and different
potential investors/partners regarding the Qinhuangdao
Project, indicating the interest of potential investors in the
project; (i) there have been active discussions between the
Group and the New Potential Investor, indicating a likelihood
of a crystalising a concrete resumption of the Qinhuangdao
Project; and (iii) the improving market sentiment in the
property development market in China, the Board considered
that the Group’s efforts in resumption of the Qinhuangdao
Project have continued to bring in progress and it was likely
that the Qinhuangdao Project could be resumed in due
course.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(i)

(i)

Resumption and/or acceleration of property
development projects (continued)

The Yinchuan Project

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had
continued to work on the development and sales of the
Yinchuan Project. The construction of the last two blocks
(#17 and #18) of the residential properties of the Yinchuan
Project were completed and hand-over of units commenced
during the year ended 31 March 2025. On the other hand,
the commercial part of the Yinchuan Project had a lease-out
rate of 90% as at 31 March 2025, which had become one
of the largest curtain retail hubs in the North-Western part of
China. The Group will continue to work on the sales of the
remaining residential units of the Yinchuan Project to improve
the cash flow position of the Group.

Expansion of property management
business

Property management business (the “Property Management
Business”) is one of the principal businesses of the Group.
The Group had completed the acquisitions of three property
management companies during the year ended 31 March
2024. The expansion of the Property Management Business
would help to bring in more stable income to the Group
in the future. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group has recorded management fee income amounted to
approximately HK$27,123,000 as compared to approximately
HK$20,471,000 for the corresponding year, representing an
increase of 32.5%.

In addition, the Group has been exploring different
opportunities to expand its Property Management Business.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had
identified certain potential targets for expansion of the
Property Management Business. Such potential targets
were also companies engaging in the business of property
management in the areas in which the Group operated.
However, up to the date of this Report, the Group had not
reached any agreement with any of the potential targets
for expansion of the Property Management Business. At
the same time, the Group has also been exploring organic
expansion of the Property Management Business within
existing area of operation. For example, in the Hohhot city,
the Group is currently providing property management
service to only approximately 40% of the tenants of the
commercial complex that the Group has operation. The
Group is in the process of developing plans to expand the
Property Management Business, which nevertheless would
require time to implement as such new property management
agreements will likely be negotiated only close to the expiry of
the existing property management agreements.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(i)

Expansion of property management
business (continued)

In addition, the Group was also in discussion with the
controlling shareholder of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholder”) regarding the possible cooperation for
expansion of the Property Management Business. The
Controlling Shareholder and affiliates currently own, among
other things, companies engaging in business of property
development and commercial properties of over 3 million
square meters, which also involves in the property leasing
and property management business (the “Controlling
Shareholder’s Business”). The Controlling Shareholder is
willing to support the expansion of the Group’s Property
Management Business and there have been on-going
discussions between the Group and the Controlling
Shareholder regarding cooperation to expand the Property
Management Business of the Group. Based on the Board’s
understanding from the Controlling Shareholder and affiliates,
the property leasing and property management income
under the Controlling Shareholder’s Business are carried out
in an integrated way, and income from tenants regarding
the rental income and property management income would
be covered under the same agreement. Given the current
financial position of the Group, the Board considers that it
will not be appropriate for the Group to take up the property
leasing part of the Controlling Shareholder’s Business as
such business will require substantial amount of capital.
Accordingly, the Group and the Controlling Shareholder
and affiliates are in discussion regarding the arrangement to
split the property leasing and property management income
under the Controlling Shareholder’s Business upon the expiry
of the existing rental agreement(s). It is currently expected
that certain of the property management service under the
Controlling Shareholder’s Business could be split out in first
quarter of year 2026. The Group will continue to discuss with
the Controlling Shareholder regarding the appropriate ways
for expansion of the Group’s Property Management Business.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 2.1 &M EHRERMNEEEE @)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
(iii) Continuous financial support from related (i) BAEFNFHFEMBEIE
parties
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a revolving loan AR AHRF=RA=1+—H K&
facility of HK$2,000,000,000 with interest rate at 5% per EHEHEREREZEGNRQEM
annum, which was granted by a company controlled by the FHIBERERHREE2,000,000,000
Controlling Shareholder that will expire in December 2025. BT BENE5%t B W
The facility amount remained unutilised as at 31 March 2025. ETHRFE+ZRAEH-RZZE R
In June 2025, the Group entered into a new loan agreement FZA=1+—H ZHETHREHX
regarding a revolving loan facility agreement with a related FH-R_E_AF/, B KEH
party controlled by the Controlling Shareholder, Jinsheng Bl — L R AR R SRR 5
International Group (BVI) Limited (& B EIMREE CEBAR ERERER (RBETRED)
RELE) BFEAB)in relation to an unsecured loan facility in BERABIMERIFERMES
the total principal amount of HK$2,000,000,000 at an interest B R &= 42%82,000,000,00074 7T *
rate of 5% per annum, and such revolving loan facility will FHESURNBIRERHBEHZED
start in January 2026 and will be due to repay in December MEME ZBEREARERBR
2027. TECRE-RBARIERN-E
TtHFE+ZARHEEER.
In addition to obtaining financial support from related parties, PRIEEVEAE 5 VI 52 1R SN A&
the Group has also been engaged in negotiations with BT E N L R AE T R E L
different financial institutions regarding financing arrangement METHETER U RFAEE
to support the Group’s operations. In particular, the Group EECNRESHEINE  ~&EE
has continued discussions with Huaxia Bank, and also MESRTHERTERS LR
commenced discussions with another commercial bank in the ETHRFMAHBEPEAMS
PRC in April 2025. The discussions mainly cover the financing —REEIRITTRAER - BRI ®
arrangements to support the Group’s operations, with an aim FTERESRAEREE ME
to obtain fundings to resume the Qinhuangdao Project. As at ZH BT ENREEUERRES
the date of this Report, such discussions were still on-going. EH HEAREEE ZEES
TTEETH

Both the Company and the Controlling Shareholder consider KRB RERKREERA ERE
that the resumption of the Qinhuangdao Project would be EEHEBRFANEAERNF
prioritised as one of the most critical parts for improving the MRz EEERE T - AR7IE
financial position of the Group. The Company understand R-EEENREEEE HER
that the financial support from the Controlling Shareholder EERKRREREMESREE 2B
and other financial institutions would only be realised if the BZEo-M LR AEBE—BER
resumption of the Qinhuangdao Project could be achieved. MRS EMEEEEBE Z&&ER
As mentioned above, the Group has also been actively THZE W HEHELTHEE
exploring different possibilities to resume the Qinhuangdao SRS RITER

Project, and will continue to discuss with different financial
institutions regarding the financing arrangement.
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

(iv) Exploring other investment opportunities

In addition to the continuous development of the existing
businesses, the Group had been actively exploring other
investment opportunities to expand its businesses,
including but not limited to potential opportunities in the
PRC as well as in Southeast Asia with businesses relating
to property development and/or upstream or downstream
businesses. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the
Group had explored more than five potential targets, including
businesses in the PRC and Southeast Asia. The Group had
performed preliminary due diligence on all of the potential
targets, and had engaged in negotiations on key terms of the
possible investment (such as valuation, consideration and
payment methods (shares issuance), management and board
composition and profit guarantee etc.) after the preliminary
due diligence process. As at the date of this Report, the
Group was still exploring its investment opportunities and no
legally binding agreements had been entered into with the
aforesaid potential targets.

(v) Cost control

The Group had and would continue to take appropriate
measures to control administrative costs, including but
not limited to reducing headcounts, reduction in marketing
expenses, water and electricity and travelling expenses.

The directors of the Company believe that, after taking into account
the above plans and measures, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to satisfy its present requirements for the year
ending 31 March 2026.

Notwithstanding the above, given the volatility of the property sector
in the PRC and the uncertainties to obtain continuous support
from the related parties and the Group’s contractors/creditors, the
directors of the Company consider that significant uncertainties
exist as to whether the Group will be able to achieve its plans and
measures as described above.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above mentioned plans
and measures, the Group may be unable to operate as a going
concern, in which case adjustments might have to be made to
the carrying values of the Group’s assets to state them at their
realisable values, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify its non-current assets and non-current
liabilities to current assets and current liabilities, respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature
— Dependent Electricity?

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume
112

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements®

| Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments to
HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

2.2 ERAMEIREIETIERBMT

WEZERTHER

B HB A B s oK JE R BYHR T B 442
B AMBREERNGSTER

A B30 R AT AE AL T AR B 1
IR T RASEET B B RS A

TR

ERAMBREEA SRMIRZNER
FORRBEHRT HR-PACHE
REER BT
CHES)

BEEMBREEN REBEHBENT
FIORREBES WREARZHY

Z0|%528% BEHER IR
CHES)

BEEMBREEN  ISREBEALRLE
FORRBEHRT BHHER?
REER BT
CHES)

BEEMBREEN BEMBRSEL
SR (B5T4)  EHEREERE

—-F1142
EBHEHERENYE BRTURBMN
CHEY
ERMBREEDN  HERRZEIER
$18%% HES
' R-E-_RFE—A—HREBMEEAEN
FEHR LW
2 RIZE-XE—A—HRZBEEY
FEEHRRE N o
8 RIZE-+tF—A—HREBEEBEY
FEHR LW
4 KT HER > B BB FE S
o

BRI ] REEESTE BB
HEZEA G RN ARATEFRE
HEBREEMKEI REEITEB
MBRESEGFAENER BAER
ARRARHGEEFHFRREMEN

=
FEo



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
EE I EERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HEZZ_HAF="RB=+—HIFE

2.2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in
financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provides disclosures on
management defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improves aggregation and disaggregation
of information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In
addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statements of Cash
Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18 and amendments to other standards will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard is
expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group is in
the process of assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXESBERER

INFORMATION
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EREFHEEN &
INFORMATION (continued)
Business combinations EBEH
Businesses combinations are accounted for by applying the ERESHERBWRBEIAR NERES
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business HREZE  AERATFESE A
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the BAEBREEEENWEBRRZ
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by NEBEB-AEEHBWE S 2AER
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners ANEEZEBBRAEEZBEE I
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in BErhzEGIEMmMET 2 RA#ERE
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs BAEH AETERAHMEEZK
incurred to effect a business combination are recognised in profit or BHEBARARELRRIBRER -

loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the FrE oAl EERFIREZE
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that: ERWEBBREATERS  ETI
BRI
o deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the assets . XBEaHMKBEZ2EERDE
acquired and liabilities assumed in the business combination AEZEBEEEZREERES
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 EXEERESEGTENSE
Income Taxes; 1258 iR TERR R ET 2 5
e assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee benefit e HWWEAFEERMNZHEMRM
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance CTEENEBRESAGITE
with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits; BIEB195% 1B 5 48 7/ W 88 & &t
=,
e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based e HWWEARZURMAERN
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement MRBEUEREBRBZURD A
of the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with EROAISNAHEWBES 2
the share-based payment transactions of the Group are UERMAERSRRZERZ
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based BEIARATERESENS
Payment at the acquisition date; and WEENF2RUKR G BEL

ARWEBHEE S &
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXREHEEHR @

INFORMATION (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

° assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held-for-
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held-
for-sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

o Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments as if the acquired lease was a new
lease at the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date;
or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets
are measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the
lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXEHERER @

INFORMATION (continued)
Goodwill

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash generating unit (the “CGU”) (or groups
of CGU) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is indication that
the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount of the CGU is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro rate basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwiill
is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXREHEEHR @

INFORMATION (continued)
Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of an associate used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after
reassessment, is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXEHERER @

INFORMATION (continued)

Investment in an associate (continued)

The requirements of HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets are applied
to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment
loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group (such
as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate that are not related to the Group.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXEHEREHR @

INFORMATION (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms
and 20% to 25%

15% to 33 /5%
15% to 20%
20% to 25%

Office equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXEHERER @

INFORMATION (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction for
such purposes).

Owned investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair values.
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

If an item of prepaid land lease payments becomes an investment
property when there is a change in use, as evidenced by end of
owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount
and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in properties
revaluation reserve. The properties revaluation reserve in respect of
that item will be transferred directly to retained earnings when it is
derecognised.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

REWE
REMEEFFRENES R RF
BEAREZYE (BEASILENZE
BYE) -

BERREVENIERAE (BIEF
BB X) 5t 8 o 190 1a i
B REMEBRRATEFE-KEY
XAV EEIFELEZEBBRE
EHIRE St AR a o

EERREMEMELEZRENLG
BEXRC FRERRENESMNIRE
Ee

REMEDNELERAERED *
KARNBERBREHLENELT
FEERRGEH m B IEFESD - & IE
BRUZMERELEZEMED (EH
EMSMEFERZEEZREE
ZEBESB) STARYERLESH
BZEmEA -

HWEMLTHMEBERRBREEZ (AT
BHEAEER) MK —EBREY
¥ AZEAFRBEEAZREESA
AFEZERNERE FRAMEE K
mREBRNYEEERFEEP RS &
BRZMEEERER R ERLE
R EREBAREEF

HE

HEZES
REEBUHFREERFE165E
BHNETEGRER-—BREEBRNER
BRI BEEUBREAE IZEGOB
REBEZHEE-



Richly Field China Development Limited  Annual Report 2025

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_S_RFE-RA=+—HIEE

2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXREHEEHR @

INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability
with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option) and leases of low value assets. For
these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are
consumed.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement date and any initial direct costs, less lease
incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for
costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, provision is
recognised and measured under HKAS 37 Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets. The costs are included in the
related right-of-use assets, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and
useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the
commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee (continued)

Lease liability

At the commencement date, the Group recognises and measures
lease liability at the present value of the lease payments that are
not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability
comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

° the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect
to some of its investment properties. Leases for which the Group
is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessor (continued)

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers to allocate the consideration under the contract to each
component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred
in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term except for investment properties
measured at fair value model.

Variable lease payments for operating leases that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value and comprise construction costs, borrowing
costs, professional fees, payments for land use rights and other
costs directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the presale
of properties under development prior to completion of the
development are included in current liabilities as contract liabilities.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
as the construction period of the relevant property development
project is expected to complete within the normal operating
cycle. On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sales.

Completed properties held for sales

Completed properties held for sales are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an apportionment of
the total land and buildings costs attributable to unsold properties.
Net realisable value is estimated by the directors based on the
prevailing market prices, on an individual property basis.

Sales deposits and instalments received in respect of the presale of
completed properties held for sales are included in current liabilities
as contract liabilities.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets other than goodwill (see
the accounting policy in respect of goodwill
above)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

A financial asset and a financial liability is offset and the net amount
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when,
and only when the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified,
at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost,
fair value through other comprehensive income (‘FVTOCI”) and
FVTPL.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cashflow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. The Group’s financial
assets are classified as financial assets at amortised cost and
FVTOCI.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit-impaired on
initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected life of the
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method (continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the
financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the
“Other income, gains and losses” line item.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election
(on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments
in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is
not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (continued)

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured
at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of
the equity investments, instead, they will be transferred to retained
earnings.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of expected credit losses is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The expected credit losses are estimated using collective
assessment after considering internal credit ratings of debtors,
aging, repayment history and/or past due status of respective trade
receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for supportable forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt financial is determined to have low credit risk
at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default,
i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and ii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when the asset has external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally
understood definition.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

23 EXEFHEER @

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor;
or

o information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXEHERER @

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over two to three years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the
assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXREHEEHR @

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised
cost of a financial liability.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXEHERER @

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Classification as debt or equity (continueq)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits
required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXEHHERER @

INFORMATION (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘loss before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXEHERER @

INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through
sale. If the presumption is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for such investment properties are measured in
accordance with the general principles above.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, tax effect is included in the accounting for
the business combination.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes
requirements the lease liabilities and the related assets separately.
The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised
and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on
a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.
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INFORMATION (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach
to revenue recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° The Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXREHEEHR @

INFORMATION (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer, excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties, discounts and sales related taxes.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

Sales of properties

For property development and sales contracts for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point in time, revenue is
recognised when the customer obtains the physical possession or
the legal title of the completed property and the Group has present
right to payment and the collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group typically receives 20% to 100% of the contract value
as deposits from the customers when they sign the sales and
purchase agreements, giving rise to a contract liability until the
customer obtains control of the property units.
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INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time value
of money if the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or
implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing is explicitly
stated in the contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by
the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payments and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price
for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for
the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. This interest accrual increases
the amount of the contract liability during the period between the
advance payments received and the transfer of the associated
goods and services, and therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the goods and services is transferred to
customers. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it is eligible
to be capitalised under HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. The Group
recognises such costs (i.e. sales commissions) as an asset if it
expects to recover these costs.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or loss
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the assets relate.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXEHHERER @

INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Contract costs (continued)

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the contract
cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of consideration
that the Group expects to receive in exchange for the goods or
services to which the asset relates, less (i) any costs that relate
directly to providing those goods or services that have not yet been
recognised as expenses.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one year.

Property management services

For property management services contracts, the Group recognises
revenue equal to the right to invoice amount when it corresponds
directly with the value to the customer of the Group’s performance
to date, on a monthly basis. The Group has elected the practical
expedient for not to disclose the remaining performance obligations
for these types of contracts. The majority of the property
management service contracts do not have a fixed term.

Car parking fee income

For car parking fee income, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the Group has rendered the car parking services to the
customers.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS Accounting
Standards requires permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of
an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXEHERER @

INFORMATION (continued)
Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
the PRC are required to participate in central pension schemes
operated by the local municipal governments. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension schemes. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the central pension schemes.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company'’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.3 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 23 EXEHEREHR @
INFORMATION (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued) ShIE (&)
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost DN EBEMMBEEER AT EZ
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the FEREERIRXRZEBZEXHKR
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at Ho N ABBAMELAFESEZ
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange FERER KEEAFEEBZE
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or ERB - BMEBRATEFEZIFET
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair HEMELZ ZWHNBEEHEZIA
value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on BEx AT EEMER 2 W mE
change in fair value of the item. BzBEEBE -
The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and HTEIINE AR KREE QB IE
associates are currencies other than the HK$. As at the end of UEBTANEEBE NRIREHAR Z
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these foreign ERINEB2EEREBBEERENRS
operations are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates prevailing MRZIBITEXBRBEABE T MEZSE
at the end of the reporting period and, their statements of profit or BN EB 2ETREM2E KR AR
loss and other comprehensive income are translated into HK$ at RAUEZFEZFHEXREAB
the average exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange TLoFMESXZEREBEAREMEE
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and WS TRERBEERT P E
accumulated in the exchange translation reserve. On disposal of a EBINEBRFE BEAZBET/INET
foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income zEM2EKEEYRNEEeER R
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the HthemEmKmBERER -
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and ERRKNESIETEE 2 EER
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and TRAMKEELA 2EERBEZR
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of HEETZAFTERAERRABI
the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate. EBEEREBEREEEESXE

THhE-

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, MEHEERERERMS » BINE
frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are BRAEKRBHIRZ2IRERERERN

translated into HK$ at the average exchange rates for the year. ZHEHEEREABTT
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 2.3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made
in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that the directors of the Company have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
consolidated financial statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumptions involves making
judgements by the management, at a particular point of time, about
the future outcome of events or conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The conditions set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of a significant
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concerns and therefore, the directors
of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projections
in the next twelve months taking into account the major events or
conditions which may give rise to business risks and concluded
that the Group has the ability to continue as a going concern.
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the investment
property portfolio of the Group and concluded that all of the
investment properties are held under a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore,
the directors of the Company have determined that the “sale”
presumption set out in the amendments to HKAS 12 is rebutted.
As a result, the Group has recognised the deferred tax on changes
in fair value of investment properties on the basis that the Group is
subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sales
Properties under development and completed properties held for
sales are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling price less
selling expenses and the estimated cost of completion, which were
derived at after considering recent local economic developments,
recent sales transactions, recent construction costs of the Group
and other similar properties in the surrounding areas and internally
available information.
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Determination of net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sales
(continued)

The Group’s management reviews the properties under
development and completed properties held for sales periodically
and carries out an impairment review on a project-by-project basis
at each financial year end. The budget cost and development
progress of the project is reviewed by the Group on a regular
basis and adjusted as appropriate. Where there is any decrease
in the estimated selling price or increase in estimated construction
cost arising from any change in local economic or property
market conditions, there may be written down on the properties
under development and completed properties held for sales.
As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of properties
under development and completed properties held for sales
are approximately HK$651,530,000 (2024: HK$714,506,000)
and HK$73,184,000 (2024: HK$1,613,000), respectively. No
impairment loss of completed properties held for sales and
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properties under development was recognised during both years. MEEIFFEE 2R IYMERE
BYMEZRERBE-
Valuation of investment properties KREMEMLE

Investment properties, including those completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction, are
carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at
their fair value, details of which are disclosed in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements. The fair value of the investment
properties was determined by reference to valuations conducted

REVE (BREERIREVERTE
BREYE) RAQATERREYH
MAKRAIER HFBREGHMBR
KWEIGHBE - REWEZAFE
DBE2EBUCERGEMERYE
HEEIHZEMEETZAEEE

on these properties by an independent qualified valuer using 3213 ERESRNEEMBERETK
property valuation techniques which involve certain assumptions Iz ETHRE B AR
and inputs as set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial EZ#fEx ZENHRFECAEE

statements. Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the Group’s
investment properties included in the consolidated statement of
financial position and corresponding adjustments to the changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. As at 31 March 2025,
the carrying amount of investment properties was approximately
HK$469,568,000 (2024: HK$513,305,000).
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3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires the determination of the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the goodwill is allocated. The
recoverable amount is the higher of value-in-use and fair value less
costs of disposals. Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
CGU and apply a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or changes in facts and circumstances which results
in downward revision of future cash flows, a material impairment
loss may arise. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2025
was approximately HK$108,425,000 (2024: HK$105,458,000).
Details of which are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Current tax and deferred tax assets

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications
of transactions, files tax reports and makes tax provision in
accordance with the prevailing tax regulations and prescribed
time frame. However, the implementation of tax varies amongst
different tax jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and the
Group had not yet finalised certain calculations with local tax
authorities. Judgement is required in determining the Group’s
provision for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the periods in which such determination is made. The
carrying amount of income tax payable, carried as a liability in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025
was approximately HK$95,539,000 (2024: HK$96,693,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Current tax and deferred tax assets (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 March
2025 was approximately HK$444,022,000 (2024: approximately
HK$379,512,000). Details of which are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has two major property development and investment
projects, namely the project in Qinhuangdao City of Hebei Province
(the “Qinhuangdao Project”) and Yinchuan City of Ningxia Province
(the “Yinchuan Project”) in the PRC. The Group also operates
the property management business in Yinchuan City, Wuhan
City and Hohhot City in the PRC. The chief executive officer (the
chief operating decision maker) makes decisions about resources
allocation and assesses performance of the Group based on the
operating results and financial position of the Group as a whole,
as the Group’s resources are integrated and no other discrete
operating segment information is provided to the chief operation
decision maker. As such, no segment information is presented.

Accordingly, the chief executive officer is of the opinion that the
property development projects, property investment and provision
of property management services in the PRC is a single reportable
operating segment of the Group.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is derived solely
from its operations in the PRC, and all non-current assets (other
than financial assets and deferred tax assets) of the Group are
substantially located in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had no
transactions with external customer which individually contributed
over 10% to the Group’s total revenue (2024: nil).
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5. REVENUE 5. Y=
() Disaggregation of revenue from contracts () REBEFREHNZWZAR
with customers
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: AEEBWR@mZAWMWT :
2025 2024
—E"RE —ET O
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FHET
Sales of properties YIEHE 86,970 3,332
Management fee income BEEWA 27,123 20,471
Car parking fee income FEEHEIRA 2,122 1,441
Total revenue from contracts with BEESHWERLEEE
customers 116,215 25,244
Rental income for investment properties & &THEE FNIEEYE
under operating lease B UA
— Lease payments that are fixed or —EEER S LEX
depend on an index or a rate ZHEMIAE 6,965 6,677
123,180 31,921
2025 2024
“ERE —E U4
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET TFHET
Timing of revenue recognition W 2 1 B0 R P
At a point in time PR 89,092 4,773
Over time B BF ] 27,123 20,471
Total revenue from contracts R AHWmAEEE

with customers 116,215 25,244
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5.

REVENUE (continued)

(i)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Sales of properties

Taking into consideration of the relevant contract terms, the
legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the Group
concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant properties
to customers. Revenue from sales of properties is therefore
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
the physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group receives 20% to 100% of the contract value
as deposits from customers when they sign the sale and
purchase agreement. Such advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the property
construction period.

Property management services

For property management services income from properties
managed, where the Group acts as principal and is primary
responsible for providing the property management services
to property owners. As property owners simultaneously
receive and consume the benefit provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs, the Group recognises
the fee received or receivable from property owned as its
revenue over time and all related property management costs
as its cost of services. The property management service fees
are billed to the tenants monthly.

Car parking fee income

For car parking fee over, revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the Group has rendered the car parking services to
the customers.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
HEZZ-HAF="B=1+—HIFE

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations the Group (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as
at 31 March 2025 and the expected timing of recognising

5. REVENUE (continued) 5. W= @)
(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining (i) REEFRTENBETZRS
performance obligations 8

NEE_SE_AE=RA=+—
HEAEBWNG TENSE (RE
BRI ER D REM) R ZERE

revenue are as follows: BN EBITERRREWT -
2025 2024
“ERE —E U4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Within one year —FRN 66,014 60,083
More than one year but not more B —F B EBEmE
than two years - 64,412
Total revenue from contracts BEREHWRLEEE
with customers 66,014 124,495

Contracts for property management services are typically
have a one to five years non-cancellable term in which
the Group bills a fixed amount for each month of service
provided. The Group elected to apply the practical expedient
by recognising revenue in the amount to which the Group
has right to invoice. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.

MEEERBEOBHR—&
m—ELE AR KE
ERSRRHENREREERE
THEMNRE-AEEEERA
BERBER L REEEAE
MAEZEZNEEETIA U
ERBMBRESERFI55KFTE
FoNoEERFRABHNGHON

REBULERE-

6. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 6. HMUTA -~ Um Kk EE
2025 2024
“E-RHE b= is e 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Interest income on bank deposits IRTTIEF B YA 43 87
Net exchange gain BE $o Uk 3 3 2 68 1
Remeasurement loss on discounted FEW BT B A B FUERLIR
present value of amounts due from REZEWMIEFHIE
Former Subsidiaries (defined as Note) (E&RWH) - (39,787)
Others Hh 207 124

318 (39,575)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
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6. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES (continued)

Note: The amount represented loss recognised from remeasurement on
discounted present value of amounts due from the Group’s former
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries, including 5155+ FHER4F 3R HT B ¥
AIR/AE] (Hunan Richly Field Outlets Real Estate Limited®), £/0#
BRI 2EEAMRAT (Changsha Yutian Outlets Business
Administration Co Ltd*) and RV HHARZKYESIEFRLE
(Changsha Yutian Outlets Property Management Co Ltd*) (collectively
known as “Former Subsidiaries”) during the year ended 31 March 2024,
as the directors of the Company considered that the settiement of the
amounts due from Former Subsidiaries were expected to be delayed up
to 31 December 2027.

For identification purpose only

7. FINANCE COSTS

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

HMAMUWA -~ hm KR EE @

MisE S BIEHE S _ME=HA=+—
HIEFEREM SR KREERFRD
ErENBAS (BE#mBAHRS
RFEEXFRRAT -ROAHEFR
HEEEEFRAD KRV HHRERK
MEEERRLT) HBRIHRER
Bl)) AR EMREEBE
RABERBDEZDHBRAMME R
BAMENGEERRSEEE_T &
F+RB=+—H-

* EH#5

MEEHR

An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: AEBEBZREERSWUT :
2025 2024
—EARE —EPNE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FET
Interest on other borrowings HMERF B 8,231 18,147
Interest on construction payables FEAT TRERF B 8,293 1,998
Interest on amounts due to related parties FE{T RA B 75 = IEF B 20,765 19,915
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGHE 379 158
37,668 40,218

No borrowing costs were capitalised during both years.

RREFE IEERRAEAR-



Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2025

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HEZZ-HAF="B=1+—HIFE

8. LOSS BEFORE TAX 8. M&¥EIEIE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging: AEEFRRABEESNETIRZIE
2025 2024
—EZRE —E U4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
(@) Staff costs (including directors’ @ BImE (EFEEEHE :
emoluments):
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMET 17,684 19,335
Contributions to defined contribution REMFCRAET B
retirement plans 2,964 2,818
20,648 22,153
(b)  Other items: b) HfhiEE :
Cost of properties recognised as DA 2 YA
expenses” 72,498 3,016
Depreciation of property, ME--BEREEITE
plant and equipment 234 454
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 14,453 14,426
Auditors’ remuneration ZE M & 960 960
Direct operating expenses incurred for REREERSIWAR
investment properties that generated KREMEMESXZ
rental income during the year* BEEKERS 4,413 5,218
# This amount is included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of # Zeirt AR BER REMEE KRG

profit or loss and other comprehensive income. MR THEMASIA
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and Section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation,
are as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2025

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

EFRITEESZMNE

REHZFES EMHE (TEHR
1) REBRBEMERE383(1)KE K
NE HEBEESMNRZEN) KF H23
WEZEERITHREZEFNEN W
T

BE_E_AF=B=+—HLtHE
E

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings

RHEES (FRBLAARENBAR) REAARENESNRBRZHE

Salaries, Employer's
allowances contributions
and to defined
benefits in contribution Total
Fees kind retirement plans remuneration
REM]
e Mk BARHEZ
e BWRE BEMZR et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FTERT FERT TET
Chief executive and executive director: TEESERYTES .
Mr. Li Yi Feng FEEE 850 - 18 868
Executive director: HTEE:
Mr. Chen Wei BELE 874 - 9 883
1,724 - 27 1,751
Independent non-executive directors: BUFRTES !
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen HEHLT 199 - - 199
Mr. Wong Chi Hong Wiliam BYREE 199 - - 199
Mr. Xu Jinghong FERLE 199 - - 199
597 - - 597
2,321 - 27 2,348
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EFERITHEHZZME @
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024 BHE_ZT_NE=F=+—HLHE
=

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services
as a director, whether of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings

RHEES (FRBAATRENBAT) REEARBMEZARB R HE

Salaries, Employer’s
allowances contributions
and to defined
benefits in contribution Total
Fees kind retirement plans remuneration
REMR
e iR BIRETEIZ
ik BWHE BEMHR S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TERT TET TET
Chief executive and executive director: TEERFRYPTES .
Mr. Li Yi Feng FERE 847 - 18 865
Executive director: HITEE:
Mr. Chen Wei BRELE 880 - - 880
1,727 - 18 1,745
Independent non-executive directors: BUEHTES !
Ms. Hsu Wai Man Helen HEHEL 199 - - 199
Mr. Wong Chi Hong Wiliam BTELE 199 - - 199
Mr. Xu Jinghong HEBRLE 199 - - 199
597 - - 597

2,324 - 18 2,342
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10. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 10. {E & i
Of the individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, RAEERSHFMALTE+R 8 E K
two were directors and the chief executive (2024: two) of the NEMBEERTERERE (Z
Company whose remuneration are included in the disclosures in Fm%)  HMER J:flﬁﬁffglﬁqﬁ
note 9 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2024: three) BE-HBp=—-% (CTE2E-mE:=Z£4) A
individuals were as follows: TZEBWT
2025 2024
—EZRE “ETEF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R KRB E 2,079 2,246
Employer’s contributions to defined REMIRAKEBI 2 BEHNR
contribution retirement plans 54 36
21&8 2,282
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid OB NI EE s IEEE RIFTTH
employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is as WBzmeTHEEZ ABUWT
follows:
No. of employee
BEEAZ
2025 2024
Nil to HK$500,000 E 500,000 7T 1 -
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 500,00178 75 21,000,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 752 1,500,00078 75 - 1
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors of the FPREFERE AEBTER AR
Company or five highest paid employees of the Group as an BN EEXNAER RS TS & M
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation BELZNME  EAMAERMAZ

for loss of office for both years. EEECRE NIFARBER EE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_S_RFE-RA=+—HIEE

11.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in Bermuda.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
subsidiaries registered in the PRC is 25% (2024: 25%).

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the year
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 as the Group did not generate any
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during both years.

Land appreciation tax in the PRC is levied on properties developed
by the Group for sale, at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, which under the applicable
regulations is calculated based on the proceeds of sales of
properties less deductible expenditures including cost of land use
rights, borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

11. FRIERIER

BEARERKER  AEEHBA
BMERNBEREMSR

RIFEFPECEMESRLE (TREFFRE
Mt REEMBREIBTHEG
RHEEMZHB AR ZRER25%
(ZZE_UEFE 1 25%) °

HRAEERMEFERBETES S
i E AR ERR R FE IRt
HE_ZT_AFRZE-NFE=4
—t+—HIEFEFEZFBAESRTIR
B

PEZ LB ERDDLEEERER
RHEZME AL HZAEBUR
EMREI0%ECONE W > HTHIRIEE
BRENLEMEMSRELNRA
HRMAX (BE LM ERRRAE &
EfTRFIENEZERMAX StERF
¢ o

2025 2024
—EZRE B PUE
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
N FHET FHET

The taxation (charge) credit comprises: 318 (Fsk) K B14E :

Current tax: BIHAFR IS !

PRC Enterprise Income Tax e TR (1,275) (96)
Deferred tax credit IRIERIBIE R 29 3,321 2,784
Taxation credit for the year KEERIBK R 2,046 2,688
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BE_ZHF=-A=+—HIHFE

1. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 11. FRISRIER @
The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss AKFEEZMEREBEREFGEER R
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other HttemhamsRkRx 2 BRRaIEIEY
comprehensive income as follows: R
2025 2024
—ERE “ETOF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Loss before tax PRI AR5 1E (252,969) (224,950)
Tax at the applicable tax rates ERERE ’%Jr%:ZﬁIE (62,330) (55,245)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BEZRBAZRBZE (10) (5,547)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AEHRF S 2 RS r & 5,287 14,407
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences < F&57 Z_HEI HERERE
not recognised MR 27,317 22,004
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERZMBEBEZMB R 27,719 21,703
Others Hh (29) (10)
Income tax credit for the year KEEZERIER (2,046) (2,688)
At 31 March 2025, the Group has tax losses arising in the PRC W _E_HREFE=ZA=Z+—H>
of approximately HK$444,022,000 (equivalent to approximately rEBBPREHELER IE &5 18 4
RMB409,765,000) (2024: HK$379,512,000 (equivalent to 444,022,0008 T (BEROAERE
approximately RMB299,208,000)) that will expire in one to five years #%409,765,0005T) (ZEZMHEF .
for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have 379,512,000t (HEROARE
not been recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen 299,208,0007)) "R —ERAER
in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is [EmMU B IEIR R R ERR AR o B
not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against NZEFEREREHEE —KRED
which the tax losses can be utilised. ZHBRBESE  WLBAT KA

FERM A AT IR AR 18 > B
BEMZFEREERNELEREEE -
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12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BRREIE
(a) Basic loss per share (@ BRELEE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the CEARE BT IE T 8UE S
following data =
2025 2024
ZEZEHEF “EmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss attributable to owners RABER ANEILEIE
of the Company (249,747) (222,262)
2025 2024
ZEZREF —Z2ImF
(restated)
(Ges==l)
Number of ordinary shares (basic) ZERHE EX) 1,166,834,362  1,166,834,362
The number of ordinary shares in issue for the year ended 31 HE_Z-_NF=A=+—H
March 2024 has been adjusted retrospectively to reflect the TETFEZEZETZEREEDS
share consolidation completed on 17 January 2025. KBWRHAE URMRKR ZZZ
AFE—A+tHERZER®DE
fif o
(o) Diluted loss per share (b) =ERIEEEE
No diluted loss per share were presented as there were no HRrmMEFERBTIEETE
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years. BEBR OB UTEREINESREEES
B o
13. DIVIDENDS 13. HQE\
No dividend was paid or proposed for the ordinary shareholders of IS —EHEF=ZA=1+—H1t
the company during the year ended 31 March 2025, nor has any FE> iltiﬂt [ AR B EE R R R K%
dividend been declared since the end of the reporting period (2024: FEIKKRE O MBRSHARETRE

nil). RKEMKRE (ZTE-ME: #) o
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ME-BERXME
Leasehold Office Furniture Motor
improvements equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
g &
S WARE EEEE HE st
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mzt TR TR TR TER TR
31 March 2025 ZEZR%=A=1+-H
At 1 April 2024: RZE_NENE-H:
Cost WA 4,283 2,924 2,222 3,570 12,949
Acoumulated depreciation RTE (4,289) (2,839) (1,772) (3,368) (12,212)
Net carrying amount REZE - 85 450 202 737
At 1 Aprll 2024, net of RIE-MERE-R>
accumulated depreciation IRETE - 85 450 202 737
Additions RE - 193 - - 193
Depreciation provided FRITERE
during the year - (126) 23) (85) (234)
Exchange realignment ERHX = @ @ @ (12)
At 31 March 2025, net of RIEZRE=A=1+-B
accumulated depreciation IRETE - 150 49 115 684
At 31 March 2025: RIZZRFZA=+-A:
Cost S 4,233 3,058 2,229 3,513 13,033
Accumulated depreciation FEHTE (4,233) (2,908) (1,810) (3,398) (12,349)

Net carrying amount REFE - 150 419 115 684
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 14. ¥ -BERZRE @

Leasehold Office Fumniture Motor
improvements equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
fE HR
ES WARE ElE%E RE st
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mgk TEn T TR TiEx FAT
31 March 2024 —E_mE=R=+-H
A 1 Aprl 2023; RIE-ZEMA-R:
Cost [N 4,233 2,904 2,247 3,668 13,052
Accumulated depreciation RTE (4,233 (2,749) (1,688) (3,346) (12,016)
Net carrying amount REFE - 155 559 322 1,036
At 1 April 2023, net of RIEZ=FRA-B
accumulated depreciation IREME - 155 559 322 1,036
Additions RE - 76 1 16 93
Acquisttions of subsidlaries WEHBAR 30 - 42 52 - 94
Depreciation provided FRNERE
during the year - (184) (143) (127) (454)
Exchange realignment ERHE - @ (19) 9 (32)
At 31 March 2024, net of RIZEZME=A=+-H>
accumulated depreciation IBREME - 85 450 202 737
At 31 March 2024: RZB-MEZA=+-R:
Cost IS 4,233 2,924 2,222 3,570 12,949
Accumulated depreciation FEHNE (4,239) (2,839 (1,772) (3,368) (12,212)
Net carrying amount REFE - 85 450 202 737
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. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

15. IR EYE

Under
Completed construction Total
BE%EM T2 Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FET
FAIR VALUE ATE
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FMA—H 317,276 278,378 595,654
Decrease in fair value recognised BRPEEZ A EE/RLD
in profit or loss (11,092) (51,866) (62,958)
Exchange realignment ERAE (10,724) (8,667) (19,391)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 s _@E B=+—H
R_ZEZWFEMA—H 295,460 217,845 513,305
Decrease in fair value recognised BRPEEZ A FERLD
in profit or loss (22,688) (12,332) (35,020
Exchange realignment R (4,995) (3,722) (8,717)
At 31 March 2025 RIZ2-HF=A=+—H 267,777 201,791 469,568

All of the Group’s investment properties are situated in the PRC.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2025 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on
that date by Masterpiece Valuation Advisory Limited (2024: Avista
Valuation Advisory Limited), independent qualified professional
valuers not connected with the Group.

For completed investment properties, the fair value was determined
by reference to capitalised income to be derived from the properties
tenancies and the reversionary income potential of the properties.

For investment properties under construction, the fair value
was determined by reference to the current or recent prices
of the properties and estimated costs to completion based
on construction budget, committed contracts, allowances for
contingencies as well as developer’s profit margin, which reflect
the risks associated with the completion of the development of
the properties and in achieving the anticipated income a capital
appreciation on the date of valuation.

AEBZRBEREYEHMUNRPE -

KEBEBREMER_ZS_HF=A
—+—BZRAFEDBUENFHE
HERAS (ZE_ME: W EBTH
BHBR2E) (E—iziiﬁllﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂ
ZEBIUIAGEREXMGEM) Rz d
TzhEAEEMER-

MERTIREVEMS  AFENLZ
EYEHEELENELTCHRARY
ENBETERBAETE-

MERKRENEMS A FEDHSZSE
MENER NAHMERURIREE
ERE-AEGH BIIFHBER
MEBANBRFHAMGS R IRA
BE ZERBREEDREYER
BRI REDRFEHBRAXNELREE
R B R o
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. REME @)
Details of valuation techniques and assumptions are discussed HELHERBRFEBER TXE@m R
below. In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and FEMEZLAFER ZYMEZES
best use of the property is its current use. EREFERBAFANLEFZEFERAR -
An analysis of the Group’s investment properties that are measured KEBEBRYVERIEBEAFLESE
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value grouped into fair AR ¥R A B 5= B B A B 1 B
value hierarchy level 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to ZREESALFEERE=ZH 2%
fair value measurement is observable and the information about BEWMEZDMURE BN ER(GE
how the valuation has been reached and the use of significant BERERERFTUBRZHAZEZ
unobservable inputs are as follows: BEEMT
Relationship
Significant Range of of significant
Fair value Fair value as at ~ Valuation technique unobservable unobservable unobservable
hierarchy 31 March 2025  and key inputs inputs inputs inputs to fair value
RZBZLE EXTAHRE FHZ EARTRZHANE
ATEEHR =ZB=t-HZATE REFERIEGAHE HAHE BAHBHEE AATEZER
Commercial investment Level 3 HK$267,777,000 (2024 Income approach Term rent RMB26 (2024: RMB27) per The higher the term rent,
properties (completed) HK$295,460,000) square meter (‘psm’) the higher the fair
value
Market rent RMBA44 (2024 RMB46) psm The higher the market
rent, the higher the fair
value
Term yield 4.75% (2024: 5%) per annum The higher the term
yield, the lower the fair
value
Reversionary yield 5% (2024: 5.5%) per annum The higher the
reversionary yield, the
lower the fair value
BERENE BRI £=R 267,777,000 WA Eifg AE#267 (CBZME: EEsHE
(CBomE: ARHB27D) BTRHR RTEES
295,460,0007%70) G20 )
izt AR (CBINE! fikorii ke =g
AE#B467) 8FAK AHEWS
RlEE §E475% Gl GESIE=g
(CEZME5%) NTEEE
EHhEE §1E5% (CEliGESIEE

(CZZmE:55%) ATEHE
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 15. REWE @

Relationship
Significant Range of of significant
Fair value Fair value as at ~ Valuation technique unobservable unobservable unobservable
hierarchy 31 March 2025  and key inputs inputs inputs inputs to fair value
RIEBZRE EXRTEE FEHE EXTIRREARE
ATEER =ZA=+-HZATE (HEFERIEBABE BAME BAHEER BATEZHAR
Commercial investment Level 3 HK$201,791,000 (2024:  Residual value approach Adjusted market price  2025: RMB10,986 The higher the adjusted
properties HK$217,845,000) of gross development  (2024: RMB11,400 to 11,407) market price, the
(under construction) value psm higher the fair value
Developer's profit 2025: 10% (2024: 15%) The higher the
developer's profit, the
lower the fair value
Marketing costs 2025: 3% (2024: 3%) The higher the marketing
costs, the lower the
fair value
BERENE (T8 B=H 2017910008 HEHEEE BEEEEEN “RTRF I NRH109867 mREmEES
(CB-mE: LBEDE (CBZME: ARB11407 NTEEES
217,845,000/870) EARB40TT) SFAK
BEENE ZRIRE 0% HEwTELS
(ZBZRE 15%) ATEEE
fzlmS “ETREI% EflmSet=g
(CZZIE: 3%) ATEEE
At 31 March 2025, the Group’s investment properties with RN E_FHE=A=+—H K&

carrying amount of approximately HK$201,791,000 (2024:
HK$217,845,000) were pledged to secure certain amounts due to
related parties of the Group and the Group’s investment properties
with carrying amount of approximately HK$145,093,000 (2024:
HK$162,349,000) were pledged to secure certain borrowings of the
Former Subsidiaries. Details are set out in notes 27 and 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EEEEELA201,791,000%E T (=
T _PUFE : 217,845,0008T) 2%
EVMECSEALAERETENBAL
FRBEzZEH RAEEEREEDAELD
145,093,000 (ZE M4 :
162,349,0008 ) 2R EVWEBEE
BB ARG TERZER 15
HNREEH BRI F27 K400
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BE_ZHRF=-RA=+—HUIHFE
16. LEASES
() Right-of-use assets ERESEE
2025 2024
—EHRE —ZET O
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TET FHET
Land T 333,746 352,787
Buildings and car parking facilities BF M(FEHR 9,878 11,343
343,624 364,130

As at 31 March 2025, right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$333,746,000 (2024: HK$352,787,000) represents land
use rights located in the PRC. The land use rights had been
pledged to secure certain amounts due to related parties
of the Group. Details are set out in notes 27 and 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group has lease arrangement for office premise and car
parking facilities. The lease term is ranged from two to ten
years (2024: two to ten years) at fixed rentals without any
extension or termination options.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
entered into a new lease arrangement (2024: two new
lease arrangements) in respect of renting car parking
facilities (2024: office premise and car parking facilities)
and recognised lease liabilities and right-of-use assets of
HK$203,000 (2024: HK$12,315,000).

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 19 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RZE-_AEF=ZRBR=+—H">
ERREE E49333,746,0008 7T
(ZE 4% : 352,787,000
Br) EURN PRz A
ot EREEEARER
ETEMSEB A BEBZER
HEEHN G HRERWE27
40 e

AEBRMAEYEREFEER
el BEHEZH - BENEM
EE+E(CE_NE  MEE
+4) MHeEE B EaeM[
JEHA O AR B E R o

BE_S_AE=ZB=+—H
LtEE AEERBEAEFER
M(ZZ_NE WAYWER
SERM ] —BREE 2 H
:;ﬁ_mi mMEHAE R
B RERIEEaEREREES
E203,0008 T (ZEZHEF .
12,315,000% 75) °©

BEFGHEBHE NG M BER
EKHIFE190
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16. LEASES (continued) 16. A& @)
(i) Lease liabilities iy THE&ARE
2025 2024
ZEZHE —E YL
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FET
Non-current JEBNER 8,880 10,069
Current BPER 1,159 1,320
10,039 11,389
Amounts payable under lease liabilities: HMESBEE TEMNHRIE
2025 2024
“EZRE —Epu4E
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Within one year —FR 1,159 1,320
After one year but within two years —FBEMER 1,082 1,105
After two years but within five years MEBEBREN 3,243 3,189
After five years LF® 4,555 5,775
10,039 11,389
Less: Amounts due for settlement B 12B B AR HBEERIE
within 12 months (1,159) (1,320)
Amounts due for settlement after 128 B & EIHEERARIE
12 months 8,880 10,069
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied BREREEEENMNETES
to lease liabilities ranged from 3.5% to 5.3% (2024: 3.5% to BEGBAMENFI.6%F
5.3%). 53% (ZE_MF :3.5%%

5.3%) °
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16. LEASES (continued) 16. A& @
(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (i) FI8zEFPEESD Z TR
2025 2024
—E"RE —ZET O
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEINE
- Land —ih 12,951 13,299
— Buildings and car parking facilities —EFRIEEXRKE 1,502 1,127
14,453 14,426
Interest on lease liabilities HEaENE 379 158
17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. R E AT Z X
2025 2024
—E-RE “ZTE
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
i FAET FHET
Costs of investments in associates REE AT 2 RENZ - -
Amounts due from associates FEU = A B =IE (a) 83,071 82,371
Share of post-acquisition losses and FEAH U BB R 518 R
other comprehensive expense Hitt2mEAx (49,270) (49,270)
33,801 33,101

Less: Impairment loss recognised A BHESRERE (o) (33,801) (33,101)
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had interests in the
following associates that are not material to the Group:

17. REiE QB 2 Em @

RBERAR  AEBRRUATHEEER
WABRNBEATES #a -

Proportion of nominal value of paid-up

Place of incorporation/ Class of capital by the Group and portion of
Name Form of entity establishment and operation  equity held voting power held indirectly Principal activities
HMAL/ IR fif FEBFIESRBATELA
21 BRrA et et REEEEZRERLA IEEH
2025 2024
k-t 43 ZEImE
Huallai Dayi Winery Company Limited" Limited liability company The PRC Registered 50% 50%  Property
capil development
BRA-EEEREERAT BRELAT il Rl 50% 50% MERE
Globe Qutlet Town (Jiin) Limited* Limited liability company The PRC Registered 42% 42%  Property
capitel development
SHEERAURLITHERAT BRELAT HE R 42% 0% NERE
Jiangxi Globe Outlets Cty Co., Ltd.* Limited liability company The PRC Registered 50% 50%  Property
capital development
IERERALIEMIHERAT ARELAT M SR 50% 50% MEmE
* For identification purposes only * EHER
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually BRAREARMEAB ZGEER .
material:
2025 2024
ZEZRF —EIE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHETT
Aggregate carrying amount of individually FEMBIRERNERFE RS
immaterial associates in the consolidated NEZEGEREE
financial statements - -
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of ZAEBELZEHE AT Z
those associates: BETE%E
Loss for the year FREE = (558)
Total comprehensive expense S HEMAZARE - (558)
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Notes:

(@ Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no
fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
these balances are considered as quasi-equity investments in the
associates.

(b) Globe Outlet Town (Jilin) Limited (“Globe Outlet”) is principally engaged
in a property development project in Changchun, Jiin Province, the
PRC. At 31 March 2025, the Group had a gross amount due from
Globe Outlet of HK$53,599,000 (2024: HK$53,279,000). At 31 March
2025, an aggregate impairment loss on investment in Globe Outlet of
HK$9,668,000 (2024: HK$9,348,000) was recognised.

Jiangxi Globe Outlets City Co., Ltd. (“Jiangxi Outlets”) is principally
engaged in a property development project in Nanchang, Jiangxi
Province, the PRC (the “Jiangxi Outlets Brand Discount City Project”).
At 31 March 2025, the Group had a gross amount due from Jiangxi
Outlets of approximately HK$11,789,000 (2024: HK$11,409,000)
and an aggregate impairment loss on investment in Jiangxi Outlets of
approximately HK$6,450,000 (2024: HK$6,070,000) was recognised as
at 31 March 2025.

Huailai Dayi Winery Company Limited (‘Huailai Dayi”) is principally
engaged in a property development project in Huailai, Hebei Province,
the PRC (the “Huailai Dayi Project”). At 31 March 2025, the Group had
a gross amount due from Huailai Dayi of approximately HK$17,683,000
(2024: HK$17,683,000) and an aggregate impairment loss on investment
in Huailai Dayi of approximately HK$17,683,000 (2024: HK$17,683,000)
was recognised as at 31 March 2025.

17. RS AR 2z

PyEE

(@)

k

/|
My

(/\\ \>

H

¥

FERBERABDRERBER RER
BEEEMM - FREESIR ZF
EEHRAEANBHE AR ZALURER
zéo

EMESRFHRLEIFINHAERA
B (TEMBEIERE)) FERFEES
MERETREYEEREBEE -
E_REZRA=t—H XxEBEE
W E MR B T FRIE 4B 8853,599,000
Bt (ZE PN 53,279,000 7T) ©
A_E_REFE=HA=+—B HER&
EREMBES R HEFEERE
9,668,000/ 7t (ZZ ZPO4F : 9,348,000
BT o

TABSRTAEITIINERAE

(CIFARSHS) FERPEIIA
tHEEmNHEwEERER (NIA
BFRHLEITINRIER)) -RIE
—hE=ZB=t—H FxEEBEREWK
I 75 B SR T AR T 4R BE 411,789,000/
7T (ZZ M4 11,409,000 75) » i
ER_ZE_HAF=-A=+—HHEIK
BRI RBES R BEBEEEY
6,450,00078 75 (—Z — PO 4E : 6,070,000
BT o

BEAR—BEHETEBRAR (MEE
AK—1) TBERPEAIL R ERRSE
MERREE (MBRA—EE]) P
—E_RAE=A=+—H Xx&EEB
JE I 138 2l K — R T AR BB 49 17,683,000
B (ZTZE-PHE 17,683,0008
T W ER B RE=A=+—
ARIRERERA—ZHEESE
#BEB4917,683,00078 7T (Z & /04 .
17,683,0007& 7T) ©
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17.

18.

“hFE=RA=+—HLEE

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity
interests held by the Company.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses
for certain associates, because the share of losses of certain
associates exceeded the Group’s interest in the associate. The
amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of these
associates for the current year and cumulatively were approximately
HK$4,887,000 (2024: HK$3,546,000) and HK$14,822,000 (2024:
HK$9,935,000), respectively.

FINANCIAL ASSET DESIGNATED AT FVTOCI

17.

18.

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

REERT Z2Em @

AEERBEQRTDZREHTBHER
BIFAZRAED AR -

FEBERIEBIEHETHEA
BEE RRAEGLETHE AT
EEECBBFAEBRZEHE AT
B ARFEEAEEH REDEN
ZEBMEND ZFEBERRFRES
B % #494,887,0008 7 (Z T Z U4 .
3,546,000/ 7t) & 14,822,000/ 7T
| PO 9,935,000 7T) ©

BEERATEFARMEE
WmZzEMEE

2025 2024

—EZRE —E U4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET TFHET

Unlisted equity investment JEEMRERE 685 800

The above unlisted equity investment represents investment in
unlisted equity securities issued by a private entity incorporated
in Hong Kong which is engaged in operation of trampoline park
business in the PRC. At 31 March 2025 and 2024, there was no
open market for such investment and the directors of the Company
consider that the marketability of the Group’s shareholdings in such
investment is low.

The investment is not held for trading. Instead, it is held for medium
to long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company have elected to designate the investment in unlisted
equity investment as at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising
short-term fluctuations in the investment’s fair value in profit or loss
would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding the
investment for long-term purposes and realising its performance
potential in the long run.

The fair value measurement of the investment is disclosed in note
37(e) to the consolidated financial statements.

THMIELETREREARENRE A
EMMRIzZASEARETZIEL
MERAES  ZEBETRENREER
NEEKEB R _SE_HAEE_FT
THHEZR=+—H 2ERETHE
NETH ARBDEERLEEREERR
ZREZREZEBIRENRE-

ZRBLWIFFFEEEHE Bk HHF
ERERHARBARZ R ARFTE
FEEERRENFLTRERE
BEERBATEFAREMEEYS
WWhHRRER SN IBEEIZR
BERVEZERRKIACTELER
RAFAEZREUKRREEHEAR
B2 R o

ZRENATEFEHER
B RMIEE37(e) 0

e
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19. GOODWILL 19. &

2025 2024
- - —EUE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TFHET

Cost and net carrying amount: B AR E R E
At beginning of the year REY 105,458 114,298
Exchange realignment bl 7 S L 2,967 (8,840)
At end of the year RER 108,425 105,458

Impairment testing on goodwill and right-of-use
assets

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to
the CGU of Qinhuangdao Project for impairment testing. Right-of-
use assets of Qinhuangdao Project, representing the land use rights
with carrying amount of approximately HK$333,746,000 (2024:
HK$352,787,000) as at 31 March 2025, are also included in the
CGU for the purpose of impairment assessment.

In determining the recoverable amount of the CGU, the directors
of the Company had considered both the value-in-use and fair
value less cost of disposal of the CGU. The value-in-use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
project life of a five-year period approved by Board of Directors at
a pre-tax discount rate of 18% (2024: 18%). Cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth
rate of 3% (2024: 3%). The recoverable amount of the CGU has
been determined based on its fair value less cost of disposal. No
impairment loss on goodwill and right-of-use assets is considered
necessary as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 as the recoverable
amount is higher than the carrying amount of the CGU for both
years.

The following describes the key assumptions on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill and right-of-use assets:

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risk relating to the CGU.

HHERFEHESEEETZRE
i
FBEHKEHBAZBEESREERE
ZEEBEEZREESBE M MUETT
BREANA =E2EEENGERAREE
ERE_EFE=ZRA=+—H8K
H{E#%333,746,00078 75 A L {5
A# (ZZE M4 : 352,787,000
o)) MW AIREEEBULIETT
B

RNEEREELEEMN I WE$EE
B A AR ESEEEZEREELEN
Z2HERBERAFERHEER K-
FTHREENREKEEgEMLZE
EERAFEHAVEBEENRERE
BR BBRAIFIREREI18% (ZE Y
F:18%) stE - AFHEMNIREER
EFHAIPNMGEFAEBEEXR(ZTZ2 M
F3%)HEE-ZREELEUZA
WEITEDREEQAFERBRHE X
KEBET R_E_LEKR_ZT_MN4E
— B+ BHUERRALEZH
ELFERAREEREBE RRAN
MEEE gDt EsNZREE
EEBAZIREE-

TR EEEABERERRESR
EETHRENAMFLESRER
AFMKRBENTIEZERR !

HHEEF-FIRBZITREBBRRA L
[RBRIRE EE A BB 2 ABRAYS E R
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19.

20.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing on goodwill and right-of-use
assets (continued)

Budgeted selling price and construction costs — The basis used
to determine the budgeted selling prices and construction costs
is based on the latest market information and expected market
trends.

Fair value of property development project — the basis used to
determine the fair value is based on independent valuation derived
from market comparables.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on discount rate,

budgeted gross margins and market prices are consistent with
external information sources.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

19. BZ ®)

HEERFEREEEETZRE
Al @
HEEEREREA—ANEETE
BEBREEMAZEENUEH
TIEERRERTIEESARE

WEXEREEZAFE-BRERE
AFEZEEDLUT S ELRIEA
BNz BIEEARE-

TRE -AEEANXRERTHBERZE
ERRVELEIPLERRR— -

20. TiEYE

2025 2024

—EHREF “ETOF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET TFET

Properties under development ey ES 651,530 714,506
Properties under development expected to be TV £ TEHB N EEEE

completed within normal operating cycle: HEEARNTEA -

Within one year —FRN 90,658 143,600

After one year —F& 560,872 570,906

651,530 714,506

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s properties under development
with carrying amounts of approximately HK$85,682,000 (2024:
approximately HK$87,210,000) were pledged to secure certain
amounts due to related parties and the Group’s properties
under development with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$51,616,000 (2024: HK$98,051,000) were pledged to secure
certain borrowings of the Former Subsidiaries. As agreed with
the providers of finance of the Former Subsidiaries, part of the
proceeds from the sales of these properties will be utilised for
repayment of borrowings of the Former Subsidiaries. Details are set
out in notes 27 and 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

A _E_AF=—B=1+—H > &KE&E
EREELA85,682,0008 T (=
T PUE 487,210,000 7T) Z
TEMECEEAE TIENKEB
MBE2EBE O RAEBRBENS
51,616,0008 T (ZE W& :
98,051,000 7m) 2EEYMEEIES
FiIBA AR S TEAZEF 2RA
FIMNBEAEREREENHE HE
ZEMENBOMBRERFRBRE
BAIMBARNER HBENES
M HEMEKRM5E27 K400
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21.

22.

“hFE=RA=+—HILEE

COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALES 21. S E 28T ¥
2025 2024
—E-hHE ZETUE
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TFHET
Completed properties held for sales FEHEZ BT 73,184 1,613

At 31 March 2025, the Group’s completed properties held for
sales with carrying amounts of approximately HK$56,355,000
(2024: Nil) were pledged to secure certain borrowings of the
Former Subsidiaries. As agreed with the providers of finance of
the Former Subsidiaries, part of the proceeds from the sale of

BE_S_LF=R=+—H K&
EEREE456,355,0008 5 (2
THE ) NEBEELEEZBIYE
EEFEAFINBADETHERW
ER-BIBELEFGWEBE AR RS R M

these properties will be utilised for repayment of borrowings of the EERNBE HEZEMEL DA
Former Subsidiaries. Details are set out in notes 27 and 40 to the BRESHAREERBABRNGE
consolidated financial statements. R BENEEM B HRENT27
F40-e

TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. FEURBR TR
2025 2024
—EARE —E O
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FHET
Lease receivables B FE & 2,507 2,042
Trade receivables & U BR =X 1,446 1,032
Less: Impairment allowance for ECL B FEREERERERE (2,233) 1,819
1,720 1,255

The Group does not hold any collateral over its trade receivables.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables, net of impairment
allowance for ECL, as at the end of the reporting period, based on

AEBRTEREBRERFTEETMH
R am o

N#HZERABAEE BWERR (K
R EEREZRERB) RBEH

the invoice date, is as follows: RZERE DO T -
2025 2024
—EZRE =y e
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET FHET
Within one year —FRN 1,720 1,255
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables are
estimated using collective assessment after considering internal
credit ratings of debtors, aging, repayment history and/or past due
status of respective trade receivables.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, loss allowance of
HK$414,000 (2024: HK$1,819,000) was recognised on trade
receivables.

Notes:

@ Loss allowance of trade receivables as follow:

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

22. FEURBRTR @)

AEERASNE2MBHREESE
R BRBERZBEERE -
BWEMHNBAREEBBREE RET
AR RBEEFNR  SEUIRRBER
BB AR RERA
SRR A LGS

HEz_ZT-_1F=B=+—H81
FE - AEEREWRRTEREIE
BHEA14,0008 c (ZE M4
1,819,000 7T) °

5T -

@ FEMERRZEEBEENT

Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TR i
B IREAE(E B1ERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Internal credit rating AEBEE TR % FHET FHET
For the year ended 31 March 2025: HE_Z-_RF=-HA=+—H
B
Low risk EE kR 3.3 1,778 58
Doubtful F5E 100.0 2,175 2,175
3,953 2,233
For the year ended 31 March 2024: HE_Z_MFE=HB=+—H
JH-EFE :
Low risk Rk 0.9 1,266 11
Doubtful =1 100.0 1,808 1,808

3,074 1,819
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22. FEURERFR (&)
MizE @ (8)

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

@)

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

(continued)

The movement of ECL provision of trade receivables is as follows:

(@)

(&)

FEWERR 2 RAE SR EEEEZHN

B

Lifetime ECL —

not credit
impaired Total

ZHITEIRGEE

BiE—RBE
EERE “ast
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 April 2023 RIEZ=FMA—H - -
Net ECL recognised ERRFEREERIEEEE 1,819 1,819

At 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2024 RIE_MEMRBS—H&

“ECE=B=+—H 1,819 1,819
Net ECL recognised EITAIREEEEIF4E 414 114
At 31 March 2025 RIE-HEFE=F=+—H 2,233 2,233

23. ERIE-EEREMEUY

RECEIVABLES I
2025 2024
—_ERE —ETNE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
MisE FHET FHET
Other receivables HAhEWRIE 33,521 14,269
Other tax recoverable HAe] W [oliR 18 920 5,651
Other prepayments Hhfa=Ia 4,477 4,515
Prepaid construction costs SEANEE %N (b) 32,368 87,435
Deposits & 265 268
Amounts due from Former Subsidiaries FE W AT B A B =R IE (© 139,931 120,442
Amounts due from related parties JrE Wi E) 32 75 =R I (@ 49,909 57,003
260,561 289,583
Less: impairment allowance for ECL B FEEREEBERERE (a) (148,834) (36,914)
111,727 252,669
Classified as: DA
Non-current assets ERBEE = 76,124
Current assets MENEE 111,727 176,545
111,727 252,669
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23. FEMNRE - REREMEK

HRIE @)

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: M 5T
@  Loss allowance of other receivables as follow: (@) HhfEWRIEZ BEBEWT .
Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
5B IREAEE EEiaERE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Internal credit rating AEBEE TR % FHET FET
For the year ended 31 March 2025: BHE_Z_AF=H=+—H
IEFE
Low risk ER b 25 75,723 1,885
Default FEF 100.0 146,949 146,949
222,672 148,834
For the year ended 31 March 2024: HEZZ-_NMFE=HA=+—H
IEFE
Low risk ER kS 2.1 67,909 1,394
Watch list Rz 26.5 120,442 31,889
Default FEF 100.0 3,631 3,631
191,982 36,914
The movement of ECL provision of other receivables is as follows: HtpEWIE B EERRRES
BUNE
12-month Lifetime ECL -
ECL credit impaired Total
2 HATEHA
EEE1E
12E B 8 5A —-B#&E
E8E518 EERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FAET
At 1 April 2023 A =FUA—H - 787 787
Net ECL recognised B TEREERIEEEE 33,283 2,871 36,154
Exchange realignment FER AR - 27) @7)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIE-_WNE=ZB=+—HK
“ETUFERAE—H 33,283 3,631 36,914
Transfer B (31,889 31,889 -
Net ECL recognised ERRTEREERIREEE 491 111,279 111,770
Exchange realignment &R AR - 150 150
At 31 March 2025 AT _RFE=A=+—H 1,885 146,949 148,834
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, the balance represented prepaid
construction costs to subcontractors for the development of property
projects in the PRC.

In January 2025, the management of the Group first became aware
of the circumstances leading to impairment of prepayment made to a
constructor for the service of design and provision of construction work
related to landscape gardening and greening amounted to approximately
HK$50,678,000 by obtaining an external source of information which
indicated that the service provider was deregistered in December
2028. The management of the Group regularly review the status of the
prepayments made by the Group by conducting company search. In
view that the management of the Group believed that the service provider
could not deliver the related services to the Group in the foreseeable
future, the prepaid construction costs amounted to approximately
HK$50,678,000 was fully impaired during the year ended 31 March
2025.

The amounts mainly represented the intercompany balances with # =3
HHEBHRETEEAMR /AT (Hunan Richly Field Outlets Real Estate
Limited), /DA RSHNEEEIEBIR AT (Changsha Yutian
Outlets Business Administration Co Ltd) and /08 R £ EIEE
BR/AE] (Changsha Yutian Outlets Property Management Co Ltd), which
are former indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company (defined in
note 6 as “Former Subsidiaries”). The amounts were unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. The disposal of the Former Subsidiaries
was completed on 14 April 2022.

23. FA{TFRIA

‘e REMER

HRIE (@)
MizE @ (8)

(0)

R CECRER-ZFEZMNE=ZRA
=t+— B -ERERFEEPEYEE
BEmADaBmEN 2 ZEM -

A_E_RE—RB AEEEEEY
REBINRE TR BEN—EH
—ZEEE GTEERECHERRS
RIRMHEETRERY) STNBECTR
#950,678,000/8 7t HIRBERIE T
BERRBHESEN S 2=

+ZRBECHEM AEREEE T H
BERANADEMBMEAERENRIEN
MR -ERNEEERAZRBEHER
7 0] 78 B R 2R 8 4 18 A 5 @ 4R (AR R
R HE_ET_RE=A=+—H

LEFEERZEX50,678,0008 TH
AN BERAEHRE-

ZEREBFEANEAHERERR
BXERRE RV HBHRBRERTE
XEEBRABAKRDHHRERYZE
BIEERAR ZERBAKRABMAE]
BE2ENE AR (RIEeEE% Al
MBAR) BWABBER ZERIB
AEIETF R ERREREERE AINE
AENEEEBR S __F£F+1M
B
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

©

(continued)

The management of the Group closely monitor the ability for repayment
of the Former Subsidiaries by considering the repayment history, financial
position and other relevant information for assessing the credit risk such
as the status of the property development projects held by the Former
Subsidiaries in the PRC. In May 2025, the Group has initiated legal
actions against the Former Subsidiaries and the holding companies of
the Former Subsidiaries as the Group did not receive repayments from
the Former Subsidiaries according to the expected repayment timetable.
In addition, the management of the Group first became aware of the
external information about the suspension of the property development
project held by the Former Subsidiaries located in Changsha City, the
PRC. Based on the market information, the Former Subsidiaries should
deliver the properties to customers on or before 30 April 2025. However,
the property development project suspended for construction since
December 2024 due to the financial difficulties encountered by the
Former Subsidiaries. The management of the Group considered that
the suspension of the construction work of the Former Subsidiaries’
underlying projects will significantly affect its ability of repayment. An
impairment loss under ECL model on amounts due from Former
Subsidiaries amounted to approximately HK$108,042,000 (2024:
HK$31,889,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended
31 March 2025.

The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
Mr. Wang Hua (‘Mr. Wang”), a substantial shareholder of the Company,
is also the controlling shareholder of the related parties. The directors of
the Company consider that there is no significant credit risk associated
with the amounts due from the related parties as there is no recent history
of default or there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
intitial recognition and no impairment loss has been recognised.

It represents mainly intercompany balances carried forward since the
acquisition of Ningxia Jinguan Property Investment Co. Ltd. (“Ningxia
Jinguan”) from a related party, JeShing Real Estate Group Company
Limited since 2018. Ningxia Jinguan entered into the sale-and-lease back
agreements with certain purchasers that purchased of the completed
properties held by Ningxia Jinguan. Pursuant to such arrangements,
Ningxia Jinguan shall lease back such properties from such purchasers
at a premium to the market rent (the “Leaseback Rent”). Ningxia Jinguan
then lease out such properties to third parties at the market rent (the
“Lease-out Rent”). As a result, Ningxia Jinguan incurred rental expenses
due to the difference between the Leaseback Rent and the Lease-out
Rent.

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

23. BIFRIR e R H MUK
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©
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23.

24,

25.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. EMIE-HERHMEIK
RECEIVABLES (continued) TRIH (@)
Notes: (continued) BisE @ (&)
@  (continued) (@ (&)
The related party (vendor of Ningxia Jinguan when the Group acquired fERD CE—N\FrEEREZEES
it in 2018) has agreed to fully reimburse and indemnify Ningxia Jinguan WERNER) ERRMEENERD
in respect of any expense and loss due to such differences during the AipEAEZEEEEENTARE
respective term of such sale-and-leaseback agreements. Details of which REEZEEVARBEEEETE A
are set out in the circular of the Company dated 31 January 2018 in R BEHN AR HBEAZS—N\F
relation to the acquisition of Ningxia Jinguan. —A=+—BHERKBEEEST B
@ o
RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/ 24. ZIRFIWITER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERFEFER
The interest rates on the cash at bank ranged from 0.01% to BRITREZEMNENF0.01%E
0.385% (2024: 0.01% to 0.385%) per annum. 0.385% (ZE_ME :0.01% &
0.385%) ©
At 31 March 2025, the cash and bank balances and restricted bank A ZE_RF=—BA=+—H K&
deposits of the Group denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”) amounted MARE (TARE)) J)EZ2HREKRIR
to approximately RMB7,048,000 (equivalent to approximately THGBUESEFETERNAAAR
HK$7,638,000) (2024: RMBY,476,000 (equivalent to approximately #7,048,0007T (185 7 #97,638,00035
HK$10,452,000)) and RMB5,721,000 (equivalent to approximately B (ZEZME ¢ ARM9,476,0007T
HK$6,199,000) (2024: RMB11,305,000 (equivalent to (FBER 410,452,000 7T)) R AR
approximately HK$12,470,000)). The RMB is not freely convertible 5,721,0007t (18 E 72 #%96,199,0007& 7T)
into other currencies, however, under the PRC Foreign Exchange Z=ETpO4F ¢ AKH11,305,0007T (16
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and B 412,470,000/ 70)) - ARBERBE
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted BHRFBRAHEHMET  BREFEH I
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to bE B IR SR 01 o 4 B ~ S BB Ko (T EE B IR AR
conduct foreign exchange business. o AEBREERARELSINEETR
ZHRITRARERIARHME -
TRADE PAYABLES 25. FE{TER®X
An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the MEZHHARERE BNUERIANKRS
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BARZEREDHOT -
2025 2024
—E-RE T4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TFAET
Within one year —FRN 99,019 1,346
Over one year B—F 349,386 382,387
448,405 383,733
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25.

26.

TRADE PAYABLES (continued)

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable within
the normal operating cycle.

According to court decisions of legal proceedings against the
Group from constructors, at 31 March 2025, the Group is required
to settle construction payment of approximately HK$230,402,000
(2024: HK$234,527,000) to the constructors. Among the
payables to the constructors, construction payable with amount
of approximately HK$207,154,000 (2024: HK$210,863,000)
included penalty interest of approximately HK$47,002,000 (2024:
HK$38,321,000). The penalty interest has been accrued as interest
payables included in other payables and accruals as at 31 March
2025. The penalty interest rate ranging from 3.5% to 4.25%.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

25.

26.

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

FE{FBRFR (&

BAERRATNEE  LARESEER
HmEE-

RiEAEFAHAEERENEZEZR
FHERHA R R _ZE_HEF=H
—t—H AEEERAREBREET
FEM#Y230,402,0008 75 (ZF Y4 :
234,527,000 7T) © XS AR B FRIE
o £ AL A207,154,0008 T (ZF
— P94 1 210,863,00078 7T) HIFET T2
e FELI47,002,0008 THEIE (T
P94 : 38,321,000 7T) M T _H
F=BA=1+—H ZEEEEAENH
EstAHMENHRIEREASER -SE
FENF3.5%ZFE4.25% ©

HittEftRIE Rt &R,

aHaR

2025 2024

—E-RHE = e

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000

M EE FHET AT

Other deposits received Hittg Wiz 7,356 4,401
Other payables HhpE =8 31,066 20,967
Interest payables FERHIE 78,442 65,738
Deferred income PEIEUT A (b) 403,854 411,085
Accruals fEstE M 7,258 5,813
527,976 508,004
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26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS/ 26. HthEIHRIBERESER,
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) BHNEE®
2025 2024
—E_RE —EO4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Analysed for reporting purpose: MEFRBEHNDIFS !
Current portion BNHAER 7> 124,122 96,919
Non-current portion JERPEAEL
Deferred income IEIEWA (b) 403,854 411,085
527,976 508,004
2025 2024
—ERE —E 4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
Contract liabilities BHEE (a) 43,468 91,240
Notes: MsE :

@

Contract liabilities include advanced receipts and deposits received from
customers to transfer completed properties to them.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March 2025 that was
included in the contract liabilities as at 1 April 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$51,134,000 (2024: approximately HK$3,688,000).
There was no revenue recognised in the current year that related to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior year.

Balance represented government subsidies of approximately
HK$403,854,000 (2024: approximately HK$411,085,000) received from
the Finance Bureau of Changli County, Qinhuangdao, Hebei Province to
support the development of the Qinhuangdao Project.

Pursuant to a business plan approved by management, the Qinhuangdao
Project commenced pre-construction work and approximately
HK$403,854,000 (2024: approximately HK$411,085,000) of the deferred
income is expected to offset future construction costs of investment
properties and is therefore classified as a non-current liability.

BHNEREWEREE R ZAWRE
Rigd  AREBBETYE-

RBEE_S_Aa®=B=+—HLHF
EERIBLHFAZ _WENE—H
Z AR B EMNWEEL 51,134,000 T

T B[O : 493,688,000 7T) o 7%
FEBERDE - FEERNEBY
SEEREI YR -

EHIEREE IS REE ERE
Ezh‘t&zﬂﬂzEﬂzWﬁﬁM’Mos,sM,ooo?&m
(ZZB Y4 : 49411,085,000587T) »
UEHREBEREE-

REEEBHAEZEH T8 F£2
EEBERBEH I EEFEBEBELY
408,854,000t (ZEWME 1 &
411,085,000 70) = & {EUR A I 55
REYEZ RKRBERA > EILD 18
BIEwEmasE.
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27. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES/
A SHAREHOLDER

() Amounts due to related parties

27. BIRREY IRRMIE

() FEIRAZESRIA

2025 2024
“EZHE T e
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
PisE FERT FHET
JeShing Real Estate Group Company SR EXKREEEERAT
Limited (“JeShing’) (E223=E9) @), () 185,152 179,108
TIERERMEI B RAT BRI B R AT
(LEREEER") (WIEREEHR)) (b) 26,221 25,862
BMRAE—BEIREEBRAT HRE—RREIREEE
(ARE—) BRAE ((ERE—) (b) 307,020 300,584
EEREEMEREERAT EERARMEREBRAR
(BEEE (ZEdE)) (© 27,325 29,096
HRERERKETEREEE EREEERKENERE
BIRAE BIBEERAE © 201 -
True Gains Limited BHARAT (© 1,896 1,930
RO RERKEERAF RO ERERRE
ERAE (© 10,524 10,263
Total 45t 558,339 546,843
2025 2024
—EREF —ZT 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET
Carrying amount repayable (based on B EENKREE (RSN
scheduled repayment dates set out Fr&iz B ER B EMmE)
in the loan agreements)
On demand or within one year BERF—FRN 558,339 546,843
Less: amounts shown under BB BEE TR
current liabilities (558,339) (546,843)

Amounts shown under JERBEEIE N e
non-current liabilities - -
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27. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES/
A SHAREHOLDER (continued)

(i)

Notes:

@

. BRRESREMRIE @)

Amount due to a shareholder (i) FEfTRRERFRIE
2025 2024
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
B EE FHET TFHET
Stimulate High Investment Limited {REFIREBRAE] (@ 23,383 26,468
{hE=d
In December 2021, the Group entered into a loan agreement regarding (@) A B —F+ A AEEEESRE

a revolving loan facility agreement with JeShing related to an unsecured
loan facility in total principal amount of RMB2,000,000,000 at an interest
rate of 5% per annum and is due to repay in December 2023. As at 31
March 2025, approximately RMB9,060,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$9,817,000) (2024: RMB9,060,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$9,993,000)) had been utilised for the facility of RMB2,000,000,000
(2024: RMB2,000,000,000). Included in the amount due to JeShing was
HK$1,320,000 (2024: HK$1,320,000) which is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand. The amount was in default from December
2028.

In May 2023, Jinsheng International Group (BVI) Limited (& 2% ERIFZ £ &
(EB#HTREB)), an entity also controlled by Mr. Wang, granted
the new facility to the Group for the available period from January 2024
to December 2025, with facility amount of HK$2,000,000,000 and
bearing interest at 5% per annum. The Group did not draw down any
loans from this loan facility agreement during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024. In June 2025, the Group entered into a new loan
agreement regarding a revolving loan facility agreement with Jinsheng
International Group (BVI) Limited in relation to an unsecured loan facility
in total principal amount of HK$2,000,000,000 at an interest rate of 5%
per annum. The revolving loan facility starts in January 2026 and is due to
repay in December 2027.

MERFERNEEEEMA S
AR #2,000,000,0007T ~ ) Z5%
NERERMERENERHZ 1®
TECCE+_RIBAEE R
ThHEZB=+—H MBMEARE
2,000,000,0007c (ZZE-{FE: AE
#2,000,000,0007%) M= HARKE
9,060,0007t (B E R 49,817,000
7)) (ZZ2 T ART9,060,0007T
(B E 7 499,993,000# 7T)) BE#N A °
AR &R E EMIEA1,320,00058
7T (ZE P04 1,320,000 7T) * B
RIEABRIEIF  RERIZEREE %
REBE_E_=F+_HIREY-
RIE_=ZFERA =2REAKRER
(RBHETARHERE) BRAR (—H
MEHTLEEZEHNERE ArEER
HEsE e AEHNA _ S e
—BE_E_AE+ A HMELHE
#2,000,000,000% 70 » R EE5%51
B RBEE_S_HIER_ZT_NE
—A=t+—HLEFE AEEXRZFH
AZERRmERZE TERER P
TERENA AERESBERK
EE (REHTRHE) BRAFR
ERTFERRNEEERM A5
2,000,000,00078 7T ~ FEFIFE5 %HIEIR
ERMERENmER NS ZER
BRBMER S E-AEXRLF
\_—\,_th—I- B EIEREE -
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27. AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES/
A SHAREHOLDER (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

During the year ended 31 March 2019, an entrusted loan agreement was
entered into among ST &REEEM (as the entrusting party), JeShing (as the
entrusting party), B SR — (as the entrusting party), a lending bank (as
the lender) and the Group (as the borrower). Pursuant to the entrusted
loan agreement, a loan of RMB301,800,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$327,030,000) was provided to the Group (‘Related Party Loan”). Mr.
Wang is also the controlling shareholder of these related parties. There is
no further extension agreement between lender and the entrusting parties
in March 2023. Therefore, the Related Party Loan was in default from
March 2023. Lender has the discretionary right to demand entrusting
parties on full payment of the whole principle amount and any unpaid
interest.

As at 31 March 2025, the Related Party Loan is secured by the
Group’s right-of-use assets, properties under development and
investment properties located in Qinhuangdao with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$333,746,000, HK$85,682,000 and HK$201,791,000,
respectively (2024: approximately HK$352,787,000, HK$87,210,000 and
HK$217,845,000, respectively), carrying interest ranging from 5.7% to
6.19% (2024: 5.7% to 6.19%) per annum.

Management of the entrusting parties have commenced negotiations of
the repayment terms of the Related Party Loan with lender since then.
Up to the date of this report, those negotiations are still in progress and
have not been concluded. As the above assets of the Group has been
pledged against the lender, lender has the discretionary right to confiscate
the assets and dispose it for loan repayment.

Mr. Wang is the controlling shareholder of the related party. The amount is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

27. E{IRAER B
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BE_Z—-AEFE=B=+—81LH=E
B IEREN (FAZSTH) REX
((FAZTH) " BRF— ((FAZT
7)) ~BRERTT (EAERAN) BHAEE
(EABRAN) SINZTERMZE R
BLTERHE > AR 301,800,000
7T (FEE 7 49327,030,0008 7T) 2 B
BREFTAER (MFEEFEH) o
TENAZEMBAZERRKRE -
TECZEZRERAEEZTERZ
R EE— PR RZE AL B =2
CCEZRE ESEREN BN
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RN_E_REZBA=+—H BEAH
EFHAEE2FRAREERMR
LZEEHEBRYERKREYEIRIE
IREESD B4 £333,746,0008 7T~
85,682,000 7T & 201,791,0003% 7T
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87,210,00038 7C %217,845,00058 7T) °
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28. OTHER BORROWINGS 28. Hthfgmx

2025 2024
—EChE “ECME
Contractual Contractual
interest HK$'000 interest HK$'000
R LIES THET ELLIES TET
Current ENEA
Other loans - unsecured HtEHR—#igH 15.4% 35,573 15.4% 35,990
Analysed into: BUTER 2
Other loans repayable based on ~ BREZRZE 2 BEEN
scheduled repayment dates in BEEEZHMER
loan agreements:
On demand or within one year BRERG—ER 35,573 35,990

As at 31 March 2025, according to the court decision of a legal
proceeding against the Group, the Group is required to repay a
principal of approximately HK$15,964,000 (2024: HK$16,250,000)
and penalty interest of approximately HK$20,585,000 (2024:
HK$16,742,000). The penalty interest has been accrued as interest
payables included in other payables and accruals as at 31 March
2025. The loan was in default from August 2018.

RIE-_RE=ZB=+—H REYERE
BRENEREFN AR R AEEBA
BB AR$4915,964,0008 T (Z 2 P04 :
16,250,00078 71) K £1 8 #920,585,00078 7T
TE UL 116,742,000 7T) o R ZE
THEEZA=+—H ZABEEAELH
BEst AHMENHRIERESERA - ZEME
TE-N\E/N\BELN-
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29. DEFERRED TAXATION 29. IRIEFRIE
The movements in deferred tax (assets) liabilities during the year are FRORIERIE (BE) BBEZ2E5HUW
as follows: I
Deferred tax assets RIERIBEEE
Lease liability Total
HEAR st
HK$ 000 HK$’'000
FHET FET
At 1 April 2023 ATE T =ZFUB—H - -
Credited to profit or loss FFABR (10) (10)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 AR INF=B=+—H
RZZEZMOFME—H (10) (10)
Credited to profit or loss FFABR (29) (29)
At 31 March 2025 N _E_HF=R=+—H (39) (39)
Deferred tax liabilities RIETRIBEE
Fair value
adjustment
arising on Revaluation
acquisition of properties Total
WHEEEZ
REERE MEEL st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET FAET
At 1 April 2023 AT -FMEA—H 35,865 6,240 42,105
Credited to profit or loss FFABE - (2,774) (2,774)
Exchange realignment bl R SH EE (280) (165) (445)
At 31 March 2024 and RZZE_ME=F=+—H
1 April 2024 RZZEZMFEMA—H 35,585 3,301 38,886
Credited to profit or loss FFAB@E - (3,292) (3,292)
Exchange realignment EERHE (138) ©) (147)
At 31 March 2025 R-E_hE=H=+—H 35,447 - 35,447
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30. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(i)

Acquisition of Ningxia Guanling Property
Service Co., Ltd.

On 7 April 2023, the Group completed the acquisition
of the entire equity interest in Ningxia Guanling Property
Service Co., Ltd.* (BEEEYZERFEBRAE) (‘“Ningxia
Guanling”) at a consideration of RMB1,590,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,813,000) from Ningxia Guanling Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (BE W ZEHMEMRERRR
@), which is a related company to the Group.

The assets acquired and liabilities recognised on the date of
acquisition were as follows:

o

. Ur
(0

Rt A

KWREEEE EMERBER
~E]

RZE_=ZFWAtEtH K&
BT M EE W& RE M ER %
BERAB (AXEBNBEEA
BKNEEETEYWERDAE
RAs (TZEERE]) 22K
#oREAARET1,590,0007T
(FHER#1,813,000% 7T) ©

RUWBHBAMREBEEKRE M®
= NI

HK$ 000
TFHET
Property, plant and equipment ME BB KRB 78
Completed properties held for sales FEHEZ BT 1,805
Trade and other receivables FE WL BR = R ELfth FE W 7k 1B 11,102
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMRESER 179
Trade and other payables FE(T AR AR LA B FRIE (9,559)
Tax payable FE{TIRIE )
Contract liabilities BHEEB (1,783)
1,813
Consideration for the acquisition of WEEEER 2 AEAUTARAZM -
entire interest is satisfied by:
Consideration payable B 1,813
Net cash inflows on acquisition: WHEEE ZIREMAFE .
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FTEIRE MIREEER 179
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30. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(i)

Acquisition of Hohhot Pengshengjie
Property Management Service Co., Ltd.

On 15 June 2023, the Group completed the acquisition of
the entire equity interest in Hohhot Pengshengjie Property
Management Service Co., Ltd.* (FEFE4SH IR EZEY)
¥ EERFAEMRSEALT) (“Hohhot Pengshengjie”) at a
consideration of nil from an independent third party. Hohhot
Pengshengjie is a newly setup company for provision of
property management service in the Inner Mongolia Province,
the PRC.

The assets acquired and liabilities recognised on the date of
acquisition were as follows:

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

30. NEEMI B A B &)

(i)

W BB MRS SRR R
BERFBERSELAT
RZE2EZ=FXB+AHH > =&
EETHRA—S%BUFE=Z®E
BB ERmIERZEYE
EERBBEREEAR (THEM
ERBERR) 22K E g
MEFERRD—RETFEA
SR REREMEESERBZNN
IBAVA/NETI

REEBERAMKBEERER
= NI

HK$'000
TATT

H A FE YRR IE

Other receivables
Trade and other payables

AT BRAR B EL & A RR IR

164
(164)
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30. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 30. WEEMIB AT @
(iii) Acquisition of Wuhan Yuejing Property (i) WERKZRSYMEEERR
Management Co., Ltd. YN
On 9 August 2023, the Group completed the acquisition 73’\ T2 NBAB &KE
of the entire equity interest in Wuhan Yuejing Property EREEHARLE (ALK
Management Co., Ltd.* (L ERSEWEEEERLE) % B REE QB Wi R
(“Wuhan Yuejing”) at a consideration of RMB1,750,000 SWEESEERAD (THK 2
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,910,000) from True Gains el 228 KE KEABA
Limited (8 A BR/AT)), which is a related company to the Ei#1,750,0007T (B2 R Y
Group. 1,910,000 7T) °©
The assets acquired and liabilities recognised on the date of RIKEBHMKBEEREE
acquisition were as follows: BEREWT
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment M- BEREE 16
Trade and other receivables FEW AR R0 R EL At FE W kI8 3,557
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEER 217
Tax recoverable Pl EIRIE 27
Trade and other payables FE{TER TR Bt FE (I =R 1B (1,884)
Contract liabilities = )=RE (23)
1,910
Consideration for the acquisition of W #EE 2 AEHAUTARZM -
entire interest is satisfied by:
Consideration payable FERE 1,910
Net cash inflows on acquisition: WHEEE ZIREMAFE
Cash and cash equivalents acquired Fr IR MRS EER 217
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. Ig7
No. of shares Amount
in 8 E &%
HK$'000
FHET
Authorised: EE .
At 1 April 2023 and A ZEZ=FHB—H
31 March 2024 ERZEZNE
=B=+-H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each &R EE0.058 T2
ZEg 40,000,000,000 2,000,000
Share consolidation (note) paat (M) (38,000,000,000) -
At 31 March 2025 AZBRE
=A=+—H
Ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each ~ ERE{E1.00ETZ
gak 2,000,000,000 2,000,000
No. of shares Amount
R & E &%
HK$'000
FET
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE
At 1 April 2023 and A _=FME—H
31 March 2024 R_ZEINE
=B=+—H 23,336,687,255 1,166,834
Share consolidation (note) Ripa ot () (22,169,852,893) -
At 31 March 2025 RZEREF
=—B=+—H 1,166,834,362 1,166,834

Note: Pursuant to a special resolution passed on 15 January 2025, a share
consolidation was approved with effect from 17 January 2025 in which
every 20 of the then existing issued and unissued ordinary shares of
HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the Company were consolidated
into 1 consolidated share having a par value of HK$1.00 per share (the
“Share Consolidation”). Immediately after the Share Consolidation, the
authorised share capital of the Company comprised 2,000,000,000
consolidated shares of HK$1.00 each of which 1,166,834,362
consolidated shares of HK$1.00 each were in issue.

e BER __ZE_AF—B+AHBEB
ZHRRRER  ROGHERES
TR E-RB+EtHEER ARF
RADE20RERDETRARET
SREE0.0SBTZEBRAH A
feERmEmET.C0B Tz ARG (TR
mEH)  BERONDEHE  ARF
ZEE R A E1E2,000,000,0000 5
fREE1.00BTZa RGN  Hf
1,166,834,362f G EE1.008 T2
AR BEET-
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32.

33.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes amounts due to related parties, amount due to a
shareholder and interest-bearing other borrowings, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and accumulated losses.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from one
to eleven years (2024: one to eleven years). These properties are
expected to generate rental yields of 5% (2024: 5%) on an ongoing
basis.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group
in future periods as follows:

32.

33.

BEFREE

FEBEERER LERAEERN
BERERSENAREEE ARKEZEL
BHERRAETE  BRREHZKE
W AEENERRKE LEFEH

R o

AEBNELARBOAREREH FE
BEBNRELRE BYRRENRIE
RtBHEHMER LEHMRREERIR
TEEMUAKRERATER ABILE
m (BEEETRE HEKRRHNES
18) °

RETHE R
fER A

AEERBCEVERHRBLR
AN BECHERERZBBN T
—E—F (CBomE —E+—
F) cREMERMBMEES (=
ToEE %) 2B

RRESAHEFREELRBEEERR
RRHABERN AT HHLEEE
ETNZARMBHEAEREAEDT !

2025 2024

e “ZTuE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TFHET

Within one year —FR 12,857 12,688
After one year but within two years —FBREMERN 6,289 8,266
After two year but within three years MEBEB=ZERN 1,983 3,218
After three year but within four years —FBENERN 1,412 1,214
After four year but within five years MFERERFRN 1,347 1,049
After five years HE®% 2,629 3,760
26,517 30,195
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34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the
reporting period:

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

34. B EKIE
RIBERF AERMBEARENT

2025 2024
—EZRE =Sl ¢ = 5
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAET
Construction of properties included under BV R E KR BB T FTH 2
property, plant and equipment and MERLEE
investment properties 62,556 63,676

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the

35. AERRS

(a) BEeHBRRAMBOWES
RN AEBRFERBUTERKR

following material transactions with related parties during the BB 5 °
years.
2025 2024
—BEE “EmE
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
PEE FHT FHETT
Interest expense to related parties M REEE S EH Y
A B 0) 20,765 19,915

These transactions were conducted on terms and conditions
mutually agreed between the parties.

Note:

0) Being interest expense to JeShing, STEREEHF and MIRE—
which are entities controlled by Mr. Wang.

ZERZREHZBEREZIF
B AR AT ©
MEE

() BIHEREXEVIHEMHKER
E—FHMA % ZEERE
= F oL PR o



Richly Field China Development Limited ~ Annual Report 2025

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A ERRMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE_ZHRF=-RA=+—HUIHFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 35. EAFRS @
(b) Compensation of key management b) =EEFEEEASZIE
personnel of the Group
2025 2024
—EZRE B PUE
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FHET TFET
Short term employee benefits HREER] 2,321 2,324
Post employment benefits BB EN 27 18
2,348 2,342
(c) The remuneration of key management personnel is (c) TEBEBAEZMNEDBEAE
determined by the Group with reference to the performance BE2E@AARRERTHBE
of individual and market trends. MEE -
36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 36. FEHNA D ZEMT A
Categories of financial instruments ER T EEER
2025 2024
—ERE —E 4
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FET
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised costs BBERATTEC SRHEE 94,469 186,478
Financial asset designated at FVTOCI fEERATFEFAEMEERE 2
ETREE 685 800
Financial liabilities ERAE
Amortised costs HEE R A 1,182,564 1,084,140

Lease liabilities HEaRE 10,039 11,389
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. s EREE RS T A

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, restricted bank deposits, cash
and cash equivalents, financial asset designated at FVTOCI, trade
payables, other payables, amount due to a shareholder, amounts
due to related parties and other borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(@) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate other borrowings (note 28) and amounts due
to related parties (note 27). The Group aims at keeping
borrowings at fixed rates in order to reduce cash flow risk.
The Group’s exposure to changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group’s amounts due to related
parties with floating interest rates. The Group’s exposure to
interest rate risk is minimal as the cash and cash equivalents
represented cash at banks with short maturity. Management
considers that the interest rate risk is insignificant. No
sensitivity analysis to be presented. The Group does not have
any interest rate hedging policy, and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

(b) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses mainly are carried out in the PRC,
all transactions including major revenue and cost items
are denominated in RMB and the Group has no material
transactional currency exposure. The RMB is not a freely
convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes controls
on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies and in
certain cases the remittance of currency out of the PRC.

»¥E
AEBTEZTRMITASERUKIRN
B & K H A EWRIE - ZRFIRTE
TRERBEEFER - BERAT
Bt \EthZ2EBm2EMEE
EAERR HMtmEARE - BUYRE
MIE BN REAESMBERAEMER
EMITRZHEBREMERE BZ
STMIEERZEARERETHEAR
(E¥RRRFMEXRER) - FERAR
RABETRR - HEZFRRZK
RHEHINUMT -BEEEEEREEZS
JR\ Bz > LAHE R K2 B 5 St SR R & 4R
il

(@) F=RERR
A& BT E E R K E At 57 (Y
5128) KREMTRIE S RIE (M 5E
27) R AT ERN KA - A&
EREHEBEEMRERFBR
UEEEBESREAR A& B
HRZHENXEHEAKREE
BAEERTEFEZENRM
BAMEER BERREERR
TEERAEPREBRNIRTH
Re WAEEDHOMNER
ZEM - EEEBERS/AXER
BN -BREDHAT 2] &
ERTEEFMNIEIPER

TEREBEREEYAEA
2 RIE @ o

(o) I R B
AEBZEBTERTER
B MEEETEKRERMAAE
EEAMNEZEXRBHUARK
HE BAEETESARKS
EHERe AR REBH
R B o B BT R A
RERBRANE TR M%E
REFBERT INEGEE K
B o [ o
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors the foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with
creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk
of financial loss from defaults.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management has a credit policy
in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of its debtors’
financial position and condition are performed on each and
every major debtor periodically. These evaluations focus on
the debtor’s past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the debtor as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the debtor operates. No credit
terms are granted to the debtors of the Group's property
development. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from its debtors.

37. e EAMERRERESMTAZ
AEE @

(b)

SIS ELRR ()

7 5 B IR By O EE SN B H ORI

%057%3 EEEERIINBESR
oA REARERFEREY

ﬁ%ﬁ?l\ﬁ%[’ﬁﬂﬁwo

-|-4-'e
I:I,\

Efﬂﬁhl*%%??%ﬁ
HENEEMERETER AR
MEERZABR ZEBER
M—ERR RAEERAEER
BZzRXRBHFETRS R
MORABOMBRMBERR
RZITI o

HRRSHFAEHEREET
MEBEBETS é.ﬁJrﬂ&ZﬁE
T R ESEZEERRE
fR o

R-ZZE_HAF=ZRBR=+—H>
FEEGEERBRTIERERNE
W%#&H@%W%EO%%
FERRERERME BEREE
&EEfﬂ%)ﬁ%é%%&
EEERBR -AEBEHRHE
IxﬁﬁAZ%%%ﬁ&%%
ETEEIRB ZFHAGLEE
HEEHABTZ BB RE
BREMNXNEN LEREE
BAZBREERRBEBAEE
FRERERRBEZAMERN &
EETEMDERERES A
RUBEE#H —RMs ~&E
AEEH AWEBIEIRG -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

©)

Credit risk (continued)

For trade receivable, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL by using
collective assessment after considering internal credit ratings
of debtors, aging, repayment history and/or past due status
of respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are
based on historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for supportable forward-
looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

For other non-traded related receivables, the Group has
assessed whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a
significant increase in credit risk, the Group will measure the
loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, impairment loss under
ECL model on other receivables amounted to approximately
HK$111,770,000 (2024: HK$36,154,000) was recognised in
profit or loss.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its
management to develop and maintain the Group’s credit
risk grading to categorise exposures according to their
degree of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by the management which uses the Group’s
own days past due to rate its major customers and other
debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved
counterparties.

“ECAFFE HHEPEBERARAR

37. e EAMEERERSMTAZ
AEE @

(©)

EERRE @

MEWEZMS  AEEBE
AEEMBREENFEIR > H
5% > URE2HBEHESEHIS
HEFBREBE - AEELCER
BEHEANNLEETR  SE
WEE R ARG B E RS RS
S AR R B B B IR E BE T
HECEBEEER - EHE
BEDEREHABHESRRN
MESPERENE THBE
TEBERNERANE HE A%
BHABEREEESENAE
MEREHBE -SRILTMS &
NBBEIAFEEZEEA
B ok 1 3R 1EE o

MEMIIFEZHEBEWHRIEM
EOAEEETFHENBER
UREERBESBEEEM-
HMEERMBEEMN KEH
BRE2HHMIE12ME B B
EEGBEIEEBEEE NE
E_ZE_hnfF=ZR=+—H
EFEFE BHEEFEEAXT
HtmEKWAENREBEY
111,770,000t (Z& - Iy
£ 136,154,000/ 7) BERED

rEFEmERZEEERE
mEENBREERR  A&HE
BEEZREEEASRILRER
FEBZEERBRT&R > UR
BHENEREEYRREST
NE-FEFREMNHRERE
BR#H EEEERAEEA
SZBBRBEUABHETEER
REMEBANETTR &E
EREERAEREZARRE
REBFZEENR MEM
RBZBEBEIRREZERS
HFEPo
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(©

Credit risk (continued) (©)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (continued)
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises

EERRE @

37. e EAMERRERESMTAZ
AEE @

FrEREEZEERRE (@
FEBEER 25 8RR RIE

the following categories: REEMUTEE:
Basis for recognising ECL
BRFEREEHEZEE
Other
Trade financial
Category Description receivables assets
R REA FE U BR TR HithEmMEE
Low risk The counterparty has low risk of default and does not Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
have any past due amounts (refer to as Stage 1) (simplified
approach)
Rk RZEFENRRE B REAAHARIE BRE 2HBHACES 128 BHE
—PEER) 8 (E1E%) =%
Watch list The debtor frequently repay after due dates but usually Lifetime ECL 12-month ECL
settle in full. The counterparty has low default risk  (simplified
considering the business relationship and repayment  approach)
history or other supporting information
BB BEBAKERNBRREN CEBRRBEE -KER 2HEMAGEE 128874
EBMARERCSRIEMABENERE X5 BB @EtH E868
HFENERBRBRR
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that - not credit — not credit
are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2) impaired impaired
5 THREEEERRBGHBLURANEBIGEMERL 2HEREES 2HEMAGEE
REERE BRE IR B-RELEE BE-XRELE
&RE EERE
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL —
one or more events that have a detrimental impact  credit impaired credit impaired
on the estimated future cash flows of that asset have
occurred (refer to as Stage 3)
BH E-EyFZEHZEEZGRKEEREELE 2HERESEES 2HBEHES
FEZENHTLR SRMEERTEALREE B -BEE4LE BiE-BEL
Bl (FER 5 =) &RE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written Amount is
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic  off written off
prospect of recovery
i ERBEERNEBARAREMGREEREEDR S WEBHESE MEAMATEE

R E U S BRI
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. EMEREEREMIAZ

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) NEE @
(c) Credit risk (continued) c) EERK ®
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (continued) rEF@EERZEERE (@
The table below details the credit quality of the Group’s TERHFENMEAEETREEZE
financial assets as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to EHERAEERHZRSE
credit risk. ERR-
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
“E_nf=R=1+-H “2TMFE=A=+—H
Gross Net Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
credit rating  lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount amount allowance amount
IS 12f8R %
T4 SHRBEERE REAE HERE RE¥E RERE BEEE  kB3E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TiEn TiEr TR THT T T
Trade receivables Low risk Lifetime ECL (simplified 1,778 (58) 1,720 1,266 (1) 1,255
approach)
FEUERRR Rk LHRBEERE
(#1555
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not-credit 2,175 (2,175) - 1,808 (1,808) -
impaired)
75k LHEHEERE
RELEERE)
Deposits and other Low risk 12-month ECL 75,723 (1,885) 73,838 67,909 (1,394) 66,515
receivables
BEREMELETE  EER RERBHEERE
Watch list 12-month ECL - - - 120,442 (31,889) 88,553
BRLE 12EREBEESE
Default Lifetime ECL - credit 146,949 (146,949) - 3,631 (3,631) -
impaired
EH cHRBEERE-
BELEEERE
Restricted bank Low risk 12-month ECL 6,199 - 6,199 12,470 - 12,470
deposits
ZREIRITER Rk 2EREHEERSE
Cash and Cash Low risk 12-month ECL 11,758 - 11,758 17,685 - 17,685
equivalents

RERREEER ERR 12EAEREERE
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. s EREE RS TAZ

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) AEE @
(d) Liquidity risk d) RENEEREE

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as the Group had HRAEBRR _ZE_HAF=A2
net current liabilities of approximately HK$473,870,000 —t+t—HRERHEEFEDN
as at 31 March 2025. In order to improve the Group’s 473,870,0008 0  AEEE
liquidity position, the directors of the Company have been R EERR ARELE
implementing various operating and financing measures, ENRBEER T ARBE
details of which are set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated EETZHEHEERMERE
financial statements. Based on those measures, the directors BRFBEHER G BREMN
of the Company are of the opinion that the Company and the H2 1 ERZERE AT
Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial EERB EARAAANEERF
obligations as when they fall due in the coming twelve months ERRnEEESTRTERC
from 31 March 2025 and it is appropriate to prepare these EHRFE-_HB=+—HBEXKE
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis. +ZEBNIBNHBEEE

BERFEREREEREZER

B BERREBOHE -
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible AEEBRENKCEEREGEH
for their own cash management, including the short term ESREEEEE OERE
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover BHR2EPREREEENE
expected cash demands, subject to the parent company’s NHEAREER EEFITA
board approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor BAEEGHLEFTEE K E
current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it BroHRATHEERENRTE
maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate committed HARBEEER BREFTE
lines of funding from major financial institutions and related PSRN FTESHEBERE
parties to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and EFRNERHBNAKBEMELR
longer term. DENESEERERRSHE
Management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient AEEEEBEEEZB(I)NE
cash and bank balances and available funding through (i) EEMERRKEBEL k—
refinancing of interest-bearing other borrowings and loans LRREFINPFEBERE, &
from related parties and a shareholder when they fall due; (IS E #iFEWm2IR
and (i) obtaining new financing to strengthen the liquidity ERBTEGULATHHBE
position of the Group and to meet the Group’s commitments FoUMBEAEB 2 RBES
for properties development projects and other business RRRBERERYEZERIE

operations. BREMEREZSERE-
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 37. EMEREEREMIAZ

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) AEE @
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) o) WHEZRME @
The following tables set out the remaining contractual TRIGAEB 2EmEBER
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s REPRRZBETEAOHR £
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted #E 7% BHXRMIBRERE (B
cash flows (including interest payments computed using BanrE BT E Bl
contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the REHKRERMNXAEZFER
end of the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group TR RAERBEFEZNZRE
can be required to pay. HEf-
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year 1to2years 2to5years Over5years  cash flows amount
mE  HEXS *ERRE

FoRE £z -EmE ZERF BENE RERE Rt
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$O000
TEL TR TET TEL TR TET

2025 TRk
Trade payables TE(IERR - 448,405 - - - 448,405 448,405
Other payables HitERRIE - 116,864 - - - 116,864 116,864
Amounts due to related parties  EfIEIEH IR 5.6% 577,560 - - - 577,560 558,339
Amount due to a shareholder ETREZE - 23,383 - - - 23,383 23,383
Lease liabilities HEaR 3.5% 1,491 1,376 3,901 4877 11,645 10,039
Other borrowings HitfEm 15.4% 41,051 - - - 41,051 35,573
1,208,754 1,376 3,901 4,877 1,218,908 1,192,603
2024 e 152
Trade payables TE(TERR - 383,733 - - - 383,733 383,733
Other payables HitFERRIE - 91,106 - - - 91,106 91,106
Amounts due to related parties  FEIRAEHFE 5.6% 566,407 - - - 566,407 546,843
Amount due to a shareholder EfRETE - 26,468 - - - 26,468 26,468
Lease liabilities HEER 3.5% 375 1,439 4,964 6,287 13,065 11,389
Other borrowings HifER 15.4% 41,532 - - - 41532 35,990

1,109,621 1,439 4,964 6,287 1,122,311 1,095,529
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 7. TRMEAMEEKREMIAZ

VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) AEE @

(e) Fair value e »¥FE
Fair value of financial asset that is measured at fair BEEMEEUATEAEZ
value on a recurring basis ETMEEZATE

TEREFIUEEMEEREFES
HEMIAZRAFEMRERZ
BEREREABE

The valuation techniques and inputs used in the fair value
measurements of each financial instrument on a recurring
basis are set out below:

Relationship of

key inputs
and significant
Valuation Significant unobservable
Fair value Fair values as at technique and unobservable inputs to
Financial instruments hierarchy 31 March key inputs inputs fair value
TEHAYER
EXFAHR
BABERSA
wEHER EXFIHR ATEZRH
EWMIA ATEER R=B=+—HZAFE TEHARE BARE £
2025 2024
ZZCEE ZTIREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TER
Financial asset designated
at FVTOCI
- Unlisted equity investment Level 3 685 800  Market approach Marketability Discount ~ The higher the
- by reference 2025: 50% (2024: marketability
to pricing 50%) discount, the
multiples of lower the fair
similar business value
enterprises
EERATFEF AR
PENEZEREE
—FEmRERE E=M mHE-BBS  hEREMME TIHERE T
ZEOEBE ZEITRE50% HE ATE

ENTEEER

(ZZ 24 1 50%)

f2is
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 38. XN EIMAFEIR R R HEES)
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE *=
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the ARNBRBERRZBBRAIKRE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: B
2025 2024
“E-RE T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHET
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment Y B Rk B 12 18
Right-of-use assets ERAREEE 109 370
Investment in subsidiaries and associates KB AR MEEAE 2 HE - 8,781
Financial asset designated at FVTOCI BEEATES ARMEE
W EREE 685 800
806 9,969
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and FEBNRIBE e R EMEWREIE
other receivables 1,509 1,655
Amounts due from Former Subsidiaries FEU BT I & A Bl 7B - 10,682
Cash and cash equivalents ReEKIREEER 3,707 6,771
5,216 19,008
Current liabilities Bt B=RE
Other payables and accruals HMEN R IB R ERE A 10,768 8,460
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN 112,091 112,097
Amount due to a related party FEIRRE A RIA 1,320 1,320
Amount due to a shareholder FEAT AR SRR IE 23,383 26,468
Lease liability HEaE 114 263
147,676 148,608
Net current liabilities mENEEIFRE (142,460) (129,600)
Total assets less current liabilities HEEERTHERE (141,654) (119,631)
Non-current liability JERBIAE
Lease liability HEaRE - 114
Net liabilities BE3E (141,654) (119,745)
Equity gy
Issued capital BEITRA 1,166,834 1,166,834
Reserves (G (1,308,488) (1,286,579)
Total equity R 4EEE (141,654) (119,745)
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 38. AT MBIR AR HEEE
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE & @)
COMPANY (continued)
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KRNB)EEBEZBREUWT ©
Capital
Share Contributed redemption  Reorganisation FVTOCI Other Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BATEALS
RiAHE HARE  ERRERHE BARE 2EMEZEE HitrhtE 2R st
(note)
(i)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FER FAT FET FAR FAT FET FAR
At 1 Apri 2023 RIBZ=FNA-A 850,462 69,476 109 287,004 - 6,856 (2,427,151) (1,213,244)
Loss and total comprehensive expense  AEEFERLARTLE
for the year - - - - - - (71,411) (71,411)
Fair value loss on financial assets RERATES A Hth2ERE
designated at FVTOCI ZEMEENATESE - - - - (1924) - - (1924)

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RIBZME=A=+—Hk

—E-mEmF-A 850,462 69476 109 287,004 (1,924 6,856 (2,498,562 (1286579

Loss and total comprehensive expense  AEESEREEHR LR

for the year - - - - - - (21,795) (21,795)
Fair value loss on financial assets EERATEF AEMRERE

designated at FVTOCI ZEMEENATERR - - - - (114) - - (114)
At31 March 2025 RoZCREZEZ+-A 850462 69.476 109 287,004 (2,039 6,856 (2.520357) (1,308,488)
Note: MIsE -
Reorganisation reserve represented the difference between the nominal value of BHEBBRENEEEARETROZEE
the shares issued and the net asset value of the subsidiaries of the Company BARNFINB AR ZEEFERZERE-

upoN a group reorganisation.
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39. TEMB LT
AATEEMBATLBMT

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
AR, BETREERE/
418 HRREEME BTN HARRMEREE AL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B# 3
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZECRE ZTINE ZECRE CTINE
Chuang Yu Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BIRERARAT % 18T RELR
Globe Outlets City Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
BERFERLITNEERERAR &E 1B RERR
Mile Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ERERAR KERLHEE/BE E3 RELR
Million Harmony Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
BRAERAT HEELHES/BF e RERR
Globe Outlets City Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
RERAERLRTNRERAT KERLHE/ BB E3 RELR
Pilot Will Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
RERRAH HEELHES/BF e RERR
Profuse Gain Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100% - - Investment holding
ERARAT KERLHE/ BB e RELR
Richly Field (Beijing) Investment Consulting The PRC HK$15,000,000 100% 100% - - Property management and
Co., Ltd.* L2 15,000,000%7¢ investment holding
REEER (R KEBEBERAR MEEEREEER
Bejiing Yutiancheng Investment The PRC RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management
Management Co., Ltd.* L2 AR #1,000,00070 MEER
TRABEREEEERAT
Huailai Shengtian Wine Manor Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management
BRERDEEEEERAR iz AR 20,000,007 WEER
King Future Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEERERAT % 18T RELR
King Future Limited BVI/Hong Kong Us$10 100% 100% - - Investment holding
HEERAS HEELHES/BF 10%7 RERR
Qinhuangdao Outlets Real Estate Co., Ltd.*#* The PRC US$20,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development
REBRRRGBELERAT HE 20,000,000%7% MERE
Ningxia Jinguan Property Investment Co., Ltd.™ The PRC RMB350,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property development and
EFSuREEEERAT FE AR #350,000,0007 management and home
furnishing

MEREREENKERN
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39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. FEMBAT @)
Place of incorporation/ Issued and fully Percentage of
registration and paid share capital/ equity attributable to
Name business registered capital the Company Principal activities
AR BRTRBERE/
21 AR REEHE EUEZN FATREMERET AL TEEH
Directly Indirectly
=t S
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZBCRfE 2O ZBCORF CROMNE

Ningxia Guanling Property Service Co., Ltd.* (note) The PRC RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management
BERANERHERAD () FE AR #1,000,0007T MEER

Wuhan Yuejing Property Management Co., Ltd.* (note) The PRC RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management
RERSMEERBRAR () FE AR ¥1,000,0007T WEER

Hohhot Pengshengjie Property The PRC RMB500,000 - - 100% 100%  Property management
Management Service Co., Ltd™ (note) e AR #500,0007¢ MEER
TRERTRE RN EERRBERET AT
(F3)

Ningxia Shengze Huaxia Market The PRC RMB1,000,000 - - 60% 60%  Property management
Management Co., Ltd* H AR %1,000,00070 MEER
ERRRESTREEERAT

# Registered as limited liability companies under PRC law # RIEPEAZFMAERAT

i Registered as wholly-owned foreign enterprises under PRC law
* For identification purposes only

Note: Acquired during the year ended 31 March 2024.

40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group’s certain assets had been pledged for certain amounts
due to related parties and certain borrowings of the Former

40.

¥ RERENEREMAIEEELE
* EHHER

e BE_ZE_WFE=B=+—HILFE
ﬂﬁﬁaﬁ%EO

BEERH

FEBRETEEEFERAETEMNM
BMAORERNMBARE TERZ

Subsidiaries. The carrying amounts of the respective assets are as B - BEENRBDEWT :
follows:

2025 2024
—EZRHE T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5% TET FHET
Investment properties KEYME 15 346,884 380,194
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 333,746 352,787
Properties under development EEY 20 137,298 185,261
Completed properties held for sales ~ FF1EHE Z ik T 21 56,355 -

874,283 918,242
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41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING M. MEZFSEEZERHIR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TERHFINAEBEMRETHEELEZE

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash EEE BERERIIFRSEH 7

changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for EERHELEZEENEERERE

which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the FAKRBEREFNGEERERE

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing kP oEARELITRESTEZS
activities. g o

1 April New lease Financing Finance Exchange 31 March

2024 arrangement cash flows  costs incurred realignment 2025

ZEImE %4 ZEIRE

mE-A  HHE%RH RMERER= REER EREE ZA=t+-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEn TER TER TER TER TER

Other borrowings HEftiER 35,990 - - - @17 35,573

Amounts due to related parties EBERE 546,843 - 8,721 20,765 (17,990) 558,339

Amount due to a shareholder [EfIRR R 26,468 - (3,085) - - 23,383

Lease liabilties AEaE 11,389 203 142 379 210 10,030

620,690 203 3,494 21,144 (18,197) 627,334

1 April New lease Financing Finance Exchange 31 March

2023  arrangement cash flows  costs incurred realignment 2024

ZEIzE %4 ZEIME

mE-A  HHE%RH RMERERE REER EREE ZBA=t+-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TER TER TER TER TER

Other borrowings HEtiER 30,718 - 6,873 - (1,601) 35,990

Amounts due to related parties ENBEERTE 548,483 - 2,896 19915 (04,451) 546,843

Amount due to a shareholder B RETE 19,826 - 6,642 - - 26,468

Lease liabilties HEER 109 12,315 (1,439) 158 246 11,389

599,136 12,315 14,972 20,073 (25,806) 620,690
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFMHRHE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilites of the Group MU F A EBETI R X K EXHBFRE
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited AEEBITRBEMBEE 2 XBEURE
financial statements is set out below. ErRBEHRE-

RESULTS e

Year ended 31 March
BE=-BA=1+—-HILEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“ECRE —ToNE ZTT=F TIHF B”—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FTHx FTEx AT AT

Revenue EER 123,180 31,921 51,708 637,641 41,168
(Loss) profit attrioutable to: WAL (1) &H
— Owners of the Company AYNCIE 2= DN (249,747)  (222,262) 1,421,817 (398,884)  (415,682)
- Non-controling interests — IR R (1,176) - - - -
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
At 31 March
R=ZA=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

ZEZRE “ToNE —T-=f —T-"F _—Z”-F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEx FHAT THET FTET

Total assets BEE 1,779,143 1,984,638 2,150,012  5222.860 5,285,501
Total liabilties EE=l (1,778,169)  (1,739,246)  (1,674,339)  (6,075,136)  (5,670,463)
Equity attrioutable to: LU AT (LA

- Owners of the Company AYNCIL7=PN 2,140 245,392 475,673 (852.276)  (384,962)

— Non-controlling interests — IR R (1,166) - - - -
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